THE EFFECT OF nNav1.5 GENE EXPRESSION IN BREAST CANCER METASTASIS

by Rezan Fahrioğlu Yamacı B.S., Chemistry, İstanbul University, 1997 M.S., Molecular Biology and Genetics, Boğaziçi Univesity, 2001

> Submitted to the Institute for Graduate Studies in Science and Engineering in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Graduate Program in Molecular Biology and Genetics Boğaziçi University 2006

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to extend my sincere gratitude to my thesis supervisor Assoc. Prof. Esra Battaloğlu for her endless support and intimate encouragement throughout my thesis. I would like to thank to my uncle Prof. Dr. Mustafa Camgöz who has supported, guided me from a long distance and provided valuable antibodies and cell lines used in this study.

I would like to extend my gratitude to Boğaziçi Üniversity Research Fund for funding the expenses of my thesis (Project No: 02B104). I am thankful to Assoc. Prof. Meral Koyutürk for her help in optimization of immunohistochemistry technique in our laboratory. Appreciation is extended to Assoc. Prof. Handan Kaya for providing tissue sections used in this study and her valuable discussions. I would like to thank to Burteçin Aksel (Boğaziçi University, Biomedical Engineering) who has written the MATLAB 6.5 software used in protein expression quantification.

I am grateful to the lab members of Imperial College, London specially to Dr. James Diss for helping and sharing his knowledge. I would like to thank to Dr. Scott P. Fraser for his help during my stay in Imperial College. I am indebted to Dr. Athina-Myrto Chioni, for her wonderful friendship.

I am grateful to Dr. Nisrine Bissar-Tadmouri for her help in the transformation of a chemist to a molecular biologist and sharing her experience. I am indebted to Birdal who has provided a warm environment in the lab and supported me with her kind attitude. I am also thankful to CMT group members İbrahim, Öncü, Başak, Duygu and my late-discovered cousin Ayşe for their friendship. I am grateful to Dr. Ayça Çınaroğlu and Dr. Nagehan Ersoy for their valuable friendship and discussions inside and outside the lab.

I would like to express my great thanks to each of my family member, specially to my mother for standing by my side at all times. I am grateful to my husband Göksan who has always supported, appreciated and encouraged me with his endless love and patience throughout my life.

ABSTRACT

THE EFFECT OF nNav1.5 GENE EXPRESSION ON BREAST CANCER METASTASIS

Breast cancer is the most common cancer among women. Its metastasis is lethal that can not be detected at microscopic levels using current techniques. Thus, there is need for reliable early metastasis markers. Neonatal $Na_v 1.5$ ($nNa_v 1.5$) is a voltage-gated sodium channel (VGSC) and one of the potential early markers for breast cancer metastasis.

In this study, we determined that $nNa_v 1.5$ expression was in parallel with breast cancer metastasis and estrogen receptor (ER) expression in a group of patients. To provide data for future drug development, we analyzed the expression pattern of $nNa_v 1.5$ protein in normal human tissues. The protein was not expressed in skeletal and heart muscle, brain, small intestine, colon, stomach, esophagus, urinary bladder and prostate but expressed in breast at basal level. We also investigated the distribution of VGSC α in these non-excitable human tissues. Except urinary bladder, VGSC α protein was determined mostly in secretory cells in all of the tissues above that may indicate a role in secretion. Upon identification of VGSC α upregulation in tumor regions of different cancers including, colon, stomach, urinary bladder, kidney and lung it is possible that VGSC α expression could be a widespread mechanism in cancer metastasis.

Within the scope of this thesis, we also investigated the possible role of estrogen on $nNa_v1.5$ upregulation and activity in metastatic breast cancer. Estrogen had no effect on proliferation of cells but slightly increased motility through $nNa_v1.5$ in highly metastatic cells that express the protein. In weakly metastatic cells that do not posses $nNa_v1.5$, estrogen decreased motility slightly. The quantity of $nNa_v1.5$ protein was not affected by estrogen but functionally available form on the plasma membrane was increased only in the highly metastatic cells. These results may suggest that estrogen increases motility capacity of breast cancer cells by regulating $nNa_v1.5$ activity.

ÖZET

nNa_v1.5 GEN ANLATIMININ MEME KANSERİ METASTAZI ÜZERİNDEKİ ETKİSİ

Meme kanseri kadınlarda en sık görülen kanser tipidir. Metastazı ölümcüldür ve günümüzdeki tekniklerle mikroskopik düzeyde tanımlanamamaktadır. Bu nedenle, güvenilir erken metastaz belirteçlerine gerek duyulmaktadır. Neonatal Nav1.5, (nNav1.5), voltaj-kapılı sodyum kanalı (VGSC) alttiplerinden biridir ve erken metastaz belirteci adayı olabilir.

Bu çalışmada, $nNa_v 1.5$ anlatımı ile meme kanseri metastazı ve östrojen reseptörü (ER) arasındaki paralel ilişki bir grup hastada belirlendi. İleride ilaç geliştirilmesine yönelik veri sağlamak için normal insan dokularında $nNa_v 1.5$ 'in dağılımı incelendi. İskelet ve kalp kası, beyin, ince bağırsak, kalın bağırsak, mide, özofagus, mesane ve prostat dokularında $nNa_v 1.5$ belirlenmese de memede bazal seviyede anlatıldığı gösterildi. Ayrıca VGSC α proteininin elektrikle uyarılamayan dokulardaki dağılımı incelendi. Mesane dışında adı geçen tüm dokularda genellikle salgı yapan hücrelerde belirlenmesi proteinin salgılamada rolü olabileceğini gösterdi. VGSC α 'nın kolon, mide, mesane, böbrek ve akciğer kanserlerinin tümörlü bölgelerindeki anlatımının artmış olması nedeniyle proteinin metastaz mekanizmasında yaygın rolü olabileceği düşünülmektedir.

Bu tez çerçevesinde, östrojenin metastatik meme kanserinde görülen nNav1.5 artışı ve aktivitesi üzerindeki olası etkisi incelendi. Östrojenin hücre hatlarında çoğalmayı etkilemediği ancak nNav1.5 proteinini anlatan yüksek metastatik kapasitesi olan hücrelerde hareketliliği bu protein üzerinden az miktarda arttırdığı gösterildi. nNav1.5 proteini içermeyen düşük metastatik hücrelerde ise az miktarda azalttığı görüldü. Yüksek derecede metastatik hücrelerde östrojenin nNav1.5 protein miktarını değiştirmediği ancak işlevsel proteinin hücre membranında yoğunlaşmasına neden olduğu belirlendi. Bu sonuçlar, östrojenin meme kanseri hareketliliğini nNav1.5 ile etkileşerek artırabileceğini gösterdi.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
ABSTRACT	iv
ÖZET	v
LIST OF FIGURES	X
LIST OF TABLES	XV
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xvii
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. Breast	1
1.2. Diseases of the Breast	2
1.2.1. Neoplastic Lesions	3
1.2.1.1. Fibroadenoma	3
1.2.1.2. Phyllodes Tumor	3
1.2.1.3. Adenoma	3
1.2.1.4. Papilloma	4
1.3. Breast Cancer	5
1.3.1. Epidemiology of Breast Cancer	6
1.3.2. Pathology of Breast Cancer	7
1.3.2.1. Non-invasive Breast Cancer	8
1.3.2.2. Invasive Breast Cancer	9
1.3.3. Molecular Biology of Breast Cancer	9
1.3.4. Breast Cancer Metastasis	9
1.3.4.1. Detachment of Cells from a Primary Tumor	9
1.3.4.2. Degradation of Basal Membrane via Secretion of	
Proteolytic Enzymes.	9
1.3.4.3. Intravasation	10
1.3.4.4. Adhesion to a Secondary Tissue	11
1.3.4.5. Angiogenesis	11
1.3.4.6. Metastasis Suppressor Genes	12
1.3.4.7. Mechanisms of Metastasis	12
1.3.5. Breast Cancer and Estrogen	13

1.3.5.1. Estrogen Receptor-alpha (ERα)	14
1.3.5.2. Estrogen Receptor-beta (ERβ)	14
1.3.5.3. Genomic Action of Estrogen	14
1.3.5.4. Non-Genomic Action of Estrogen	14
1.4. Estrogen and Ion Channels	13
1.5. Ion Channels and Cancer	13
1.6. Voltage-Gated Sodium Channels	13
1.6.1. Tissue Distribution of VGSCs	14
1.6.2. VGSC and Cancer Metastasis	14
1.6.3. Regulation of VGSCs	16
2. AIM	17
3. MATERIALS	17
3.1. Human Tissues	17
3.2. Human Breast Cancer Cell Lines	17
3.3. Fine Chemicals	17
3.3.1. Primers	17
3.3.2. Antibodies	18
3.3.3. Commercially Available Kits	18
3.4. Buffers and Solutions	17
3.5. Equipments	17
4. METHODS	19
4.1. Total RNA Extraction from Breast Cancer Tissues	19
4.2. cDNA Synthesis of RNA Extracted from Breast Cancer Tissues	19
4.3. RT-PCR	20
4.4. Immunohistochemistry	22
4.4.1. Frozen Tissues	22
4.4.2. Paraffin Embedded Tissues	23
4.5. Maintenance of Breast Cancer Cells	30
4.5.1. Cell Counting	22
4.5.2. Cell Storage	23
4.5.3. Trypan Blue Exclusion Assay	23
4.6. Cell Proliferation Assay	19
4.7. Wound Heal Motility Assay	19

4.8. Immunocytochemistry 20
4.8.1. Quantification of Immunocytochemistry Staining
5. RESULTS
5.1. Analysis of nNav1.5 Gene Expression in Breast Cancer and Normal
Breast Tissues
5.1.1. Total RNA Extraction from Breast Cancer and Normal Breast Tissues 22
5.1.2. RT-PCR of $nNa_v 1.5$ in Breast Cancer and Normal Breast Tissues 2.
5.1.3. nNav1.5 Gene Expression and Lymph Node Metastasis
5.2. VGSC α and nNa _v 1.5 Protein Expression in Normal Human Tissues
5.2.1. IHC for VGSCα at Frozen Normal Human Tissues
5.2.2. IHC for VGSC α on Paraffin Embedded Normal Human Tissues 23
5.2.3. IHC for nNav1.5 on Paraffin Embedded Normal Human Tissues 2.
5.3. Investigation of VGSC α and nNa _v 1.5 Protein Expression in Breast Cancer 20
5.3.1. VGSC Protein Expression on Frozen and Paraffin Embedded
Breast Cancer Tissues
5.3.2. VGSCα Protein Expression and LNM
5.3.3. Investigation of nNav1.5 Protein Expression in Breast Cancer
5.4. Investigation of VGSCα Protein Expression in Other Cancers
5.5. Investigation of a Possible Role of Estrogen on VGSC Function During
Metastasis of Breast Cancer Cells
5.5.1. Determination of Toxicity of BrdU, Estrogen and/or TTX on Breast
Cancer Cells 22
5.5.2 Analysis of the Effect of Estrogen and/or TTX on Motility of Breast
Cancer Cells 22
5.5.3. The Analysis of the Effect of Estrogen and/or TTX on
Proliferation of Breast Cancer Cells
5.6. Investigation of Possible Effect of Estrogen on $nNa_v 1.5$ Protein Expression
and Localization in Breast Cancer Cells
5.6.1. Effect of Estrogen on nNav1.5 Protein Expression 2.
5.6.2. Effect of Estrogen on nNav1.5 Protein Localization
6. DISCUSSION
6.1. Breast Cancer Metastasis and nNav1.5 Expression
6.2. Analysis of nNa _v 1.5 and ER Expression

6.3. Analysis of nNav1.5 and HER2 Expression	20
6.4. Possible Involvement of nNav1.5 in Angiogenesis	22
6.5. Expression of VGSC α and nNa _v 1.5 Proteins in Normal Human Tissues	19
6.6. Possible Involvement of VGSC α Protein Expression in Different Types	
of Cancers	19
6.7. Role of Estrogen on nNav1.5 Function During Metastasis of Breast Cancer	
Cells	20
6.8. Role of Estrogen on $nNa_v 1.5$ Expression and Localization in Breast Cancer	
Cells	22
6.9. The Mechanism of Estrogen Action on nNav1.5 Protein	20
7. CONCLUSION	31
APPENDIX A: EXAMPLES OF PROTEIN QUANTIFICATION IN BREAST	
CANCER CELLS USING MATLAB 6.5 SOFTWARE	35
A.1. nNav1.5 Quantification in MDA-MB-231 Cells	20
A.2. nNav1.5 Quantification in MCF-7 Cells	22
A.3. nNa _v 1.5 Quantification in MDA-MB-231-ERα Cells	19
REFERENCES	37

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1.	A schematic diagram of a normal female breast	1
Figure 1.2.	Detailed diagram of a normal breast	2
Figure 1.3.	An example of DCIS section stained with hematoxylene (purple) and eosin (pink) where tumor cells fill the duct	7
Figure 1.4.	An LCIS section stained with hematoxylene and eosin	7
Figure 1.5.	An example of invasive DCIS where tumor cells invade the surrounding stroma	8
Figure 1.6.	An example of infiltrative LCIS where tumor cells invade the stroma	9
Figure 1.7.	Schematic diagram of major steps of metastasis	13
Figure 1.9.	The structure of ERa gene	19
Figure 1.10.	Structure of wild type ER β and ER β 2 (ER β cx)	21
Figure 1.11.	Schematic illustration of alternative promoter usage at 5' untranslated region of $ER\beta$ promoters	21
Figure 1.12.	The schematic diagram of estrogen action through GPCR and transactivation of EGFR	23
Figure 1.13.	The schematic diagram showing both the genomic and non-genomic estrogen action and its effect on ion channels	25
Figure 1.14.	Structure of voltage-gated sodium channel α -subunit	29

Figure 1.15.	Inactivation gate of the VGSC	30
Figure 1.16.	The location of alternative splicing in Nav1.5 gene and protein	32
Figure 1.17.	Phosphorylation and glycosylation pattern of VGSCα via different kinases; circles and squares are phosphorylation sites of PKA, and PKC respectively.	34
Figure 1.18.	The effect of PKA (A) and PKC (B) phosphorylation on Na _v 1.2	35
Figure 5.1.	Agarose gel electrophoresis of total RNA from breast cancer (A) and normal breast tissues (B)	55
Figure 5.2.	nNa _v 1.5 and hCytb5R expression in breast cancer (A) and normal breast (B) tissues	55
Figure 5.3.	Frozen skeletal muscle tissue incubated with (A) and without pan-VGSC antibody (B).	58
Figure 5.4.	VGSC α protein expression in frozen normal breast tissue (A). The specific staining is absent when pan-VGSC α antibody is omitted (B)	58
Figure 5.5.	Distribution of VGSCα protein in normal human tissues	60
Figure 5.6.	Expression of nNav1.5 in paraffin embedded normal human tissues	61
Figure 5.7.	Expression of VGSC α protein in frozen breast cancer tissues. A and B shows VGSC α protein on the epithelial cell membrane of the tumor cells in two different cases.	62
Figure 5.8.	Expression of VGSCα protein in endothelial cells of arteries in breast cancer	63

Figure 5.9.	$VGSC\alpha$ protein expression on epithelial cells in paraffin embedded breast	
	cancer tissues	64
Figure 5.10.	VGSC α protein expression in endothelial cells of a breast cancer tissue.	64
Figure 5.11.	Breast tumor cells expressing nNav1.5 protein only on the membrane (A), on cytoplasm only (B) and membrane and cytoplasm (C)	65
Figure 5.12.	nNav1.5 protein expression in endothelial cells of arteries in breast cancer	66
Figure 5.13.	Investigation of VGSCa protein in different cancers	69
Figure 5.14.	No toxic effect of estrogen and/or TTX was observed on MDA-MB-231, MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231-ERα at 72 hours	71
Figure 5.15.	No Toxic effect of BrdU was observed on breast cancer cells	71
Figure 5.16.	Effect of 10 nM (A) and 100 nM (B) estrogen and/or TTX on motility of MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells	72
Figure 5.17.	Change of motility of MDA-MB-231 cells upon 10 nM (A) and 100 nM (B) estrogen with/without TTX incubation during 72 hours	73
Figure 5.18.	Phase-contrast pictures of MDA-MB-231 untreated cells (A), treated with estrogen (B), estrogen and TTX (C) and TTX (D)	73
Figure 5.19.	Effect of incubation with 10 nM (A) and 100 nM (B) estrogen with/without TTX on motility of MCF-7 cells	74
Figure 5.20.	Change of motility of MCF-7 cells upon 10 nM (A) and 100 nM (B) estrogen with/without TTX incubation during 72 hours	75

Figure 5.21.	MCF-7 cells that are untreated (A) (40X magnification), treated with	
	estrogen (B), estrogen and TTX (C) and TTX alone (D) (100X magnification)	76
Figure 5.22.	Effects of estrogen with/without TTX on motility of MDA-MB-231- ERα cells	76
Figure 5.23.	Change of motility of MDA-MB-231-ERα cells upon estrogen with/without TTX incubation during 72 hours	77
Figure 5.24.	Pictures of MDA-MB-231-ERα untreated cells (A) and treated with estrogen (B), estrogen and TTX, (C) and TTX alone (D) (A and D, 4X objective, B and C 10X objective)	77
Figure 5.25.	Effects of estrogen with/without TTX on motility of MDA-MB-231, MCF-7	78
Figure 5.26.	Rate of proliferation of breast cancer cells in response to estrogen and/or TTX at 72 hours	79
Figure 5.27.	The expression of nNav1.5 protein in MCF-7 (A-B) and MDA-MB-231 (C-D) cells	80
Figure 5.28.	Changes in $nNa_v 1.5$ protein expression with respect to estrogen and TTX	81
Figure 5.29.	Localization of nNav1.5 protein in MDA-MB-231 control (A), and cells treated with estrogen (B), estrogen and TTX (C), TTX only (D)	82
Figure 5.30.	Localization of nNav1.5 protein in MDA-MB-231 cells	83
Figure 5.31.	Localization of nNa _v 1.5 protein in MCF-7control (A), and cells treated with estrogen (B), estrogen and TTX (C), TTX only (D)	83

Figure 5.32.	Localization of nNav1.5 protein in MCF-7 cells	84
Figure 5.33.	Localization of nNav1.5 protein in MDA-MB-231-ER α control (A), and cells treated with estrogen (B), estrogen and TTX (C), TTX only (D)	84
Figure 5.34.	Localization of $nNa_v 1.5$ protein in MDA-MB-231-ER α cells	85
Figure 6.1.	Signal transduction pathway proposed to involve estrogen regulating VGSC	97

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1.	Confirmed risk factors and protective factors of breast cancer	4
Table 1.2.	The chromosomal and tissue distribution and TTX sensitivity of VGSC α .	30
Table 3.1.	Primer sequences used in this study	40
Table 3.2.	Antibody Peptide Sequences	40
Table 3.3.	Kits used	41
Table 3.4.	Buffers and solutions for immunohistochemistry	41
Table 3.5.	Buffers and solutions for immunocytochemistry	42
Table 3.6.	Primary and secondary antibody dilutions for immunohisto/cytochemistry.	42
Table 3.7.	Buffers and solutions for cell culture	42
Table 3.7.	Buffers and solutions for cell culture (continued)	43
Table 3.8.	Buffers and solutions for BrdU proliferation assay	43
Table 5.1.	Analysis of $nNa_v 1.5$ gene expression and LNM status	56
Table 5.2.	Comparison of $nNa_v 1.5$ Gene Expression with ER status	57
Table 5.3.	IHC results for VGSC α expression in normal human tissues	59
Table 5.4.	Analysis of VGSCα protein expression and LNM status in frozen breast cancer tissues	63

Table 5.5.	Analysis of nNav1.5 and LNM status of breast cancer cases	66
Table 5.6.	Analysis of nNav1.5 and ER status of breast cancer cases	67
Table 5.7.	Analysis of nNav1.5 and HER2 status of breast cancer cases	67
Table 5.8.	Summary of breast cancer cases studied	67

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AC	Adenylyl cyclase
AF	Activation function
Akt	Thymoma viral proto-oncogene-1
ATM	Ataxia telangiectasia
Bcl2	B-cell CLL/lymphoma 2
BRCA1	Breast cancer susceptibility gene 1
BRCA2	Breast cancer susceptibility gene 2
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CAM	Cell adhesion molecule
CDK-1	Cyclic dependent kinase
c-erb-B2	Human epidermal growth factor 2
CHECK2	Cell cycle checkpoint kinase 2
CREB	Cyclic AMP response element binding protein
CRE	Cyclic AMP response element
DBD	DNA-binding domain
DCIS	Ductal carcinoma in situ
DRG	Dorsal root ganglion
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor
ER	Estrogen receptor
ERE	Estrogen response elements
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor
FHF	FGF homolog factor
GDNF	Glial derived neurotrphic factor
GIRK	G protein-activated inward rectifier potassium channel
GPCR	G-Protein coupled receptor (GPR)
HER2	Human epidermal growth factor 2
hCytb5R	Human cytochrome b5 reductase

ingh m normar i
Human mutL homolog 1
Human mutS homolog 2
Human umbilical vein endothelial cells
Human saphenous vein cells
Insulin-like growth Factor-1
Insulin growth factor-1 receptor
Ligand-binding domain
Lobular carcinoma in situ
Lymph node metastasis
Mitogen-activated protein kinase
Matrix metalloproteinase
Medical research council
Sodium/Potassium ATPase
Neonatal sodium channel polyclonal antibody
Nerve growth factor
Protein 21
Cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p27(Kip1)
Protein 53
Protein kinase A
Protein kinase B
Protein kinase C
Peripheral nervous system
Phosphatase and tensin homolog
Retinoic Acid receptor Beta 2
RE1-silencing transcription factor
Receptor-like protein phosphatese β
Small-cell lung carcinoma
v-src sarcoma
Serum and glucocorticoid inducible kinases
Transforming growth factor- α
Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-3
Tetrodotoxin

Urokinase protein activator
Vascular endothelial growth factor
Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor
Voltage-gated calcium channel
Voltage-gated potassium channel
Voltage-gated sodium channel

XX

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Breast

The breast is a modified apocrine gland that is arranged in several lobes and embedded into the fibroadipose tissue of the chest wall. Breasts reach complete development in females and are fully differentiated during pregnancy and lactation. It is made up of four main parts; nipple, ducts, lobules and fibroadipose tissue (Figure 1.1).



Figure 1.1. A schematic diagram of a normal female breast (Curran, 1994)

The nipple is composed of epidermis with sebaceous units (Montgomery glands) and excretory lactiferous ducts (Figure 1.2a). The ducts extend from the nipple into the fibroadipose tissue and terminate in breast lobules that consist of a central terminal duct and outer alveolar duct (Figure 1.2b). These structures are embedded in a loose connective tissue stroma. Lobules are the functional units of the breast. The lumen of both the ducts and the lobules are lined by a continuous single layer of cuboidal to low columnar epithelium surrounded by an array of myoepthelial cells (Figure 1.2c) (Fawcett, 1976).



Figure 1.2. Detailed diagram of a normal breast (Curran, 1994)

There is not much difference between the breast tissue of males and females until puberty. This is the period when females achieve lengthening and further branching of ducts, development of lobules and proliferation of fibrous stroma and fat (Russo and Russo, 1987; Monaghan *et al.*, 1990). During pregnancy terminal ducts undergo hyperplasia and form acini that regress with the end of pregnancy. After the third decade of life, proliferation rate of epithelial cells decrease but overall proportion of epithelium increases until menopause. In later stages, progressive epithelial atrophy, increased density of collagen and fat is observed (Hutson *et al.*, 1985).

1.2. Diseases of the Breast

A variety of breast diseases exist that usually do not contribute to the development of cancer. One of them is inflammation that can be caused by staphylococci and anaerobic infections. It can be observed 2-3 weeks after being born or later in life (Scholefield *et al.*, 1987; Rogers, 1990). Periductal mastitis is a chronic inflammatory lesion where the ducts are filled with grumous material and present attenuation of the epithelium. Fat necrosis is clinically difficult to diagnose since it interferes with invasive mammary carcinoma (Lee and Adair, 1920). It forms a painless hard mass sometimes causing skin or nipple retraction but it is self-limited and heals with scarring. Fibrocystic change is another non-neoplastic breast disease that affects approximately 10 per cent of women of reproductive age. The breasts feel beady and are tender on palpation. It is a complex of lesions that include fibrosis, epithelial proliferation and cyst formation (Foote and Stewart, 1945). The

presence of epithelial hyperplasia is the most important risk factor for tumor formation. The rate and type of proliferation in these cells is a major indicator for the subsequent development of mammary carcinoma (Page *et al.*, 1978).

1.2.1. Neoplastic Lesions

<u>1.2.1.1.</u> Fibroadenoma. It is the most common benign lesion encountered in women up to 25 years of age (Ferguson and Powell, 1989). It is composed of proliferation of epithelium and connective tissue. The ductal epithelium is usually double layered. It can be in two forms: pericanalicular and intracanalicular. In case of the former, the epithelial and myoepithelial cells form round to elongated ducts surrounded by loose fibroblastic stroma. Intracanalicular fibroadenomas contain elongated ducts that are also lined by cuboidal epithelial and myoepithelial cells. The ducts look distorted and are compressed by stroma. Fibroadenoma poses only a small risk for the development of breast cancer (Carter *et al.*, 1988).

<u>1.2.1.2.</u> Phyllodes Tumor. Like fibroadenoma it is a combination of proliferation in epithelium and stroma. It is usually observed at late ages. The epithelia may display atypical hyperplasia or *in situ* carcinoma. The overgrowth of the stroma may extend into the epithelium. Studies have shown that 20 per cent is histologically malignant and more than 50 per cent metastasize (Grimes, 1992).

<u>1.2.1.3.</u> Adenoma. It is not as frequent as fibroadenoma. It is characterized as tubular or lactating adenomas. They produce distinct masses within the breast and are composed of densely packed terminal ducts with little surrounding stroma. The nipple-adenoma is quite different which involves proliferation of ductal and stromal cells.

<u>1.2.1.4.</u> Papilloma. It is a benign largely intraductal lesion that causes nipple discharge and rarely a palpable mass. Epithelial hyperplasia without cytological atypia is often present. Papillomas can be solitary or multiple. Solitary ones usually occur in subaorelar ducts but multiple forms are usually at the periphery involving terminal duct lobular units. Papillomas slightly increase the risk of cancer development especially in patients with multiple form (Murad *et al.*, 1981).

1.3. Breast Cancer

1.3.1. Epidemiology of Breast Cancer

Carcinoma of the breast is the most common malignancy in women (Parkin *et al.*, 1990). One in eight women is at risk of developing breast cancer in Europe and USA. In Turkey, the disease accounts for 24,1 per cent of women cancers. However, the rate of breast cancer in Japan is 20 per cent that of USA (www.emedicine.com). This lower incidence in Japan indicates the presence of important genetic, cultural and environmental factors in the development of the disease. The risk increases for Japanese when they move to Europe or USA, proving the involvement of non-genomic factors like hormones or lifestyle (Muir, 1992). Several breast cancer risk factors have been known for years and are still being investigated. The risk and relative factors are summarized in Table 1.1 (Hankinson *et al.*, 2004).

Risk factor	Effect on breast cancer development
Family history in first-degree relatives	Moderate to high increase
Breast benign disease	Moderate to high increase
Mammographically dense breast	Moderate to high increase
Age at first birth (>30 versus <20)	Moderate to high increase
Late menopause (>54 versus <45)	Moderate to high increase
High endogenous estrogen levels	Moderate to high increase
Ionizing radiation exposure during childhood	Moderate to high increase
Advanced age	Moderate to high increase
Height	Slight to moderate increase
Postmenopausal hormone therapy	Slight to moderate increase
Early menarche (<12 versus >14)	Slight to moderate increase
Postmenopausal high body mass index	Slight to moderate increase
High-fat diet	Slight to moderate increase
Alcohol use (~ one or more drinks/day)	Slight to moderate increase
Parity	Slight to moderate decrease
Lactation (long duration)	Slight to moderate decrease
Premenopausal high body mass index	Slight to moderate decrease

Table 1.1. Confirmed risk factors and protective factors of breast cancer

According to substantial data, use of oral contraceptives, *in utero* exposures, high prolactin levels and high premenopausal insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I) levels are factors that may pose a risk for breast cancer development. Conversely, physical activity may have a role in the prevention of the disease by delaying the onset of menarche and controlling weight. The relation between height and breast cancer risk can be due to the influence of IGF-I. The timing of exposure to radiation is also important in the development of breast cancer. Radiation exposure that occurs at early life can pose a higher risk than those in later life (Miller *et al.*, 1989; Land *et al.*, 1994). Early life events may determine the number of susceptible breast stem cells that are at risk and whether mutations occur in these cells. The effect of birth weight and height on breast cancer development strongly suggests an influence of early events, even those occurring *in utero*. Low levels of folate together with deprivation of its cofactors (vitamin B6, B12) and particularly in conjunction with high alcohol intake can lead to abnormal DNA synthesis and repair, as well as aberrant DNA methylation (Mason and Levesque 1996), causing breast cancer.

Pregnancy, particularly at an early age, decreases the risk of breast cancer. This may be due to shortening the time of breast being susceptible to mutations that starts from menarche and lasts until first pregnancy (Russo and Russo, 1997). Prolonged exposure to estrogen increases the risk of developing the disease. The factors that increase estrogen exposure involve early menarche and late menopause due to increase in the number of ovulatory cycles. The risk of developing breast cancer decreases by 20 per cent for each year that menarche is delayed (Henderson *et al.*, 2003). Since lactation also delays ovulation it is protective against breast cancer.

Women who drink one alcoholic beverage daily have 10-30 per cent higher risk of developing the disease than non-drinkers (Smith-Warner *et al.*, 1998; Longnecker M, 1994). Several hypotheses have been developed to explain this effect. First one proposes that alcohol increases the circulating hormone levels (Schatzkin and Longnecker 1994). The other hypothesis suggests that alcohol may increase the production of IGF that functions as a potent mitogen (Yu, 1998).

Human diet contains a variety of carcinogens that may act through generation of free radicals. For example well-done meat consumption (Zheng *et al.*, 1998) and high fat diet correlates with increased breast cancer risk (Howe *et al.*, 1991). However, particular types of polyunsaturated fatty acids like omega-3 may decrease the risk (Bartsch *et al.*, 1999). High fiber diets may protect against breast cancer, which may be due to the role of fibers in reduction of intestinal reabsorption of estrogens excreted via the billary system (Hunter and Willett, 1994).

1.3.2. Pathology of Breast Cancer

Breast carcinomas derive from the epithelial cells lining the ducts or lobules, therefore being classified as ductal or lobular carcinomas. Both of these can remain localized or can be invasive and form secondary tumors.

1.3.2.1. Non-invasive Breast Cancer.

Ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS). It accounts for 5 per cent of all breast carcinomas. DCIS is the result of proliferation of the ductal luminal cells that fill the lumen but do not enter the basement membrane and the surrounding stroma (Figure 1.3). Deposition of calcium, called microcalcification, is a typical feature of the disease. All intraductal carcinomas have the tendency to invade unless treated. Comedo ductal carcinoma is a subtype of DCIS where central area of the duct shows necrosis. Tumor cells may extend to lobules, called cancerization. Non-comedo DCIS is less aggressive than comedo DCIS with lower recurrence rate after excision (Silverstein *et al.*, 1992) and with favorable biological features like presence of hormone receptors (Poller *et al.*, 1993) and low proliferation rate (Meyer, 1986). Solid non-comedo DCIS is another subtype with solid proliferation without forming acini or micropapillae. The cribriform pattern is composed of cells forming evenly spaced, uniform microacini. The cells of micropapillary non-comedo DCIS pose small papillary projections.

Lobular carcinoma in situ (LCIS). It accounts for 5-10 per cent of breast cancer cases. It consists of uniform small cells with round nuclei and distinct cell membranes and moderate amount of relatively clear cytoplasm (Figure 1.4). Occasionally, it is difficult to

distinguish between DCIS and LCIS, since both may extend into breast lobules and extralobular ducts. In some cases histology pattern may present an intermediate form.



Figure 1.3. An example of DCIS section stained with hematoxylene (purple) and eosin (pink) where tumor cells fill the duct (http://genomewww.stanford.edu/breast_cancer/molecularportraits/histology.shtm -BC14)



Figure 1.4. An LCIS section stained with hematoxylene and eosin (http://conganat.sld.cu/6CVHAP/conferencias/figure-3g-Masarelli.jpg)

<u>1.3.2.2.</u> Invasive Breast Cancer. Invasive carcinomas constitute 90 per cent of breast cancers. Although categorizing these cancers is quite difficult due to heterogeneity, it is important in providing information about prognosis, pattern of metastatic spread and behaviour.

Infiltrating ductal carcinoma (Invasive DCIS): It accounts for 60 per cent of all breast cancers and 70 per cent of invasive ones. It is the most aggressive type within other invasive carcinomas of the breast. It is firm on palpation during macroscopic examination and has a microscopic gritty texture. Infiltrating DCIS consists of glands or solid nests enclosed within strands of connective tissue but do not have a typical histology (Figure 1.5). The cytologic features are also heterogenous where the size of the cells may vary

from small to large and shape can be round, pleomorphic or intermediate. The amount of cytoplasm is highly variable as well. The nuclear features that consist of the size, shape, chromatin and nucleoli, may show mild to severe atypical forms. To categorize invasive DCIS, different grading systems have been established (eg. Bloom-Richardson grading system) (Bloom and Richardson, 1957). Bloom-Richardson grading system depends on major histologic features like the percentage of tubule formation, the degree of nuclear pleomorphism and the number of mitosis in a field.



invading the stroma

Figure 1.5. An example of invasive DCIS where tumor cells invade the surrounding stroma (http://www.breastpath.com/photos/s99=2520A420xinv.htm)

Infiltrating lobular carcinoma (Invasive LCIS): It accounts for 15 per cent of invasive breast cancer cases (Simpson and Page, 1992; Page, 1991; Anderson et al., 1991). It may form a palpable mass that can be detected but presence of a diffuse lesion does not allow its detection either by palpation or mammography. Histologic appearance of classic invasive LCIS includes small, round, poorly cohesive cells with low-grade nuclear features (Figure 1.6). The cells are dissociated from each other, form single files (Indian file) or targetoid patterns around uninvolved ducts. Several variants have been identified as the solid, alveolar, mixed and pleomorphic subtypes. The cytologic features of all types except the pleomorphic subtype are the same in the classical invasive LCIS and are distinguished by their growth patterns. The pleomorphic LCIS shows a diffuse growth pattern and is distinguished by its high-grade nuclear feature. It may be confused with invasive DCIS.

Medullary carcinoma: It is a relatively uncommon type of breast carcinoma (5 per cent) that occurs in younger people. It is usually palpable. The microscopic features of the typical medullary carcinoma are solid-syncytial groups of cells with pushing edge high

grade nuclei, loose stroma and a lymphocytic infiltration. The atypical subtype does not have a well defined pushing edge and presents less lymphoid infiltration.



Figure 1.6. An example of infiltrative LCIS where tumor cells invade the stroma (http://interpath1.uio.no/norcyt/arm2002/wk/c2/hist.htm)

Tubular carcinoma: It accounts for 5 per cent of all breast cancers and involves formation of tubules. The prognosis of the typical subtype is stated to be the best of all the invasive breast carcinomas. It may present a palpable mass that can be detected by mammography. Microscopically they are composed of small glands or tubules with varying shapes. The nuclei do not show high grade features.

Invasive cribriform carcinoma: It is biologically similar to tubular carcinoma (Venable *et al.*, 1990) since it is composed of masses of small regular cells as in the previous lesion. The invasive islands present a cribriform appearance. Nuclei do not show high grade degrees of atypia.

Mucinous carcinoma: It is also known as mucoid, gelanitous or colloid carcinoma and accounts for 2-3 per cent of all breast cancers. It has typical and variant subtypes in which the former presents a better prognosis. The variant subtype is more common in old women (Rosen *et al.*, 1985). It is characterized with soft palpable mass. Microscopically it is composed of small islands of malignant cells suspended in extracellular mucin. Cytological and nuclear features are of a low-grade to intermediate-grade tumor.

Rare types of breast cancer: Collectively they account for less than 1 per cent of all breast cancer cases. Adenocystic carcinoma, carcinosarcomas, metaplastic carcinomas

(Wargotz and Norris, 1990), invasive papillary carcinoma (Fisher *et al.*, 1980), basal cell carcinomas, signet-ring cell carcinoma (Merino and LiVolsi, 1981), and the so-called lipid-rich carcinomas have been observed in few patients. Since they are rare, clinical correlations could not be performed (Damjanov, 1996).

1.3.3. Molecular Biology of Breast Cancer

Breast cancer is mainly caused by accumulation of many genetic changes and/or mutations in different genes. Mutations in the breast stem cells and acquired somatic mutations due to ionizing radiation, chemical carcinogens or oxidative damage may be responsible for the disease.

Hereditary form of the disease represents 5-10 per cent of all cases. BRCA1 and BRCA2 are the major breast cancer susceptibility genes (Marcus et al., 1996; Miki et al., 1994; Stratton and Wooster, 1995). Both of these genes maintain genomic stability through homologous recombination and repair of double-strand breaks. They also have a role in transcription and cell cycle control (Venkitaraman, 2002) acting as tumor suppressor genes. BRCA1 was found in complex with RNA polymerase II through RNA helicase A (Scully et al., 1997) and regulate transcription. BRCA1 was shown to stimulate transcriptional activity of p53 and androgen receptor (Park et al., 2000; Yeh et al., 2000), repress the activity of estrogen receptor- α (ER α) (Fan *et al.*, 1999, 2001; Ma *et al.*, 2005) and c-myc (Wang et al., 1998). BRCA1 also stimulated the expression of several growth inhibitory genes (Somasundaram et al., 1997; Jin et al., 2000; Williamson et al., 2002). Various studies have shown transactivation of several cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors via BRCA1 (p21 and p27KIP1) that block the S-phase entry (Somasundaram et al., 1997; Williamson et al 2002). However, less evidence is found for BRCA2 as a transcriptional regulator. Mutations in BRCA1 make up 40 per cent and those of BRCA2 make up 25 per cent of hereditary cases (Berry et al., 1997; Couch et al., 1997). The mutations at either end of the BRCA1 gene are associated with more aggressive tumors. Mutations at the 5' end are observed in breast and ovarian cancers, and ones closer to the 3' end are observed only in breast cancer. Epigenetic inactivation of BRCA1 due to promoter hypermethylation has been observed in some of the breast cancer cases (Dobrovic and Simpfendorfer, 1997).

However, BRCA1 mutations have incomplete penetrance where 16-55 per cent of BRCA1/BRCA2 mutation carriers do not develop breast cancer (Antoniou *et al.*, 2003; Ford *et al.*, 1998).

Other than BRCA genes, germline mutations of p53, ATM, CHECK2, and PTEN were found to be associated with breast cancer (Hill *et al.*, 1997, Bell *et al.*, 1999, Cantor *et al.*, 2001). Mutations of a tumor supressor gene, p53, were observed in less than 75 per cent of all breast cancer cases (Norberg *et al.*, 1998; Geisler *et al.*, 2001) and 20-40 per cent of sporadic ones (Beroud and Soussi, 1998; Soussi *et al.*, 2000). p53 has been known to be involved in cell cycle regulation, DNA damage repair, apoptosis and inhibition of angiogenesis. Therefore loss of functional protein was suggested to eliminate the growth arrest in response to DNA damage and allow the replication of mutated DNA. Altered expression of p53-regulated genes could also be observed.

ATM protein acts via detection and repair of double strand breaks caused by ionizing radiation. Individuals homozygous for ATM mutations suffer from a degenerative disease, Ataxia Telangiectasia, that causes susceptibility to cancer (Thompson and Easton, 2004). CHECK2 is a G2 check point kinase that repairs DNA breaks. Deletion mutations of CHECK2 gene were identified in 5 per cent of familial breast cancer cases with no BRCA1/2 mutations (CHECK2 breast cancer case-control symposium, 2004). PTEN is a lipid phosphatase that was identified as a candidate tumor suppressor gene. It is suggested to inhibit PKB/Akt that is required for cell growth and survival (Downward J, 1998) and block integrin-mediated cell migration thus preventing metastasis (Tamura *et al.*, 1998). This finding has suggested the formation of metastasis in the case of loss of PTEN function.

The role of HER2 in breast cancer was identified 20 years ago. HER2 (c-erb-B2) is one of the epidermal growth factor (EGF) receptors. EGF receptors are known to interact with many ligands (eg EGF, TGF- α , hergulin) that induce hetero- or homodimerization of the receptors. This was followed by autophosphorylation and activation of the intrinsic catalytic domain. EGF stimulates proliferation, angiogenesis, metastasis and prevention of apoptosis through EGFR binding (Sunpaweravong and Sunpaweravong, 2005). The HER2 gene was known to function as a proto-oncogene and was overexpressed in 25-30 per cent of all breast cancer cases (Slamon *et al.*, 1987). The overexpression was associated with faster disease progression and metastasis, more aggressive clinical course, decreased survival time and lower response to chemotherapy (Horton, 2002; Slamon *et al.*, 1987; Tetu and Brisson, 1994). A monoclonal antibody against HER2, Trastuzumab, has been developed that inhibits proliferation, cell growth and induce breast cancer cell apoptosis (Kita *et al.*, 1996; Kunisue *et al.*, 2000). These findings have enabled the use of Trastuzumab for therapy in patients that overexpress HER2.

Epigenetic changes in breast cancer initiation and progression has been studied for the last decade. Hypermethylation and global hypomethylation of certain genes have been correlated with breast cancer. Hypermethylation of a tumor suppressor gene p16 was proposed to increase the cell growth regulatory signals (Herman et al., 1995; Silva et al., 2003) and associated with lymph node metastasis (Hu et al., 2003). Methylation of DNA damage response genes eg. BRCA1 (Niwa et al., 2000) and mismatch repair genes hMLH1 and hMSH2 (Murata et al., 2002) have been reported in breast cancer cases. Disruption of repair genes may increase the accumulation of sporadic mutations that is favorable for cancer cells. Silencing of estrogen receptor, progesterone receptor and retinoic acid beta 2 (RAR β 2) through methylation have been detected *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Piva *et al.*, 1990, Lapidus et al., 1996, Sirchia et al., 2000; Widschwendter et al., 2000). Methylation of Ecadherin gene (cell adhesion molecule) and TIMP-3 gene (inhibitor of proteases) (Graff et al., 2000; Bachman et al., 1999) may promote metastasis in breast cancer. Cyclin D2 and a putative cytokine, High in Normal-1 (HIN-1) genes were shown to be methylated in invasive breast cancer cases (Fackler *et al.*, 2003; Krop *et al.*, 2001). The 14-3-3 σ gene that has a role in signal transduction, cell cycle regulation, apoptosis and malignant transformation, was found to be methylated in more than 50 per cent of primary invasive breast carcinomas (Evron et al., 2001). Global hypomethylation was correlated with genomic instability in breast cancer as well (Vilain et al., 1999). This was suggested to be due to activation of tumor promoting genes or pro-metastatic genes. Although no protooncogenes has been shown to be demethylated, certain metastasis genes like HEPARANASE, that degrades the heparan sulphate proteoglycans, and uPA that is a serine protease were hypomethylated in invasive breast cancer cells (Shteper et al., 2003; Guo et al., 2002).

1.3.4. Breast Cancer Metastasis

Metastasis is the most life-threatening aspect of cancer. Benign and malignant forms of breast cancer are differentiated by metastasis. It involves a complex process including (i) detachment of cells from a primary tumor, (ii) degradation of basal membrane via secretion of proteolytic enzymes, (iii) entry to blood or lymphatic circulation system (intravasation), (iv) adhesion to a secondary tissue and angiogenesis (Figure 1.7).



Figure 1.7. Schematic diagram of major steps of metastasis (http://www.sciencemuseum.org.uk/exhibitions/lifecycle/77.asp)

1.3.4.1. Detachment of Cells from a Primary Tumor. For a tumor cell to metastasize, first, it has to lose attachment to the primary tumor. Immunoglobulin-like adhesion molecules (CAMs) and cadherins are two families of CAMs that attach the cells to each other. Cadherins are transmembrane glycoproteins that interact with the cytoskeleton via catenins. E-cadherin, identified as a tumor suppressor gene, is lost in some of the carcinomas enabling cancer cells to lose coherence and gain invasive characteristics (Behrens *et al.*, 1989). Studies on adhesive capacity of metastatic and non-metastatic cancer cell lines have shown that metastatic ones have much less adhesion capacity than non-metastatic ones (Mycielska *et al.*, 2004). Integrins are molecules that mediate cell-extracellular matrix (ECM) interactions and intracellular signal transduction. Altered

expression pattern of integrins can confer motility to tumor cells and invasion through the basement membrane.

1.3.4.2. Degradation of Basal Membrane via Secretion of Proteolytic Enzymes. The basement membrane and its underlying stroma contain the extracellular matrix and make up the major connective tissue units separating organ compartments. Migrating tumor cells need to penetrate the epithelial basement membrane and enter the stroma during metastasis. The basement membrane contains type IV collagen, glycoproteins (e.g. laminin), fibronectin, proteoglycans, and embedded growth factors. The organization and distribution of basement membrane is subject to change during the transition to an invasive carcinoma. Tumor cells have to secrete proteolytic enzymes to degrade the extracellular matrix barriers. Almost all migrating tumor cells overexpress one or more of these enzymes (Nagase and Woessmer 1999). Degradation of the basement membrane depends not only on the amount of proteolytic enzymes present but also on the balance of active proteases and their inhibitors.

<u>1.3.4.3.</u> Intravasation. Migrating tumor cells need to penetrate the circulation to reach a secondary tumor site. This is achieved by attachment to the stromal face of the vessel, proteolysis of the basement membrane, movement between the endothelial cells and survival in the vascular system. Only a few cells manage surviving and get arrested in the capillary beds of target organs and invade, forming secondary tumors. A protease receptor (urokinase receptor) is found to play role in intravasation process (Hollas *et al.*, 1991). Extravasation is required for the escape of the tumor cells from the vessel and is the same but reverse process of intravasation. E-selectin, a transmembrane adhesion molecule, is expressed on endothelial cells and is important for the attachment of cancer cells to the endothelium (Pecorino, 2005).

<u>1.3.4.4.</u> Adhesion to a Secondary Tissue. To successfully establish a metastatic colony, the circulating tumor cells should escape the immunologic surveillance, arrest at a distant site and extravasate. Loss or alteration of cell adhesion molecules, integrins and cadherins can facilitate cell motility thus invasion through the organ parenchyma (Chan *et al.*, 1991). Proteolytic degradation of extracellular components of the basement membrane and the connective tissue is required for this step.

1.3.4.5. Angiogenesis. Once tumor cells attach to their secondary tissue they need to proliferate and survive in this new environment. Nutrients and oxygen needed for cells' proliferation are supplied via angiogenesis. Tumor vascularization is, therefore, one of the rate-limiting steps for tumor metastasis and growth (Folkman *et al.*, 1974). It has been hypothesized that without angiogenesis, balance between cell proliferation and apoptosis is steady thus the volume of primary tumors is kept constant (Holmgren *et al.*, 1995). A tumor mass larger than 0.125 mm² cannot survive only with nutrient diffusion therefore initiates angiogenesis (Folkman *et al.*, 1974). Angiogenesis requires destabilization of the mature vessel, proliferation and migration of endothelial cells and maturation. The angiogenic switch is dependent on the balance of angiogenic inducers and inhibitors. Growth factors like fibroblast growth factor (FGF), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and their receptors VEGFR, angiopoetins, and Tie receptors, ephrins and ephrin receptors are examples of angiogenic inducers (Pecorino, 2005). Angiostatin (that blocks annexin) and endostatin (that blocks MAPK pathway and MMPs in endothelial cells) are well known inhibitors of angiogenesis.

1.3.4.6. Metastasis Suppressor Genes: These genes encode proteins that specifically suppress metastasis without affecting the primary tumor growth. Non-metastatic 23 (Nm23) is the first such gene identified (Steeg *et al.*, 1988). To this date, 11 metastasis suppressor genes have been identified in different cancers (Dong *et al.*, 1995; Seraj *et al.*, 2000; Lee *et al.*, 1996; Gildea *et al.*, 2002; Goldberg *et al.*, 2003; Xia *et al.*, 2001; Fu *et al.*, 2003; Guan *et al.*, 2000). The common feature of these genes is reduced expression in highly metastatic cancer cells when compared to non-metastatic ones (Steeg, 2003). Metastatic suppressor genes affect various cellular functions including invasion, growth factor receptor signaling, MAP kinase pathway, cell-cell communication and transcriptional regulation (Bogenrieder and Herlyn, 2003).

<u>1.3.4.7. Mechanisms of Metastasis:</u> Several hypotheses have been proposed to explain the metastatic potential in cancer. The most prevailing one is established by Stephen Paget (1889) that states the 'seed and soil' phenomena. This hypothesis proposes the metastasis of specific cancers to certain organs. It is based on the affinity of metastasizing tumor cells (seeds) to certain organs (soil). Paget proposed metastatic heterogeneity, where only selected cells succeed in invasion, survive in circulation and attach to a secondary tissue, thus achieve metastasis. For a targeted metastasis, these cells require specific cell surface

receptors and growth factors expressed by the organ (Fidler, 2003). Chemokines are found to be one of these receptors that recruit metastatic breast cancer cells to lungs and lymph nodes. The cancer cells that metastasize express the chemokine receptors, and the target sites express the molecules that bind to these receptors (Muller *et al.*, 2006). Cancers of the esophagus, head and neck and others that express cytokines were determined to form secondary tumors at specific sites (Kaifi et al., 2005; Muller et al., 2006; Ishikawa et al., 2006; Saur et al., 2005). Growth factors like PDGF can also influence the success and site of metastasis (Uehara et al., 2003). Many studies have supported Paget's hypothesis for different cancers (Holleran et al., 2002; Gauthier et al., 2004). Results of genetic analysis brought the idea that a metastatic tumor cell requires accumulation of mutations whereas a non-metastatic cell does not. Analysis of the genetic changes in tumors of different stages showed that the number of alterations in late stage tumors was more than those in early stage ones (Yokota, 2000). The animal experiments showed that metastasis is rare and only 0,001 per cent of tumor cells contribute to form a secondary lesion (Weiss, 1990; Egan et al., 1987). In several studies metastasis was formed by injecting breast cancer cells to mice. The results showed differences in gene expression profiles of metastasis formed in different organs (Kang et al., 2003; Minn et al., 2005). The authors concluded on the presence of organ-specific gene expression profiles. The major drawback of these studies is the difficulty in identifying whether the differences result from the secondary events that occurred during metastasis or are required for the dissemination of the primary tumor.

However, clinical evidence showed the presence of a classic mutation accumulation profile only in a small percentage of cancers. Furthermore, a positive correlation between increasing number of mutations and histologic aggresiveness could not be established for breast, prostate and lung carcinoma (Schedin and Elias, 2004). These observations led to establishment of a novel hypothesis for tumor progression and metastasis. It proposes that metastasis does not require accumulation of mutations and it is not a late event but there are tumor cells that are born to be metastatic. Expression profiles of primary tumors suggested that mutations causing metastasis are acquired relatively early in tumor progression (Veer *et al.*, 2002). Supporting results came from DNA microarray studies that showed similarities in gene expression patterns of both metastatic cancer cells and primary tumor cells (Bernards and Weinberg, 2002; Weigelt *et al.*, 2003; Budhu *et al.*, 2005). This hypothesis may explain the reason of metastasis observed in small-sized primary tumors.

Another study that analyzed the gene expression patterns of primary and secondary tumors, has proposed the establishment of the route of metastasis early in primary tumor development (Braun *et al.*, 2001). Since metastatic potential could be present from the start of tumor development researchers state that oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes that initiate cancer could also trigger metastasis. This statement was confirmed by the findings of mouse models in tumorigenesis studies that showed the initiation of metastasis in response to mutations in *ras* and *myc* oncogenes. According to this hypothesis there are no metastasis-causing genes but already identified cancer genes play a role in metastasis (Bernards and Weinberg, 2002).

A more recently proposed hypothesis indicates the importance of inheritance in the metastasis process (Park *et al.*, 2005). Signal-induced proliferation-associated gene 1 (*Sipa1*) is found to be involved in strain specific differences in metastasis efficiency, an evidence for a predisposition model. In this study, altered expression of *Sipa1* allelic variants was shown to modulate metastatic efficiency by changing the cellular adhesion and proliferation. This finding indicates the involvement of polymorphisms in the metastatic potential. In another study 17-gene expression profile was determined in mice that could predict metastasis in primary breast tumors. The same profile was also identified in normal mammary tissues of the same mice suggesting that metastasis-associated gene expression pattern was pre-existing in normal tissue. The authors thus suggested that metastasis could be constitutional or a heritable trait (Qiu *et al.*, 2004) and does not require accumulation of mutations.

Another alternative hypothesis proposed the origin of metastasis to be the response of the body against a systemically acting carcinogen but not a primary tumor (Freireich *et al.*, 2005). The authors suggested that the difference between the primary and secondary tumors was not the result of clonal evolution and that they were different primary tumors arised from a systemic carcinogen. Observation of tumors with an unknown primary source supports this hypothesis. This alternative hypothesis has been established from a biologic point of view and may not fulfill the exact mechanism of metastasis at molecular level.
1.3.5. Breast Cancer and Estrogen

The role of estrogen in the promotion and development of breast cancer was first suggested by Beatson (1896). The biological effects of estrogen are mediated through an interaction with the estrogen receptor (ER). ER is a ligand-activated transcription regulator that acts mainly on genes that promote breast cancer cell proliferation and survival eg. insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor (IGFR), cyclin D1 and antiapoptotic Bcl2 (Klinge, 2001; Lee *et al.*, 2001; Sanchez *et al.*, 2002; Schiff *et al.*, 2004).

Estrogen receptor contains a DNA-binding domain (DBD), two transcriptional activation function (AF) domains and a hinge domain. AF1, that is located on the amino terminal of the protein, is constitutively active and ligand independent whereas AF2 is ligand-dependent and resides in the carboxyl terminal (Figure 1.8). Phosphorylation of AF1 can regulate its activity and gain the ligand independent property to the ER (Ali and Coombes, 2002). The hinge domain contains the nuclear localization signal (Picard *et al.*, 1990).



Figure 1.8. ERα structure and organization. AF; Activation Function domain, DBD; DNAbinding domain, LBD; Ligand-binding domain (modified from Platet *et al.*, 2004)

ER was first cloned subsequently by two groups (Green *et al.*, 1986; Greene *et al.*, 1986). It is currently named as ER α since another ER (ER β) was discovered in 1996 (Mosselman *et al.*, 1996). Although ER α and ER β are highly homologous in DNA- and ligand-binding domains (96 per cent) and have similar responsiveness to estrogen, there are many structural and functional differences between ER α and ER β . These differences can be summarized as; diverse chromosomal locations of the coding genes (Enmark *et al.*, 1997), presence of many different nonconserved domains (eg. activation function 1 (AF1), hinge region), (Mosselman *et al.*, 1996), differential tissue expression and different roles in the development of mammary duct and breast cancer (Korach, 1994; Krege *et al.*, 1998). ER α and ER β have been shown to form homo/heterodimers complicating their individual

and/or combined function within the cell. Although there is evidence for ER α expression at the initial steps of breast cancer, the exact roles of ER α and ER β in initiation and progression of the disease are still unclear. It has been suggested that the ER α :ER β ratio but not the individual levels of ER α and ER β determines the progression of cancer (Leygue *et al.*, 1998).

<u>1.3.5.1.</u> Estrogen Receptor-alpha (ER α). The ER α gene is located on chromosome 6q25.1 and 140 kb of size. The coding region contains eight exons and eight introns shown as shaded area in Figure 1.9 (Gosden *et al.*, 1986; Menasce *et al.*, 1993). In addition to this, eight upstream untranslated exons are present (A-E, T1 and T2). The alternative exons enable tissue specific expression, for example exons T1 and T2 are expressed in testis and epididymis respectively (Brand *et al.*, 2002).



Figure 1.9. The structure of ERa gene (modified from Hernyk and Fuqua, 2004)

Various splice variants of ER α mRNA also exist that are expressed in different normal and cancerous tissues (Hernyk and Fuqua, 2004). It is suggested that expression of these variants is required for normal physiological processes (Petursdottir *et al.*, 2001).

ER signaling is required for the development and maturation of the mammary gland by stimulating DNA synthesis and promoting bud formation (Anderson *et al.*, 1982; Dickson *et al.*, 1986; Huseby *et al.*, 1984; Mueller *et al.*, 2002). Studies have shown that only 7-10 per cent of the normal breast epithelial cells express ER α (Ricketts *et al.*, 1991) Overexpression of ER α was determined in breast tumors through the distal promoter B (Figure 1.19) (Hayashi *et al.*, 2003). Another cis-acting element downstream of the transcription start site was found to enhance ER α transcription in breast cancer cells (Tanimoto *et al.*, 1999). Loss of ER α gene expression that usually causes hormone insensitivity in breast cancer patients is suggested to be through methylation of the promoter region. Loss of transcriptional activators can also explain the decrease in ER α gene expression (Hayashi *et al.*, 2003). ER α and ER β are co-expressed in breast, brain, cardiovascular system, urogenital tract and bone (Enmark *et al.*, 1997; Kuiper *et al.*, 1997; Gustafsson, 1999; Taylor and Al-Azzawi, 2000) whereas ER α is predominant in the liver and uterus (Hayashi *et al.*, 2003).

<u>1.3.5.2.</u> Estrogen Receptor-beta (ER β). Unlike ER α , ER β is expressed in 80-85 per cent of the normal breast epithelia (Roger *et al.*, 2001). However, the mode of action of ER β in breast cancer is not well known. Some contrasting functions have been suggested for ER β e.g. as a protector of carcinogenesis (Leygue *et al.*, 1998, Jarvinen *et al.*, 2000) or as an inducer of malignancy (Hu *et al.*, 1998). In terms of prognosis, ER β expression seems to have both beneficial (Leygue *et al.*, 1998, Jarvinen *et al.*, 2000; Mann *et al.*, 2001) and harmful effects (Speirs *et al.*, 1999; Speirs and Kerin., 2000; Shaaban *et al.*, 2003). These inconsistent results may be caused by difficulties in PCR-based analysis (use of tumor samples that also contain normal cells like stroma or amplification of different splicing products), patient selection criteria and the low number of cases analyzed. Usually studies analyzing the ER β protein level have shown that ER β was accompanied with decrease in proliferation and invasion (Lazennec *et al.*, 2001), absence of relapse (Omoto *et al.*, 2001) and likely response to hormone therapy (Mann *et al.*, 2001, Jarvinen *et al.*, 2000). But the results of few studies in small groups of patients suggested association of ER β expression with high proliferation and high tumor grade (Miyoshi *et al.*, 2001; Jensen *et al.*, 2001).

ER β gene is localized on chromosome 14q and has several splice variants. The wild type ER β (ER β 1) encodes a full-length 530-amino acid receptor protein, whereas ER β 2 (ER β cx) uses an alternative exon 8 and encodes 495 amino acid long protein. This alteration leads to a protein with a different C-terminus and relatively poor binding to estrogen (Ogawa *et al.*, 1998) (Figure 1.10).

Both ER β 1 and ER β 2 are found to inhibit ER α function causing growth inhibition in ER α -positive breast cancer cells (Hayashi *et al.*, 2003). A putative ER β 5 differs from ER β 1 at amino acid position 469 by alternative splicing (Moore *et al.*, 1998). This results in truncation of C-terminus and loss of AF-2 domain and difference in ligand binding (Peng *et al.*, 2003).



Figure 1.10. Structure of wild type ER β and ER β 2 (ER β cx) (Hayashi *et al.*, 2003)

In addition to the splice variants at the C-terminus of ER β mRNAs, divergence at the 5' untranslated regions due to alternative splicing at the upstream of exon 1 was also determined (Hirata *et al.*, 2001). Presence of these upstream exons, named 0K and 0N, indicated the transcription of ER β gene through at least two different promoters (promoter 0K and promoter 0N) (Figure 1.11). Expression of various splice variants were shown in different cell lines and tumors (Leygue *et al.*, 1999; Iwao *et al.*, 2000a, b; Omoto *et al.*, 2002; Tong *et al.*, 2002) and suggested to affect the breast cancer phenotype and response to endocri ne therapy (Davies *et al.*, 2004).



Figure 1.11. Schematic illustration of alternative promoter usage at 5' untranslated region of ERβ promoters (Hirata *et al.*, 2001)

<u>1.3.5.3.</u> Genomic Action of Estrogen. The transcriptional activity of ER is mediated through AF1 and/or AF2 domains. Since AF1 is not active in ER β , its activity is achieved by AF2. Transcriptional activation via ER requires the recruitment of general transcriptional factors, coactivators, corepressors, cointegrators, histone acetyltransferases and histone deacetylases (McKenna *et al.*, 1999; Klinge, 2000; Tremblay and Giguere, 2002). Ligand binding to AF1 and/or AF2 domains induces a conformational change in the receptor and causes receptor dimerization (Schiff and Fuqua, 2002). This enables binding of coregulatory proteins (Schiau *et al.*, 1998) that alter ER transcriptional activity on

specific DNA elements (Estrogen Response Elements, ERE) present on the promoter regions of target genes. If the coregulatory protein is an estrogen agonist, ER transcriptional activity is enhanced. If it is an estrogen antagonist (e.g. Tamoxifen), ER transcription is repressed (McKenna *et al.*, 1999; Schiau *et al.*, 1998). ER can also regulate gene expression through protein-protein interactions with transcription factors e.g. c-Jun, NF κ B, and Sp1 (Kushner *et al.*, 2000). These complexes play an important role in recruitment of transcriptional machinery, the modulation of chromatin structure and in the regulation of ER target gene expression (McKenna *et al.*, 1999). The genomic action of estrogen is slow since the diffusion of estrogen to the nucleus to exert its effect takes time. However, rapid effect of estrogen has also been determined that is described in the following section.

1.3.5.4. Non-Genomic Action of Estrogen. A non-genomic action of estrogen has been proposed due to its rapid effect (in a few seconds or minutes), insensitivity to inhibitors of mRNA and protein synthesis, stimulation of secondary messengers including cAMP (Nakhla et al., 1990), inositol phosphate (Le Mallay et al., 1997) and calcium (Morley et al., 1992; Audy et al., 1996). It is independent of the classic gene transcription and is probably initiated outside the nucleus. Some of the studies suggested that, this activity was mediated through traditional ERs or by a closely related splice variant located on the plasma membrane (Li et al., 2003, Figtree et al., 2003). However, a role for an unrelated membrane ER has been proposed whose action was blocked by inhibitors of G-protein signaling (Le Mallay et al., 1997; Filardo, 2002). The non-genomic action of estrogen through G-proteins has been shown in a variety of cell types (Gu et al., 1999; Nadal et al., 2000; Qiu et al., 2003). Activation of Erk via estrogen in breast cancer cells that do not express ER α/β , but a type of G-protein (GPR30), and the requirement of GPR30 for estrogen action proposed a possible role of this G-protein in these cells (Filardo et al., 2000). This finding was confirmed by further studies where estrogen-mediated signaling was sensitive to G-protein inhibitors in GPR30 transfected cells (Revenkar et al., 2005; Thomas et al., 2005). It has been shown that GPCRs mediate transphosphorylation of EGFR, via metalloproteinase-dependent (MMP) cleavage of heparan-bound EGF (Figure 1.12) (Prenzel et al., 1999). Through this pathway estrogen is proposed to promote EGFlike effects. Previous studies have also shown the relationship between EGFR and estrogen (DiAugustine et al., 1988; Mukku and Stancel 1985; Nelson et al., 1991) but the

mechanism was not known. In another study, stimulation of ER-EGFR interaction with estrogen has been shown in breast cancer cells (Yang *et al.*, 2004). Lately, the effect of estrogen on the motility and morphology of breast cancer cells were reversed with the use of EGFR inhibitor showing the relation between estrogen and EGFR (Azios and Dharmawardhane, 2005).



Figure 1.12. The schematic diagram of estrogen action through GPCR and transactivation of EGFR (Filardo, 2002)

1.4. Estrogen and Ion Channels

It is well known that steroids like estrogen, progesterone, androgens and corticosterone have a role in developmental organization of the nervous system. For example, steroids organize the brain circuits during embryogenesis and perinatal development (Matsumoto, 1991; Roselli and Klosterman, 1998). In addition to these, determination of ER α/β in dorsal root ganglion (DRG) indicated the implication of estrogen in sensory and autonomic functions (Papka *et al.*, 1997; Taleghany *et al.*, 1999; Patrone *et al.*, 1999). Further *in vitro* and *in vivo* analysis showed the effect of estrogen on dendritic spines, synapses within the hippocampus and in hippocampal, cortical and basal forebrain neurons (Yankova *et al.*, 2001; Brinton *et al.*, 2000; Brinton *et al.*, 1997). The

mechanism of estrogen action in these cells was proposed to be through genomic and nongenomic pathways (Brinton *et al.*, 1997). Detailed investigation showed that estrogen induced Ca^{+2} influx was followed by activation of Src/MAPK pathway and CREB (Zhao *et al.*, 2005). With this study the effect of estrogen on neuroprotection and electrophysiological plasticity was enlightened. However, other studies showed that estrogen inhibited the Ca^{+2} current in a subpopulation of DRG neurons (Lee *et al.*, 2002) and smooth muscle cells (Kitazawa *et al.*, 1997; Nakajima *et al.*, 1999). Inhibitory effect of estrogen on K⁺ currents in neurons enhancing the excitability of the cells was also shown (Fatehi *et al.*, 2005; Kelly *et al.*, 2002; Carrer *et al.*, 2003). Estrogen is also found to activate the Ca^{+2} channels in colon (Doolan *et al.*, 2000) but inhibit in myocytes (Tanabe *et al.*, 1999; Nakajima *et al.*, 1999). It is suggested that estrogen achieves vasodilation in coronary smooth muscle cells by inhibiting the Ca^{+2} channels and activating the K⁺ channels in these cells (Ruehlman *et al.*, 1998).

In some studies, tamoxifen was shown to activate K⁺ channels through its β -subunit in smooth muscle cells (Dick *et al.*, 2001; Dick and Sanders, 2001; Dick, 2002) but inhibit in the arterial smooth muscle of the cardiovascular system (He *et al.*, 2003; Thomas *et al.*, 2003). Lately, this inhibitory effect of tamoxifen was suggested to be due to the level of channel activity and that β -subunit was not necessary. Since the channel inhibition was reversible β -subunit was proposed to stabilize the binding of tamoxifen (Perez, 2005). Another type of antiestrogen (clomiphene) was shown to inhibit ion currents generated by voltage-gated sodium and potassium channels and L-type calcium channels in heart myocytes (Borg *et al.*, 2002).

The relation between estrogen and ion channels in cancer has also been analyzed. Studies showed that tamoxifen could be useful in prevention of brain tumors and their metastasis (Smitherman and Sontheimer, 2001). The mechanism of this action was suggested to be mediated through the astrocytes that control the brain microenvironment and express both TTX-sensitive and TTX-resistant sodium channels. Although these channels do not produce action potentials they can have a role in cell cycle progression. Therefore, blockage of these channels by tamoxifen could disrupt cell division thereby prevent tumor progression.

The detection of K⁺ channels in breast cancer cells (Quadid-Ahidouch *et al.*, 2004) initiated the investigation of its mechanism of action. Further studies have shown that estrogen increased cell proliferation via activation of K⁺ channels through both genomic and non-genomic pathways in breast cancer cells (Coiret *et al.*, 2005). Estrogen was suggested to exert its effect on K⁺ channels either by binding to the modulatory β -subunit (Valverde *et al.*, 1999; Dick and Sanders, 2001) or by binding directly to the functional α -subunit of the channel (Korovkina *et al.*, 2004). In addition to these, estrogen upregulated the mRNA expression level of both α - and β -subunits of K⁺ channels (Jamali *et al.*, 2003; Benkusky *et al.*, 2002).

The effect of estrogen on ion channels through the genomic pathway involves phosphorylation of cyclic AMP Response Element (CRE) via Protein Kinase A (PKA) and transcriptional regulation of certain genes that in turn acts on ion channels (Figure 1.13). The non-genomic pathway involves the G-protein linked receptors that upon estrogen binding, activate PKA and Protein Kinase C (PKC) via adenylyl cyclase (AC) and hydrolysis of PIP₂, respectively. PKC phosphorylates AC that in turn activates PKA. This would inhibit the activities of various K⁺ channels (eg SK, GIRK) via direct phosphorylation (Figure 1.13). In addition to this, binding of estrogen to GPCR directly activates the K⁺ channel, GIRK.



Figure 1.13. The schematic diagram showing both the genomic and non-genomic estrogen action and its effect on ion channels (modified from Kelly *et al.*, 2002)

1.5. Ion Channels and Cancer

Ion channels are well known to be involved in excitation, muscle contraction, volume regulation and hormone secretion. Ion channels in tumor formation and progression have been studied in different cancers for more than a decade. Various types of voltage-gated potassium channels (VGPC) have been correlated with cancers of colon, breast, prostate, lung, stomach, urinary bladder, pancreas, lymphoma and melanoma (Abdul and Hoossein, 2002a; Lastraioli et al., 2004; Kim et al., 2004; Pardo et al., 1999; Quadid-Ahidouch et al., 2001, 2004a, b; Abdul et al., 2003; Mu et al., 2003; Abdul and Hoosein, 2002b; Fraser et al., 2003; Rane, 2000; Takanami et al., 2004; Shao et al., 2005; Jäger et al., 2004; Smith et al., 2002; Meyer et al., 1999; Schwab et al., 1999). Detailed analysis has shown the upregulation of some VGPCs in cancer and a role in proliferation of tumor cells. The activity of one of the K⁺ channel subtypes was shown to change during cell cycle progression where an increase at M/G1 phase but a decrease at S/G2 phase was observed (Day et al., 2001). This channel was found to contain binding sites for MAPK, CDK-1 (Camacho et al., 2000) and other cell cycle regulatory proteins that may explain the above oscillation (Piros et al., 1999). On the other hand, changes in microtubules and intracellular Na⁺ concentration affected the activity of K⁺ channel throughout the cell cycle (Day et al., 2001). Regulation of K⁺ channels via growth factors and kinases during cell division was also determined (Roderick et al., 2003). For examle, serum and glucocorticoid kinase (SGK1) that is activated through PI-3 kinase was found to inhibit the ubiquitin ligase Nedd4-2 thereby preventing endocytosis of ion channels. This finding may explain the reason of ion channel activation via mitogenic signals (Lang et al., 2003). Kinases like p21ras, Raf, and ras activate (Huang and Rane 1994) and Src kinase directly phosphorylate the K⁺ channels (Sobko *et al.*, 1998). Such post-translational modifications on K⁺ channels may have an effect on cancer development and progression.

Upregulation of voltage-gated calcium channels (VGCC) was found to correlate with cancers of colon cancer, lung, prostate, melanoma (Wang *et al.*, 2000; Tsavaler *et al.*, 2001; Wissenbach *et al.*, 2001; Peng *et al.*, 2001). However, a role in cancer development is not suggested yet.

Voltage-gated sodium channel (VGSC) is another group of ion channels that has been correlated with breast cancer, prostate cancer and small cell lung carcinoma (Fraser *et al.*, 2005; Roger *et al.*, 2003; Diss *et al.*, 2001; Abdul and Hoosein, 2002b; Onganer and Djamgoz, 2005). Functional analyses have indicated a role for VGSCs in directional motility (Djamgoz *et al.*, 2001; Fraser *et al.*, 2003); secretory membrane activity (Krasowska *et al.*, 2004; Mycielska *et al.*, 2003); adhesion (Palmer *et al.*, 2006) and invasion (Fraser *et al.*, 2004, 2005; Grimes *et al.*, 1995; Laniado *et al.*, 1997; Roger *et al.*, 2003; Smith *et al.*, 1998). Since these cellular behaviours are involved in metastasis, VGSC was suggested to have a role in the dissemination of cancer.

Sodium/potassium ATPase (Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase) that is a ubiquitous plasma membrane ion pump maintaining the normal Na⁺, K⁺ gradient in most of the eukaryotic cells was also shown to be involved in cancer (Skou and Esmann, 1992). Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase enables normal resting potentials and various cellular activities. The ionic homeostasis was found critical for cell growth, differentiation and cell survival. Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase was also shown to modulate cell migration and (Vogel et al., 1993; Woo et al., 2000), cell to cell interaction (Shoshani et al., 2005; Barwe et al., 2005; Contreras et al., 1995). Several studies determined altered expression and activity of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase in cancers of the bladder, gastric, prostate, urothelial, renal clear carcinoma and breast. The disturbed ionic homeostasis of cancer cells was suggested to be due to changes in Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity. This statement was based on the findings where expression of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase subunits were increased in gastric and bladder cancer (Lee et al., 2002). However, Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase activity and β -subunit expression was decreased in invasive renal clear carcinoma cells (Rajasekaran et al., 2003). Several studies showed that estrogen increased activity of Na⁺, K⁺- ATPase and regulated expression of subunits. Inhibitors of Na⁺, K⁺-ATPase were shown to prevent proliferation and due to their structural similarities act as ER antagonists specially for membrane bound ERs. These properties of Na⁺, K⁺- ATPase and its inhibitors support the idea that Na⁺, K⁺- ATPase in combination with ERs could be potential targets for the development of anti-breast cancer drugs (Chen et al., 2006).

1.6. Voltage-Gated Sodium Channels

VGSCs mediate Na⁺ ion influx into the cells to generate action potentials in many excitable cells. VGSC was first isolated from electric eel electroplax and functional expression analysis was done in Xenopus oocytes (Goldin et al., 1986). VGSCs are composed of a functional catalytic α -subunit and regulatory β -subunits. At least 10 different human isoforms of α -subunit (Na_v 1.1-Na_v1.9 and Na_x) (260 kDa) and four different β -subunits (β 1- β 4) was identified (33- 36 kDa) (Figure 1.14). When expressed alone, α -subunit was sufficient for a functional channel in *Xenopus* oocytes (Goldin *et al.*, 1986). The β -subunits act to modulate electrophysiological properties of the channel; accelerating inactivation, voltage dependence and gating (Isom, 2001). As well as influencing the kinetics of VGSC, β -subunits facilitates trafficking and anchoring of VGSC α on the plasma membrane thus increasing the availability of functional VGSCs. Since the β -subunits have immunoglobulin-like motifs similar to those found in many cell adhesion molecules, they have been proposed to have a role in cell-cell attachment (Isom, 2002). This was confirmed in a study where $\beta 1$ and $\beta 2$ were found to recruit ankrin protein to the site of cell-cell contact and interact with extracellular matrix proteins (Xiao et al., 1999; Srinivasan et al., 1998).

VGSC α is a glycoprotein made up of four homologous transmembrane domains (D1-D4) each of which contains six segments (S1-S6) (Figure 1.14). The four domains fold together to create a central pore whose structural constituents determine the selectivity and conductance properties of the channel. The voltage sensor is located in the S4 segment that contains a repeated motif made up of positively charged amino acid residues (Lys or Arg) (violet segments in Figure 1.14). These amino acids are stabilized by ionic interactions with negatively charged residues in adjacent transmembrane segments. Depolarization causes release of S4 segment outwards leading to a conformational change that opens the pore. A loop is present between helices S5-S6 (orange segments in Figure 1.14) that forms the ion selective pore. Glutamate and aspartate residues found in analogous positions in all four domains are thought to form the negatively charged outer and inner rings that serve as a receptor site for the selectivity filter. The carboxyl side chains of these amino acids interact with Na⁺ passing through the channel thus determine its selectivity.



Figure 1.14. Structure of voltage-gated sodium channel α -subunit (modified from Chahine *et al.*, 2005)

The inactivation gate is on the intracellular loop between D3-D4. When the cell membrane is depolarized, the VGSC is inactivated for a few milliseconds after its opening. The three hydrophobic amino acid residues, Ile-Phe-Met, (IFM motif) interacts with the pore blocking it just like a 'hinged-lid' (Figure 1.15).

VGSC α genes are made up of at least 20 exons that are localized on different chromosomes (Goldin, 2001). Na⁺ channels are mainly characterized by their pharmacological properties. Genes found on the same chromosome usually show similarities in sequence, biophysical and pharmachological characteristics. Tetrodotoxin (TTX) blocks neural (eg. Na_v1.1-1.3) and skeletal muscle (Na_v1.4) isoforms at nanomole range whereas the cardiac (Na_v1.5) isoform requires micromolar concentrations to be blocked (Table 1.2). The glutamate at position 387 in D1 determines the TTX-sensitivity (Cummins *et al.*, 1999; Akopian *et al.*, 1996; Satin *et al.*, 1992). However in the cardiac isoform a change of tyrosine or phenylalanine to cysteine at position 385 in D1 causes 200fold decrease in TTX affinity when compared to brain and skeletal muscle isoforms (Heinemann *et al.*, 1992).



Figure 1.15. Inactivation gate of the VGSC (Yu and Catterall, 2003)

VGSC	Chromosome	Tissue localization	TTX sensitivity
subtype			
Na _v 1.1	2q24	CNS, PNS, heart	TTX-S
Na _v 1.2	2q23-24	CNS	TTX-S
Na _v 1.3	2q24	CNS, heart	TTX-S
Na _v 1.4	17q23-25	Skeletal muscle	TTX-S
Na _v 1.5	3p21	Heart, CNS	TTX-R
Na _v 1.6	12q13	CNS, PNS, heart, glia, nodes of Ranvier	TTX-S
Na _v 1.7	2q24	PNS, Schwann cells	TTX-S
Na _v 1.8	3p22-24	PNS	TTX-R
Na _v 1.9	3p21-24	PNS	TTX-R
Na _x	2q21-23	Heart, uterus, lung, PNS smooth	TTX-R
		muscle, glia	

Table 1.2. The chromosomal and tissue distribution and TTX sensitivity of VGSC α

1.6.1. Tissue Distribution of VGSCs

VGSCs are known to be expressed in excitable cells like nerve, heart and skeletal muscle. The studies have shown the presence of VGSC mRNA and proteins in these cells. Electrophysiological studies determined the functional VGSC protein on plasma membrane of heart muscle cells and located the protein immunohistochemically, in clusters, where they ensure uniform conduction of electric depolarization along and within the myocytes (Cohen, 1996). In the central nervous system (CNS) and the peripheral nervous system (PNS) different cells contain different VGSC subtypes. In brain, VGSC mRNA and protein were detected in the axons of granule cells (Na_v1.2), Purkinje cells

(Na_v1.2), pyramidal cell layers of the cortex and neuronal cell bodies (Na_v1.1) (Whitaker *et al.*, 2001; Chung *et al.*, 2000). In the PNS, the VGSCs were mainly clustered at the nodes of Ranvier and internodal zones of the axons (Shrager, 1989). They were also detected in DRG neurons, Schwann cells and neuroendocrine cells (Sangameswaran *et al.*, 1997; Belcher *et al.*, 1995; Klugbauer *et al.*, 1995).

Non-excitable cells were also investigated for the presence of VGSCs. Electrophysiological studies determined VGSC in glia (Chiu *et al.*, 1984), osteoblasts (Black and Waxman, 1996), fibroblasts (Bakhramov *et al.*, 1995) and endothelial cells (Walsh *et al.*, 1998; Gosling *et al.*, 1998). In another *in vitro* study, human umbilical endothelial cells (HUVEC) were found to express Na_v1.4 and Na_v1.6 that inhibited shear stress-mediated ERK1/2 activation. This finding proposed a role for VGSCs in signal transduction (Traub *et al.*, 1999). According to an RNA based study, Na_v1.9 was expressed in non-neural cells like spermatogonia and spermatocytes of testis, granular cells surrounding the oocytes, syncytiotrphoblasts of placenta and goblet cells of small intestine (Ogata *et al.*, 2000). Soon after this, an isoform of cardiac VGSC, Na_v1.5, was identified in the jejunal circular smooth muscle. The identified Na_v1.5 was found to have eight amino acid differences from the known Na_v1.5 at the linker between Domain 2 and 3 (Ou *et al.*, 2002). Lymphocytes that move to the site of infection were known to contain VGSCs over a decade (Gaspar *et al.*, 1992). Detailed investigation in a model system identified the expression of Na_v1.5 that gained the invasive capacity to the cells (Fraser *et al.*, 2004).

1.6.2. VGSC and Cancer Metastasis

The presence of VGSCs in some cancer cells like small-cell lung carcinoma (SCLC) were known for more than a decade (Champigny *et al.*, 1991; Marx *et al.*, 1991; Pancrazio *et al.*, 1989). However, a correlation between cancer cell metastasis and VGSC expression was shown by Grimes (1995) in prostate cancer cells. Later molecular analysis identified Na_v1.7 as the cause of these currents in metastatic cells (Diss *et al.*, 2001). Further *in vivo* analysis has shown that the VGSC α protein was localized to epithelial cell membranes in different grades of prostate cancer tissues (Abdul and Hoosein, 2002b; Diss *et al.*, 2005). Functional studies determined that VGSC α related cellular activities were required for metastasis in prostate cancer (Fraser *et al.*, 1999; Fraser *et al.*, 1998; Djamgoz *et al.*, 2001;

Mycielska et al., 2000; Mycielska and Djamgoz, 2004; Grimes et al., 1995; Laniado et al., 1997.

Studies on breast cancer cells with different metastatic abilities determined the presence of a functional VGSC protein only in strongly metastatic breast cancer cells (Roger et al., 2003; Fraser et al., 2005). Investigation of the effect of VGSC on various cellular behaviour showed that VGSC was not involved in proliferation but in invasion of metastatic breast cancer cells (Roger et al., 2003). VGSC was also shown to be involved in directional motility and endocytosis that are basic steps of metastasis (Fraser et al., 2005). In this study, authors determined upregulation of the cardiac sodium channel, $Na_v 1.5$, in its neonatal spliced form $(nNa_v 1.5)$ in metastatic breast cancer cells and tissues. A positive correlation was identified between nNav1.5 expression and metastasis in a small group of patients (Fraser et al., 2005). In a further study, site of alternative splicing in nNav1.5 was found to be on the D1:S3 extracellular loop resulting in 31 nucleotide difference (seven amino acids) when compared to the adult isoform (Figure 1.16). Such a difference between amino acids enabled development of a specific antibody against nNav1.5 (NESOpAb). Since the epitope was on the extracellular loop, in vitro application of the antibody specifically targeted and blocked the Na⁺ current in nNa_v1.5 transfected cells. The sensitivity and selectivity of the NESOpAb was determined to be better than VGSC blockers, e.g. Tetrodotoxin (TTX) (Chioni et al., 2005).



Figure 1.16. The location of alternative splicing in Na_v1.5 gene and protein (modified from Chioni *et al.*, 2005)

Recently the presence of VGSCs in a highly aggressive cancer, small-cell lung carcinoma (SCLC) has been analyzed (Onganer and Djamgoz, 2005). *In vitro* analysis on

SCLC cells showed the role of VGSC in endocytosis as in the case of prostate and breast cancer (Fraser *et al.*, 2005; Mycielska *et al.*, 2003). Initial observation of this study state the expression of Na_v1.3, Na_v1.5 and Na_v1.6 genes in the cell lines tested.

Analysis of neuroblastoma tumor cells showed that these cells contain different VGSCs (Urbano *et al.*, 1997). Characterization studies identified the expression of two different splice variants of $Na_v 1.5$ whose effect on the pathophysiology of the disease is not known yet (Ou *et al.*, 2005).

1.6.3. Regulation of VGSCs

VGSC regulation can be at transcriptional and post-translational stages. Such modifications can lead to differences in functional properties, level of transcription/translation and localization of the channel. Several growth factors like nerve growth factor (NGF), fibroblast growth factor (FGF) and its homologous factor 1B (FHF1B/FGF12), glial derived neurotrophic factor (GDNF), epidermal growth factor (EGF) and hormones (e.g. androgen and dexamethasone) affect the VGSC expression and/or activity depending on the cell type and subtype of the channel (Avila *et al.*, 2003; Cummins et al., 2000; Tabb et al., 1994; Waxman et al., 2000; Zakon 1998; Zur et al., 1995: Liu *et al.*, 2003). Both NGF and GDNF were found to upregulate $Na_v 1.8$ and $Na_v 1.9$ but downregulate Nav1.3 in spinal sensory neurons (Black et al., 1997; Fjell et al., 1999). FHF1B was shown to bind to Nav1.5 and modulate the inactivation state of the channel (Liu et al., 2003).

The analysis of VGSC regulation at transcriptional level has determined a binding site for transcription repressor REST on the RE-1 element on the promoter of Na_v1.2 (Chong *et al.*, 1995, Kraner *et al.*, 1992; Mori *et al.*, 1992). Upon binding, VGSC expression was restricted to neuronal cells. Alternative splicing is another way of increasing the functional diversity of VGSCa. Up to now five different splice sites have been identified in different VGSCa genes. These occur at D1:S3, interdomain 1-2 (ID1-2), ID2-3, D3 and D4:S3 sites (Diss *et al.*, 2004). The spliced products may have major differences in the highly conserved regions of the protein. These may associate with other VGSCa variants or prevent the synthesis/activity of a full-length protein or produce a non-

functional protein. Trans-splicing may cause increase in the number of exons or changes in the exon order. Such events may gain novel functions to VGSCs (Diss *et al.*, 2004).

Post-translational modifications of VGSCs involve phosphorylation, glycosylation, and palmitoylation of the α -subunit. VGSC α can be phosphorylated by PKA, PKC, calcium calmodulin kinase II (CAM kinase II) and tyrosine kinase (Figure 1.17). PKA phosphorylates the VGSC α on four serine residues at positions Ser 573, 610, 623 and 687 on the Loop 1-2 in Figure 1.17 (Murphy *et al.*, 1993). PKC phosphorylation takes place on serine residue at the inactivation gate (Ser 1506) and ser 576 at L1-2 (Numann *et al.*, 1991; West *et al.*, 1991; Cantrell *et al.*, 2002) (Figure 1.17).

The effect of phosphorylation depends on the cell-type and subtype of VGSC. For example PKA phosphorylation of Na_v1.2 and Na_v1.1 decreased the amplitude of the ion current causing a reduction in the activity of the channel (Figure 1.17) (West *et* al., 1992; Smith and Goldin, 1996) whereas it increased the ion conductance of Na_v1.5 (Marban *et al.*, 1998) and activation rate of Na_v1.8 (Fitzgerald *et al.*, 1999). PKC phosphorylation of Na_v1.2 decreases the ion currents and activity of the channel as in PKA (Schreibmayer *et al.*, 1991; Dascal and Lodan, 1991) (Figure 1.18). Detailed analysis on single channels have shown that the decrease in ion current is either due to the reduction of the number of available channels or to the reduction in open form of the channel (Numann *et al.*, 1991). On the other hand, PKC increases the Na⁺ current of Na_v1.8 (Gold *et al.*, 1998).



Figure 1.17. Phosphorylation and glycosylation pattern of VGSCα via different kinases; circles and squares are phosphorylation sites of PKA, and PKC respectively. Ψ; glycosylation site (modified from Yu and Catterall, 2003)



Figure 1.18. The effect of PKA (A) and PKC (B) phosphorylation on Na_v1.2 (Cantrell and Catterall, 2001)

Phosphorylation of VGSC is suggested to affect the localization of the channel on the plasma membrane that is essential for its function. The processing of a functional VGSC was found to be through transition from the ER to Golgi. It is well known that PKA activates Na⁺ currents in different cells. Zhou (2000) and Vijayaragavan (2004) have suggested that this activation was due to the transport and incorporation of additional VGSC from the Golgi to the cell membrane since an inhibitor of intracellular trafficking blocked the ion influx.

Protein kinases, like serum and glucocorticoid inducible kinases SGK1 and SGK3, increased the Na⁺ current produced by Na_v1.5 and regulate the channel function (Boehmer *et al.*, 2003). CAM kinase II also increased the amplitude of VGSC current (Carlier *et al.*, 2000). Other CAM kinases are known to modulate the channel inactivation and various electrophysiologic properties of VGSC in a subtype specific manner (Deschenes *et al.*, 2002).

The phosphorylation of VGSC is reversed by protein phosphatases. Receptor-like protein phosphatese β (RPTP β), Ca+2/calmodulin-dependent protein phosphatese 2B, calcineurin, protein phosphatese1-2 have been shown to dephosphorylate VGSCs and increase the Na⁺ currents (Ratcliffe *et al.*, 2000).

Glycosylation of VGSC α has been determined on specific sites of the pore-lining regions of D1 and D3 (Figure 1.17) (Bennett, 2002; Marban *et al.*, 1998). The rate of glycosylation in each VGSC α subtype is quite different eg. heavy glycosylation was

observed in Na_v1.1-Na_v 1.4 (15-30 per cent) but not in Na_v1.5 and Na_v1.9 (5 per cent) (Marban *et al.*, 1998; Tyrrell *et al.*, 2001). The presence of carbohydrate groups affects the structure, localization/cell surface expression and electrophysiological properties of the channels (Bennett *et al.*, 1997; Zhang *et al.*, 2003). Studies have shown that glycosylation could be developmentally regulated (Tyrrell *et al.*, 2001) and alteration in the glycosylation pattern could impair VGSC function in certain diseases like cardiac arrhythmia and neuropathic pain (Ufret-Vincenty *et al.*, 2001; Zhang *et al.*, 2003).

Palmitoylation of VGSCs (addition of fatty acid palmitate) has been first shown by Schmidt and Catterall (1987). Palmitoylation occurs in the Golgi and was suggested to mediate VGSC transport to the plasma membrane. It is a dynamic process that is reversible thus may be an important tool for regulating diverse functions of the channel (Huang and El-Husseini, 2005).

Apart from modifications on the VGSC, interaction with proteins and VGSC β regulate the function and availability of the channel. The VGSC-interacting proteins are cytoplasmic elements, linker proteins (eg. actin), enzymes, ion channels (eg. voltagedependent anion channel), membrane associated proteins and motor proteins (dynein, intermediate and light chain) (Malik-Hall et al., 2003). The VGSC-protein interactions may be subtype specific and regulate the VGSC expression and/or cellular response. For example, compact myelin was found to regulate the localization of $Na_v 1.2$ and $Na_v 1.6$ in retinal ganglion cells and nodes of Ranvier, respectively (Boiko et al., 2001). An FGF family member FHF2B interacts with Nav1.6 and colocalize at nodes of Ranvier (Wittmack et al., 2004). Also dystrophin and syntrophin are suggested to interact with $Na_v 1.4$ and $Na_v 1.5$ that may regulate their localization to neuromuscular junction (Caldwell, 2000). Binding of dystrophin to VGSC α may link the channel to actin cytoskeleton and the extracellular matrix. Interaction with cytoskeletal elements induces VGSC open probability and persistent activity (Maltsev and Undrovinas, 1997; Undrovinas et al., 1995). Ubiquitin-protein ligases Nedd4 and Nedd4-2 were shown to decrease the Na⁺ current mediated by Na_v1.5. Later Nedd4 and Nedd4-2 were found to bind the neuronal VGSCs and through ubiquitination and endocytosis, inhibit the channel activity (Fotia et al., 2004). The authors suggest that since seven of the nine VGSCs

contain binding motif for Nedd4 and Nedd4-2 their turnover could be through ubiquitination via these proteins.

The data available in the literature indicates the presence of problems in the diagnosis and treatment of breast cancer. The currently used markers can not determine microscopic metastasis. Therefore, a significant proportion of patients receive adjuvant therapies that decrease their quality of life. In addition to these, resistance to hormone therapy is developed at later stages of the disease showing the requirement of reliable markers. Several studies implicated VGSC α in cancer metastasis and a preliminary study proposed the use of nNav1.5 as an early marker. However, little knowledge is available regarding the molecular mechanisms controlling the expression of the channel and the signaling pathway through which nNav1.5 regulates the cellular behaviours. It is well known that growth factors and hormones (e.g. estrogen) are important for breast cancer progression and regulation of VGSC activity in excitable cells. The involvement of nNav1.5 expression in cancer metastasis needs to be confirmed in a large number of cases and its specific expression in breast cancer metastasis should be tested to accomplish the requirements of a prognostic marker. In addition to this, the underlying mechanism of nNav1.5 regulating the metastatic cell behaviour needs to be identified.

2. AIM

This study aims to provide further evidence for the possible association of $nNa_v 1.5$ expression with breast cancer metastasis and to determine the possible role of estrogen on $nNa_v 1.5$ expression and function.

Within the scope of this thesis, we aimed to analyze possible simultaneous presence of $nNa_v 1.5$ and breast cancer metastasis using RT-PCR and immunohistochemistry on human tissues. Since estrogen is involved in breast cancer development and progression through its receptors (ER) and regulates VGSC α function in several tissues, we aimed to analyze the possible relation between $nNa_v 1.5$ expression and ER in breast cancer tissues.

Due to the differences between adult and neonatal splice-forms of Na_v1.5, drugs could be developed that specifically target $nNa_v1.5$ and treat breast cancer with minimal side effects. In this respect, it is of great importance to determine the distribution of VGSC α (and specifically $nNa_v1.5$) proteins in normal human tissues using immunohistochemistry. Since VGSC α expression has been related with prostate cancer and small-cell lung carcinoma (SCLC), we also aimed to test whether VGSC α expression was a widespread mechanism in cancer metastasis.

To unravel the mechanism of VGSC α upregulation in metastatic breast tissue, possible effect of estrogen on nNa_v1.5 expression and function was investigated. For this purpose, cell lines with different metastatic capacities were exposed to estrogen and/or VGSC blocker, tetrodotoxin, and the effect on cell proliferation and motility and nNa_v1.5 protein expression and location were analysed.

3. MATERIALS

3.1. Human Tissues

The frozen breast biopsies for $nNa_v 1.5$ gene expression analysis were obtained from Hammersmith Hospital, London, UK.

Frozen and paraffin embedded breast cancer, normal tissues (small intestine, colon, stomach, urinary bladder, prostate, esophagus) and various cancers (lung, kidney, prostate, stomach, colon, urinary bladder) used in VGSC α and nNav1.5 protein analysis were obtained from Marmara University Hospital, Istanbul, Turkey. Both frozen and paraffin embedded skeletal muscle sections were provided by Istanbul University, Istanbul Medical School Neurology Department. Informed consent was obtained for the human tissues studied. Ethical permission was obtained from Boğaziçi University and Marmara University, Faculty of Medicine. Brain and heart sections were provided by Forensic Medicine Faculty, Cerrahpaşa from autopsies with ethical permission.

3.2. Human Breast Cancer Cell Lines

Human breast cancer cell lines, MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7, were kindly provided by Prof. Mustafa Djamgoz, Imperial College Science Technology and Medicine, London, UK. MDA MB-231-ERα transfected cells were provided by Prof. Craig Jordan, Robert H. Lurie Comprehensive Cancer Center, Chicago, USA.

3.3. Fine Chemicals

3.3.1. Primers

Two different sets of primers were used in this study (Table 3.1). The first set of primers, hH1 and hH2, was used to amplify both adult and neonatal forms of the $Na_v 1.5$

gene. The primer set HCYTBL and CB5B recognizes a housekeeping gene, human cytochrome b5 reductase (hCytb5R), and is used to test the efficiency of cDNA synthesis.

Primer Name	Primer Sequence
hH1 (F):	5'-CAT CCT CAC CAA CTG CGT GT-3'
hH2 (R):	5'-CAT TGA GGT AAA GGT CCA GG-3'
HCYTBL (F):	5'-TAT ACA CCC ATC TCC AGC GA-3'
CB5B (R):	5'-CAT CTC CTC ATT CAC GAA GC -3'

Table 3.1. Primer sequences used in this study

3.3.2. Antibodies

Voltage-gated sodium channel specific antibody, Pan-VGSC (Upstate) was used on breast cancer, other cancers and normal tissues. The antibody recognizes a highly conserved region at the intracellular loop D3-D4 on the channel. The antibody peptide sequence is given in Table 3.2.

Antibody against adult form of Na_v 1.5, developed by William Catterall, was used on breast cancer tissues and heart as a positive control (Table 3.2). The peptide corresponds to residues 1122-1137 on the intracellular loop of D2-D3 of Na_v 1.5. The antibody was kindly provided by Prof. Mustafa Djamgoz

A poly-clonal antibody specific to the neonatal spliced form of $Na_v 1.5$ was developed in Imperial College MRC Clinical Sciences Centre (Table 3.2). The antibody was a kind gift of Prof. Mustafa Djamgoz.

Antibody Name	Peptide Sequence
Anti-Na ⁺ Channel (PAN)	TEEQKKYYNAMKKLGSKKC
Anti-Adult Na _v 1.5	KTEPQAPGCGETPEDS
Anti-nNav1.5 (NESOpAb)	VSENIKLGNLSALRC

Table 3.2. Antibody Peptide Sequences

3.3.3. Commercially Available Kits

The kits used throughout the thesis are given in Table 3.3.

Technique used	Kit
RT-PCR	Strataprep Miniprep RNA extraction kit
	MMLV Superscriptase II cDNA synthesis
	kit, Invitrogen
Immunohistochemistry	Avidin-biotin blocking kit, Vector
	Horseradish peroxidase (HRP) linked
	streptavidin-biotin complex (ABC), Dako
	Diaminobenzidine (DAB), Vector

Table 3.3. Kits used

3.4. Buffers and Solutions

The ingredients of the buffers used in this study are given in Table 3.4 through Table 3.8. All the chemicals are supplied from Sigma or Merck unless stated.

Fixative for frozen section:	50 % Acetone
	50 % Methanol pre-cooled to -20°C
10X PBS	3,43 g NaCl
	14,4 g Na ₂ HPO ₄
	8,97 g NaH ₂ PO ₄
0,1 % saponin/PBS	0,1 g saponin (Applichem)
	100 ml 1X PBS
0,2 % Triton X/PBS	200 μl Triton X
	100 ml 1X PBS
3 % H ₂ O ₂ /PBS	1 ml 30% H ₂ O ₂
	99 ml 1X PBS

Table 3.4. Buffers and solutions for immunohistochemistry

solutions for minunomstochemistry (continued)
0,01 M Citric Acid (pH: 6,0)
0.1 g BSA (Applichem)
100ml 1X PBS

Table 3.4. Buffers and solutions for immunohistochemistry (continued)

Table 3.5. Buffers and solutions for immunocytochemistry

Poly-L-Lysine	0,01 mg/ml poly-L-Lysine in sterile distilled water
Washing solution	0,1 % BSA/PBS

Table 3.6. Primary and secondary antibody dilutions for immunohisto/cytochemistry

Pan-VGSCa	1:100 in serum/1X PBS
NESOpAb	1:52 in serum/1X PBS in immunohistochemistry 1:200 in serum/1X PBS in immunocytochemistry
Swine anti-rabbit biotin	1: in immunohistochemistry (Dako)
Goat anti-rabbit FITC	1:300 in serum/1X PBS in immunocytochemistry (Dako)

Table 3.7. Buffers and solutions for cell culture

Complete Medium for	DMEM without phenol red, with sodium pyruva
MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 ce	100 mg/L glucose, pyridoxine (Invitrogen)
	10 % FBS (Invitrogen)
	4mM L-Glutamine (Biochrom)
	0,01 % pennicilin/streptomycin (Biochrom)
Complete Medium for	DMEM
MDA-MB-231-ERa	5 % FBS
	4mM L-Glutamine
	0,01 % pennicilin/streptomycin
	500 µg/ml Geneticin (G418) (Invitrogen)
Medium mixture for serum	DMEM
starving MDA-MB-231 and	0 % FBS
MCF-7 cells	4 mM L-Glutamin
	0,01% pennicilin/streptomycin

Medium mixture for serum	DMEM
starving MDA-MB-231-ERα	5% DC-FBS
	4 mM L-Glutamin
	0,01 % pennicilin/streptomycin
	500 μg/ml Geneticin
	6 ng/ml insulin (Roche)
Trypsin solution	0,25 g Trypsin (Invitrogen)
	100 ml 1X PBS
Freezing medium	20% FBS
	10% DMSO
	70% DMEM mixture

Table 3.7. Buffers and solutions for cell culture (continued)

Table 3.8. Buffers and solutions for BrdU proliferation assay

Fixative	100 % Methanol (precooled at-20°C)
Trypsin solution	0,05 % Trypsin in 1X PBS
Blocking solution	0,5 % BSA
	0,1 % Tween 20
	In 1X PBS
Anti-BrdU-FITC	1:500 in blocking solution (Roche)

3.5. Equipment

Autoclave	Midas 55, Prior Clave, UK
Balances	DTBH 210, Sartorius, GERMANY
Electronic Balance	VA 124, Gec Avery, UK
CCD camera	CCD Camera, JAI Corporation, JAPAN
CO ₂ incubator	WTB Binder, GERMANY
Centrifuges	ProFuge 10K, Stratagene, USA
	Mini Centrifuge 17307-05, Cole Parmer, USA
	Genofuge 16M, Techne, UK
	Centurion K40R, UK

Centrifuge B5, B. Braun Biotech International,
GERMANY
-20°C, 2021D Arçelik, TURKEY
-20°C, Bosch, GERMANY
-86°C ULT Freezer, ThermoForma, USA
Gel Doc XR System, Bio-Doc, ITALY
Horizon, Life Technologies, USA
DAPI Chroma 11000, GERMANY
FITC Chroma 41001, GERMANY
Texas Red Chroma 41004, GERMANY
Milky Way Counter, TAIWAN
Improved Neubauer, Weber Scientific International
Ltd, UK
Labcaire BH18, UK
M221 Elektro-mag, TURKEY
Clifton Hotplate Magnetic Stirrer, HS31, UK
B3000, Prior, UK
CM110 Inverted Microscope, Prior, UK
Phase contrast Inverted microscope, Olympus,
Zeiss Axioscope, GERMANY
M1733N, Samsung, MALAYSIA
WTW, GERMANY
Pipetus-akku, Hirscmann Labogerate, GERMANY
2082C, Arçelik, TURKEY
4030T, Arçelik, TURKEY
VIB Orbital Shaker, InterMed, DENMARK
Nüve SL350, TURKEY
Isis digital FISH imaging system, Metasystems,
GERMANY
MATLAB 6.5, technical computing
Image Pro Plus 5.1v, Digital Microscopy imaging
analysis system
Agilent Technologies, G1103A, Germany

Thermocyclers	MyCycler, Bio-Rad, ITALY
Vortex	Vortexmixer VM20, Chiltern Scientific, UK
Water bath	TE-10A, Techne, UK
Water purification	WA-TECH ultra pure water purification system,
	GERMANY

4. METHODS

4.1. Total RNA Extraction from Breast Cancer Tissues

Total RNA was extracted from frozen breast cancer tissues using Strataprep RNA extraction kit (USA). The tissues (0,2 g) were chopped into pieces with the aid of a scalpel and homogenized using a homogenizor in guanidium thiocyanate containing lysis buffer and β -mercaptoethanol. After centrifugation at 14000 rpm (maximum speed) for 1 minute, homogenization was repeated. The supernatant was transferred to a clean eppendorf and mixed with a pipette for several times. After vortexing for 5 seconds centrifugation was performed at maximum speed for 1 minute. The supernatant was transferred to pre-filtration columns and centrifuged at maximum speed for 5 minutes. Equal volume of 70 per cent ethanol was added on top of the filtrate and the mixture was transferred to an RNA-binding column. Centrifugation was performed at 14000 rpm for 1 minute. After washing the columns with low-salt buffer, the colons were treated with DNAse I at 37°C for 15 minutes. The columns were washed once with high-salt buffer and twice with low-salt buffer that was finally transferred to a clean eppendorf. The bound RNA was eluted by incubating the columns with 30 µl elution buffer at room temperature for 2 minutes followed by centrifugation at 14000 rpm for 1 minute. This step was repeated twice for efficient elution. The quantity of RNA was measured by spectrophotometric analysis at OD_{260} . OD_{260}/OD_{280} ratio was measured to reveal a possible protein contamination. The quality of the extracted RNA was analyzed by loading $0.5 \ \mu g$ RNA onto 0,8 per cent agarose gel.

4.2. cDNA Synthesis of RNA Extracted from Breast Cancer Tissues

Single stranded cDNA synthesis was performed using 1 μ g total RNA. The RNA sample was mixed with random hexamer (2,5 μ g/ μ l) and the volume was completed to 11 μ l with sterile distilled water. The mixture was incubated in 70°C heat block for 10 minutes to eliminate secondary structure of RNA. After cooling the sample on ice, 5X First Strand Buffer, 10 mM dNTP, 0,1 M DTT and RNAse inhibitor (20 U) were added and

incubated at 25°C incubator for 5 minutes. Upon addition of 200 U MMLV Superscript II reverse transcriptase incubation at 25°C for 10 minutes was performed. The cDNA was synthesized in 42°C water bath for 105 minutes and the reaction was terminated in 70°C heat block for 10 minutes. To eliminate RNA contamination cDNA samples were incubated with RNAse H at 37°C followed by 10 minute-incubation at 70°C.

4.3. RT-PCR

The synthesized cDNA was used in the amplification of the human cytochrome b5R (hCytb5R) and Na_v1.5 genes. The housekeeping gene hCytb5R was used as a control to measure the RNA level of the tissue and the efficiency of cDNA synthesis. The RT-PCR reaction was prepared using 1 μ l cDNA, 0,5 μ M from each primer, 1 μ M dNTP and 1 U Taq polimerase at a final volume of 20 μ l. The RT-PCR reaction for hCytb5R was initiated with a hotstart for five minutes at 94°C that was followed by 30 cycles at 94°C, 60°C, and 72°C 1 minute each. The reaction was extended for 10 minutes at 72°C. The reaction for Na_v1.5 was the same as the control except the cycle number (45) and the annealing temperature (58°C).

The RT-PCR products were analyzed on 1 percent agarose gel. Tissues that do not show any amplification for hCytb5R were not used for further analysis. Consistency between samples was achieved by duplicating the cDNA synthesis reactions.

4.4. Immunohistochemistry

4.4.1. Frozen Tissues

Human tissues obtained from biopsies (skeletal muscle, normal and cancerous breast) were immediately frozen in liquid nitrogen. Sections were cut on slides (~8 μ m) and stored at -20°C until use. To protect the proteins, tissues were fixed in 1:1 Acetone:Methanol that was previously cooled to -20°C for 15 minutes. The fixative was removed by washing the sections in 1X PBS three times for five minutes. The cell

membrane was permeabilized by incubation with 0,1 per cent saponin for 15 minutes and washed in 1X PBS three times for 5 minutes. Endogenous peroxidase activity of the tissue was suppressed by washing with 0.3 per cent H_2O_2 for 15 minutes. Washing with 1X PBS was repeated and background caused by the secondary antibody was suppressed by incubation with 5 per cent serum for one hour. To block the endogenous biotin activity of the tissue, avidin-biotin blocking kit (Vector) was applied. After a short 1X PBS wash, primary antibody incubation (pan-VGSC, Upstate) was performed in a moist chamber for one hour. Unbound antibody was removed by washing the slides with 1X PBS three times for 10 minutes. Sections were incubated with the secondary antibody for one hour. Excessive antibody was removed with 1X PBS as in the previous step. Then Horseradish peroxidase (HRP) linked streptavidin-biotin complex (ABC) (Dako, Denmark) was applied for 30 minutes. The sections were washed in 1X PBS three times for 10 minutes. The chromogen Diaminobenzidine (DAB) was added on top of sections and formation of colour reaction was followed under the light microscope. To protect the stained sections, slides were covered with mounting medium and detailed analysis was performed using the light microscope.

4.4.2. Paraffin Embedded Tissues

Immunohistochemistry was applied on normal and tumor human tissues. All the tissues were fixed in 4 per cent paraformaldehyde, de-hydrated in alcohol series, embedded in paraffin and sectioned on poly-L-lysin coated slides (3-5 μ m). Sections were deparaffinized in toluene and re-hydrated in 100 per cent, 90 per cent and 70 per cent alcohol series. The endogenous peroxidase activity of the tissue was blocked by washing in 3 per cent H₂O₂/1X PBS for 20 minutes. Duration of the washing was extended to one hour in case of high background. The cross-links formed during fixation were broken by heat-mediated antigen retrieval using 0.01 M citric acid buffer (pH 6) for three or 10 minutes in a microwave depending on the tissue type. The sections were allowed to cool down at room temperature for 20 minutes. Permeabilization of the membrane was achieved by washing the sections in 0.2 per cent Triton X/PBS for 10 minutes when needed. Sections were washed in 1X PBS three times for 5 minutes. The background staining caused by the secondary antibody was blocked for one hour by 10 per cent serum. Endogenous biotin activity of the tissue was blocked by avidin biotin complex (Vector). Sections were

incubated with the primary antibody diluted in 10 per cent serum/Triton X/PBS in a moist chamber for one hour or overnight (depending on the tissue). Pan-VGSC antibody was used in all normal and tumor tissues whereas NESOpAb was used in normal and breast cancer tissues. The negative control was incubated only with 10 per cent serum/Triton X/PBS. Then sections were washed in 0,1 per cent BSA/PBS for three times 10 minutes and incubated with biotinylated secondary antibody for one hour (1:125 diluted in 10 serum/1X PBS). The washing step was repeated and followed by horseradish peroxidase ABC incubation for one hour. Sections were washed in washing solution, 0,1 per cent BSA/PBS (3x10 minutes). Colour development caused by conversion of diaminobenzidin (DAB) to a coloured reagent via HRP enzyme was followed under a light microscope. The colour reaction was protected using a mounting medium. Image analysis was performed using Image Proplus 7 imaging system.

4.5. Maintenance of Breast Cancer Cells

MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 cell lines were grown in DMEM medium (without phenol red) containing 10 per cent Fetal bovine serum (FBS), 4 mM L-Glutamine and 0.1 per cent penicillin-streptomycin. MDA-MB-231-ER α cells were grown in the same complete medium as above except the use of 5 per cent FBS and 500 µg/ml Geneticin (Gibco-BRL). All the cells were plated in 100 mm petri dishes at the 37°C in a humid atmosphere with 5 per cent CO₂.

Cells were passaged when they reached 80 per cent confluency. After removing the medium, cells were washed with sterile 1X PBS. Trypsinization was performed by treating the cells with 1,5 ml 0,25 per cent Trypsin/1X PBS for 3 minutes at 37°C incubator. Since extended trypsinization can be toxic to cells, activity of trypsin was blocked by adding 2 ml complete medium. Cells were centrifuged at 1500 rpm for 5 minutes. The supernatant was removed and the cell pellet was resuspended in fresh complete medium and split into new petri dishes.

In vitro assays were performed by incubating the cells with 10 μ M TTX and/or estrogen (10 and 100 nM). The control samples were devoid of TTX and estrogen application. All the treatments were performed for 72 hours.

4.5.1. Cell Counting

Cells were counted using a haemacytometer for seeding at a certain concentration in each assay. The haemacytometer and coverslip were cleaned with alcohol to avoid contamination. Cell pellet was resuspended in 4 ml of complete medium and 100 μ l of this suspension was delivered into the haemacytometer. Using 10 X objective number of cells in one big square were counted. At least four different areas were counted and average was multiplied by 10⁴ to give the number of cells in 1ml.

4.5.2. Cell Storage

The cells were frozen when they reached 80-90 per cent confluency. To achieve this, cells were trypsinized as described in section 4.6.1. The cells were resuspended in a 1 ml mixture of 70 per cent complete medium, 20 per cent FBS and 10 per cent DMSO and transferred into cryovials. The cells were frozen in multiple steps where cryovials were kept at -20°C freezer for 1 hour then transferred to -80°C deepfreezer. For long term storage frozen cells were placed in liquid nitrogen after keeping them at -80°C overnight. When needed the cells were defrosted quickly in 37°C water bath and transferred into 100 mm dishes containing 7 ml complete medium. The medium of the attached cells were changed the next day to remove the DMSO in the freezing mixture.

4.5.3. Trypan Blue Exclusion Assay

Trypan blue is a negatively charged dye that diffuses into the cells when their membrane is no longer intact e.g. in case of cell death. Cells excluding the dye are alive and those stained into blue are dead. Trypan blue exclusion assay was performed on cells that were exposed to $10 \,\mu\text{M}$ BrdU, with estrogen ($10 \,\text{nM}$, $100 \,\text{nM}$) and/or $10 \,\mu\text{M}$ TTX and controls for 72 hours. Their medium was removed and cells were washed in 1X PBS twice. Trypan blue (0,4 per cent) and complete medium was added in 1:1 ratio and incubated for

7 minutes. The number of stained and unstained cells were counted at least from four different areas using 10 X objective of inverted microscope. The viability of the cells were determined by calculating the ratio of live cells to total number of cells.

4.6. Cell Proliferation Assay

BrdU incorporation assay was used to analyze the proliferation rate of MCF-7, MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-231-ER α cell lines in response to TTX and/or estrogen treatments. Cells were seeded at a concentration of $2x10^4$ cells/dish on poly-lysine covered 12mm coverslips placed in 35 mm dishes and grown for 24 hours. After overnight serum starvation (0 per cent serum), cells were treated with 10 µM BrdU for 1 hour. The complete medium was removed and the cells were treated for 72 hours with a medium change and 10 µM BrdU addition every 24 hours. The cells were fixed in methanol (cooled at -20°C) for 30 minutes and washed with 1X PBS three times for 5 minutes. Enzymatic digestion was performed in 0,05 per cent Trypsin for 5 minutes in 37°C CO₂ incubator. The nuclear membrane of the cells were permeabilized with 0,5 per cent Triton X and DNA was denatured in 2 M HCl for 1 hour in 37°C CO₂ incubator. Each treatment was followed by 1X PBS wash three times for 5 minutes. The cells were blocked with the blocking solution for 10 minutes at room temperature. FITC labelled anti-BrdU antibody incubation was performed for 1 hour in 37°C CO₂ incubator. The unbound antibody was removed by 1X PBS wash three times for 5 minutes. DAPI counterstaining (1:10,000) was applied for 10 minutes and the results were analyzed under fluorescence microscope. Each assay was performed as three individual experiments where approximately 400 cells were counted for each treatment. Statistical evaluation was performed using Student's t-test.

4.7. Wound Heal Motility Assay

Breast cancer cells were seeded on 35 mm dishes at a concentration of 15×10^4 cells/dish and grown for 24 hours. Serum starvation (0 per cent serum) was performed overnight and the next day three wounds were created using a 100 µl pipette tip. To discard the removed cells plates were washed twice with medium deprived of additives. The cells were treated with estrogen and/or TTX for 72 hours and non-treated ones were

used as controls. All treatments were performed in triplicates. The distance of the gaps created by the wound was measured under inverted microscope using an ocular with a micrometer. Measurements of the same sites were recorded at 24, 48 and 72 hours after treatments. Motility index was calculated using the formula given below,

$MI = 1 - (W_t/W_0)$

where MI is motility index, W_t is width of the wound t hours after treatment and W_0 is initial wound width. Statistical evaluation was performed using Student's t-test (Fraser *et al.*, 2003).

4.8. Immunocytochemistry

Immunocytochemistry was applied on in 35mm dishes grown on duplicates of 12mm coverslips. The coverslips were cleaned with 70 per cent alcohol and coated with poly-Llysine by incubation for 15 minutes at room temperature. After washing the coverslips several times with sterile distilled water, the dishes were allowed to dry in 37°C incubator for approximately 30 minutes. Cells were seeded at a concentration of $15x10^3$ cells/well and grown for 48 hours. Serum starvation was performed overnight and cells were treated with estrogen and/or TTX for 72 hours changing the complete medium every 24 hours. Cells were fixed in methanol for 5 minutes. After washing the cells with 1X PBS three times for 5 minutes, permeabilization was performed using 0,1 per cent saponin for 5 minutes. The washing step was repeated and followed by 5 per cent serum treatment for 1 hour in a moist chamber to block background staining. NESOpAb primary antibody incubation was performed for 1 hour at room temperature. The unbound antibodies were removed by washing the cells with washing solution three times for 5 minutes. The FITC labeled secondary antibody was incubated for 1 hour that was followed by a washing step. The counterstaining was achieved by treating the cells with DAPI (1:40,000) for 5 minutes. The results were pictured using Zeiss Axioskop fluorescence microscopy and ISIS digital imaging system.

4.8.1. Quantification of Immunocytochemistry Staining

The quantification of staining obtained during immunocytochemistry was performed using MATLAB 6.5 computing software modified by Boğaziçi University, Institute of Biomedical Engineering. FITC-coupled NESOpAb stained pictures were opened using MATLAB 6.5. By selecting 'green' option only green coloured pixels were made visible. Background pixels were removed by limiting the pixel size and adjusting the threshold. Since the software defines each separate pixel as an object, when a cell was partially stained a square tool was used to define the borders of the cell. All the green pixels per cell were counted in the picture by the software. The data were automatically transferred to a Text file where pixels in each individual cell, total number of objects and total number of pixels in the picture were given. For each type of treatment pixels of at least 100 cells were counted. Student's T-test was performed to determine the significance of changes in the pixel numbers upon estrogen and/or TTX treatment.
5. RESULTS

In this study, we investigated VGSC α and nNa_v1.5 expression in metastatic breast cancer cases. In this context, we compared nNa_v1.5 expression with status of lymph node metastasis (LNM) and estrogen receptor (ER) and analyzed whether its expression is unique to metastatic breast using normal human tissues. To define VGSC α expression in non-excitable tissues and to test its contribution to metastasis, we analyzed its distribution in normal and tumor tissues.

The effect of estrogen on breast cancer metastasis was investigated in strongly metastatic and weakly metastatic human cell lines that express estrogen receptor by performing *in vitro* motility and proliferation assays. The modulation of $nNa_v1.5$ expression and localization upon exposure of cells to estrogen was examined by immunocytochemistry.

5.1. Analysis of nNa_v1.5 Gene Expression in Breast Cancer and Normal Breast Tissues

In this part of the study, frozen biopsy samples of 60 breast cancer patients and two normal individuals were analyzed. The double-blind study involved determination of $nNa_v 1.5$ gene expression in each patient and comparison with lymph node metastasis and ER status.

5.1.1. Total RNA Extraction from Breast Cancer and Normal Breast Tissues

Total RNA was extracted from frozen breast cancer biopsies and normal breast samples using Stratagene RNA extraction kit. The RNA quality was tested by loading 0,5 μ g RNA on 0,8 per cent agarose gel. Presence of sharp 28S and 18S RNA bands indicated good quality RNA (Figure 5.1).



Figure 5.1. Agarose gel electrophoresis of total RNA from breast cancer (A) and normal breast tissues (B)

5.1.2. RT-PCR of nNav1.5 in Breast Cancer and Normal Breast Tissues

cDNA samples of 60 breast tumor and two normal tissues were prepared in duplicates. The RT-PCR products were visualized by loading 5 μ l of the sample together with 10X loading dye on a 1,2 per cent agarose gel. The RT-PCR of the control transcript, hCytb5R, produced a 491 bp fragment in samples with sufficient amount of RNA and nNa_v1.5 was amplified, producing a 500 bp product in cancerous and normal breast tissues (Figure 5.2A and B, respectively). Two breast cancer samples that produced faint or no amplification of hCytb5R gene were not used in the analysis of nNa_v1.5 gene expression. Figure 5.2A shows the result of nNa_v1.5 amplification in four of the five breast cancer cases. However, nNa_v1.5 gene expression was also detected in both of the normal breast tissues (Figure 5.2B) that is not quantified and might indicate expression of nNa_v1.5 gene in various cells within the breast tissue e.g. fibroblasts, endothelial cells and epithelial cells.



Figure 5.2. nNa_v1.5 and hCytb5R expression in breast cancer (A) and normal breast (B) tissues

5.1.3. nNav1.5 Gene Expression and Lymph Node Metastasis

Lymph node metastasis (LNM) data was available for 45 of the 60 breast cancer patients analyzed for nNa_v1.5 gene expression. The gene was found to be expressed in 23 patients that had LNM at the time of diagnosis (e.g. samples 31 and 40 in Figure 5.2). Nineteen patients were nNa_v1.5 positive but did not show LNM at initial diagnosis for (e.g. samples 38 and 47 in Figure 5.2). LNM was not encountered in any of the nNa_v1.5 (-) cases (e.g. sample 27 in Figure 5.2) (Table 5.1). Fourteen nNa_v1.5 (+) and one nNa_v1.5 (-) cases could not be included in the study since LNM data was not available. However, only in 26 of the 45 cases (23 cases that were nNa_v1.5(+)/LNM(+) and three cases that were nNa_v1.5(-)/LNM(-)) nNa_v1.5 expression was in parallel with LNM status ($\chi^2 = 2,8$, 0,1>p>0,05).

Table 5.1. Analysis of nNav1.5 gene expression and LNM status

n= 45	LNM (+)	LNM (-)
nNa _v 1.5 (+)	23 (51 %)	19 (42 %)
nNa _v 1.5 (-)	0	3 (7 %)

n: Total number of patients analyzed

5.1.3. Expression of nNav1.5 Gene and Estrogen Receptor Protein in Breast Cancer

Estrogen, acting through its receptors (ER), regulates VGSC in several tissues (Borg *et al.*, 2002; Smitherman and Sontheimer, 2001). On the other hand, ER is one of the most commonly used prognostic markers in breast cancer. Therefore, $nNa_v1.5$ gene expression and ER status was investigated in 36 cases that were used in RT-PCR analysis with available ER data. Of these, 23 patients expressed both $nNa_v1.5$ gene and ER protein. In 10 patients, $nNa_v1.5$ gene was expressed but not the ER protein. $nNa_v1.5$ gene was not expressed in two ER (+) and one ER (-) patients (Table 5.2). However, only in 24 of the 36 cases (23 cases that were $nNa_v1.5(+)/ER(+)$ and one case that was $nNa_v1.5(-)/ER(-)$) $nNa_v1.5$ expression was in parallel with ER status (χ^2 =1,04, p<0,05, df=1). Among the patients for which ER status was not known 23 were $nNa_v1.5$ (+) and one $nNa_v1.5$ (-).

n= 36	ER (+)	ER (-)
nNa _v 1.5 (+)	23 (64 %)	10 (28 %)
nNa _v 1.5 (-)	2 (5 %)	1 (3 %)

Table 5.2. Comparison of nNav1.5 Gene Expression with ER status

n: Total number of patients analyzed

5.2. VGSCa and nNav1.5 Protein Expression in Normal Human Tissues

Immunohistochemistry (IHC) was applied both on frozen and paraffin-embedded normal and tumor tissues. On frozen sections, an antibody that recognizes VGSC α protein (pan-VGSC α , Upstate) and on paraffin embedded tissues pan-VGSC α or antibody raised against nNa_v1.5 protein (NESOpAb) (Chioni *et al.*, 2005) were used.

The presence of VGSC α and nNa_v1.5 proteins were investigated on paraffin embedded normal small intestine, colon, stomach, esophagus, prostate, urinary bladder and breast tissues. Skeletal, heart muscle and brain were used as positive controls for VGSC α . A range of two to eight samples were studied for each type of normal tissue. In frozen IHC skeletal muscle (positive control) and normal breast were used for VGSC α analysis.

5.2.1. IHC for VGSCa at Frozen Normal Human Tissues

In frozen skeletal muscle tissue, VGSC α protein was localized on the membrane of myocytes (single skeletal muscle cells) in the form of clusters that is consistent with previous findings (Ribaux *et al.*, 2001) (Figure 5.3A). Control sections processed without primary antibody produced no staining (Figure 5.3B).

VGSC α protein expression was investigated in seven frozen normal breast tissues. Due to difficulties in sectioning frozen tissues high background staining was observed in most of the samples. However, VGSC α immunoreactivity was primarily detected in the epithelial cells in two cases (Figure 5.4).



Figure 5.3. Frozen skeletal muscle tissue incubated with (A) and without pan-VGSC antibody (B). Clustering of VGSCα is indicated by arrows (Scale bar: 500 μm)



Figure 5.4. VGSC α protein expression in frozen normal breast tissue (A). The specific staining is absent when pan-VGSC α antibody is omitted (B). Scale bar represents 50 μ m

5.2.2. IHC for VGSCa on Paraffin Embedded Normal Human Tissues

In paraffin embedded sections the results of frozen IHC were confirmed in all of the excitable tissues where VGSC α expression was determined on membranes of skeletal muscle and heart myocytes in clusters (Figure 5.5A, and B). The VGSC α protein was also present in neuronal cell bodies in the brain (Figure 5.5C) as reported previously (Whitaker *et al.*, 2001). In non-excitable tissues VGSC α protein was determined in some of the cases analyzed (summarized in Table 5.3.). In VGSC α (+) small intestine tissues, the mucus secreting goblet cells (Figure 5.5D) and secretory cells of Brunner glands were shown to posses the protein (Figure 5.5E). Goblet cells in different parts of the colon (transverse, descending, sigmoid, rectum, cecum) were also found to express VGSC α protein (Figure 5.5C)

5.5F) consistent with the previous findings that suggests the role of VGSC α in secretion (Mycielska *et al.*, 2003). In VGSC α (+) cases the epithelial cell lining of stomach (Figure 5.5G) and parietal cells that secrete HCl (Figure 5.5H) were immunoreactive for the protein. The stratified squamous epithelia in esophagus were found to express VGSC α protein. The protein was clustered on the cell membrane of the epithelial cells (Figure 5.5-I). VGSC α was also present in prostate, specifically on the apical membrane of epithelial cells facing the lumen where the secretion product is released (Figure 5.5J). Breast epithelial cells (Figure 5.5K) and endothelial cells (Figure 5.5L) were found to express VGSC α protein as well but the protein was absent in urinary bladder. (Figure 5.5M). In some cases (e.g. Figure 5.5.H and M background staining was observed due to extensive fixation of the tissues.

Tissue	Ν	VGSCa(+)	VGSCa (-)	Stained cell type
Small intestine	8	6	2	Goblet cells, Brunner Glands
Colon	8	7	1	Goblet cells
Stomach	7	2	5	Parietal cells, epithelial cells
Esophagus	2	2	0	Stratified Squamous Epithelia
Prostate	5	3	2	Epithelial cells
Breast	7	5	2	Epithelial cells
Urinary bladder	2	0	2	None

Table 5.3. IHC results for VGSCα expression in normal human tissues

n: The number of cases analyzed



(D) (E) (F)



Figure 5.5. Distribution of VGSCα protein in normal human tissues. (A): skeletal muscle,
(B): heart muscle, (C): brain, (D): goblet cells of small intestine, (E): Brunner glands in small intestine, (F): colon, (G): epithelial cell lining of stomach, (H): parietal cells in stomach, (I): esophagus, (J): prostate, K: epithelial cells of breast, L: endothelial cells of breast, M: urinary bladder. Arrows indicate VGSCα specific staining.

5.2.3. IHC for nNav1.5 on Paraffin Embedded Normal Human Tissues

The expression of $nNa_v 1.5$ protein was investigated in all of the normal paraffin embedded human tissues tested for VGSC α presence. The $nNa_v 1.5$ was absent in skeletal (Figure 5.6A) and heart muscles (Figure 5.6B), brain (Figure 5.6C), small intestine (Figure 5.6D), colon (Figure 5.6E), stomach (Figure 5.6F), esophagus (Figure 5.6G), prostate (Figure 5.6H) and urinary bladder (Figure 5.6-I). However, $nNa_v 1.5$ protein expression was determined in five of the seven breast tissues (71 per cent) only in some epithelial cells of few ducts (Figure 5.6J).



Figure 5.6. Expression of nNav1.5 in paraffin embedded normal human tissues. (A):
skeletal muscle, (B): heart muscle, (C): brain, (D): small intestine, (E): colon, (F): stomach, (G): esophagus, (H): prostate (I): urinary bladder, (J): breast. Arrow indicate nNav1.5 specific staining

5.3. Investigation of VGSCα and nNa_v1.5 Protein Expression in Breast Cancer

To analyze the expression of VGSC α protein on frozen and paraffin embedded breast cancer tissues, pan-VGSC α antibody was used. Since this antibody can not discriminate the VGSC α subtypes and nNa_v1.5 is the predominant VGSC α expressed in breast cancer, a specific antibody was used to determine the nNa_v1.5 expression in paraffin embedded tissues.

5.3.1. VGSCα Protein Expression on Frozen and Paraffin Embedded Breast Cancer Tissues

A total of 10 frozen and 21 paraffin embedded breast cancer cases were investigated for the presence of VGSC α protein using pan-VGSC antibody. The protein expression was determined on the membrane and/or cytoplasm of epithelial cells in eight frozen (80 per cent) and 12 paraffin embedded tissues (57 per cent). Hematoxylene counter staining was performed to identify the specific localization of the VGSC α protein in the sections (Figure 5.7).



Figure 5.7. Expression of VGSCα protein in frozen breast cancer tissues. A and B shows VGSCα protein on the epithelial cell membrane of the tumor cells in two different cases. Hematoxylene counterstaining was used to localize the nuclei in both sections

Breast tumor sections, in which arteries were observable showed immunoreactivity in endothelial cells (Figure 5.8) that is consistent with previous findings (Gordienko and Tsukhara, 1994; Gosling *et al.*, 1998; Traub *et al.*, 1999).



Figure 5.8. Expression of VGSCα protein in endothelial cells of arteries in breast cancer. Hematoxylene counterstaining is performed

5.3.2. VGSCa Protein Expression and LNM

Amongst the 10 frozen cases, six of the VGSC α (+) patients had LNM at the time of diagnosis. VGSC α protein expression was not determined in one patient who did not have LNM. However, one of the VGSC α (+) patients did not present LNM at initial diagnosis. LNM status was not investigated in one VGSC α (+) and one VGSC α (-) patient (Table 5.4).

Table 5.4. Analysis of VGSC protein expression and LNM status in frozen breast cancer

tissues							
n=8	LNM (+)	LNM (-)					
VGSC (+)	6	1					
VGSC (-)	0	1					

n: Number of cases analyzed

Investigation of VGSC α protein expression in 21 paraffin embedded breast cancer tissues revealed parallel results with the frozen samples where cell membrane and/or cytoplasm of epithelial cells were stained (Figure 5.9). The protein expression was determined in 12 but not in 10 cases. In this double blind study, since LNM data for most

of these cases was not present, VGSC α expression could not be compared with lymph node metastasis.



Figure 5.9. VGSCα protein expression on epithelial cells in paraffin embedded breast cancer tissues

In cases where observable, other than epithelial cells, endothelial cells of blood vessels were also found to express VGSC α protein (Figure 5.10) as in frozen breast cancer tissues.



Figure 5.10. VGSCa protein expression in endothelial cells of a breast cancer tissue

5.3.3. Investigation of nNav1.5 Protein Expression in Breast Cancer

The expression and cellular location of $nNa_v 1.5$ protein was analyzed using immunohistochemistry on 51 paraffin embedded breast cancer tissues obtained from Marmara University, Department of Pathology. In some cases the protein was present only on the membrane, and/or cytoplasm of the tissues (17 cases each). Figure 5.11A shows an

example of a breast cancer case where $nNa_v1.5$ was determined only on the tumor cell membrane. Cytoplasmic localization (Figure 5.11B) and membrane staining together with fainter cytoplasmic staining (Figure 5.11C) was shown in different cases.





Figure 5.11. Breast tumor cells expressing nNav1.5 protein only on the membrane (A), on cytoplasm only (B) and membrane and cytoplasm (C)

In cases where observable endothelial cells of the arteries were also stained indicating the expression of $nNa_v1.5$ protein in these cells (Figure 5.12). This result defines the possible subtype of VGSC α expressed in endothelial cells that was determined using pan-VGSC α antibody (Figure 5.10).

Amongst the 51 breast cancer cases analyzed, $nNa_v1.5$ protein was present on epithelial cells with variable intensity of staining in 42 patients (82 per cent). A conclusion about the expression of $nNa_v1.5$ protein could not be made for two cases due to technical problems and LNM data was not available for 18 cases. Nineteen of $nNa_v1.5$ (+) patients (58 per cent) had LNM at the time of diagnosis. $nNa_v1.5$ protein was also expressed in 12 of LNM (-) patients (36 per cent) mostly at a relatively lower level compared to that of LNM (+) cases. In neither of the two nNa_v1.5 negative cases LNM was positive (6 per cent) (Table 5.5). Expression of the protein on the membrane alone and together with cytoplasm was observed in 14 of the LNM (+) cases (n=19). Whereas, six cases that express the protein at the cytoplasm were usually LNM (-) (n=10). Simultaneous presence or absence of nNa_v1.5 protein and LNM was observed in 64 per cent of the cases (χ^2 =2,88, 0,1>p>0,05, df=1).



Figure 5.12. nNav1.5 protein expression in endothelial cells of arteries in breast cancer

n=33	LNM (+)	LNM (-)
nNav1.5 (+)	19 (58 %)	12 (36 %)
nNa _v 1.5 (-)	0	2 (6 %)

Table 5.5. Analysis of nNav1.5 and LNM status of breast cancer cases

Analysis of ER status showed that 27 ER (+) patients (71 per cent) and 8 ER (-) patients (21 per cent) expressed nNa_v1.5. Simultaneous expression of nNa_v1.5 and ER was observed in 71 per cent of the cases analyzed (χ^2 =1,5, 0,1>p>0,05, df=1). In three nNa_v1.5 (-) patients (8 per cent) ER was present. However, ER data was not available for 13 patients (Table 5.6).

Since overexpression of HER2 protein is associated with aggressive type of breast cancer $nNa_v1.5$ expression was also compared with HER2 expression. The pathology reports of the patients showed that 16 cases (43 per cent) expressed both of the proteins but 18 (49 per cent) expressed only $nNa_v1.5$ protein. Two patients (5 per cent) were $nNa_v1.5$ (-)/HER2 (+) and one (3 per cent) was $nNa_v1.5$ (-) /HER2 (-). HER2 status of 27 per cent

n: Total number of cases studied

was not available, therefore not included in the study (Table 5.7). $nNa_v1.5$ expression could not be associated with that of HER2 proteins ($\chi^2=0,07, 0,1>p>0,05, df=1$).

Table 5.6. Analysis of nNav1.5 and ER status of breast cancer cases

n: Total number of cases studied

Table 5.7. Analysis of nNav1.5 and HER2 status of breast cancer cases

n=37	HER2 (+)	HER2 (-)
nNa _v 1.5 (+)	16 (43 %)	18 (49 %)
nNa _v 1.5 (-)	2 (5 %)	1 (3 %)

n: Total number of cases studied

The summary of LNM, hormone receptor status and histological grades of the cases analyzed for $nNa_v 1.5$ protein expression are given in Table 5.8.

No	Age	nNa _v 1.5	LNM	ER	PR	cErbB2	Diagnosis	Hist Grade
1	NR	-						
2	NR	+						
3	NR	+						
4	NR	-						
5	NR	+						
6	NR	-						
7	40	+	N2 (2)	10-20%	70%	ND	Infiltr Ductal Ca	2
8	35	+	N2 (4)	20%	>%15	+3	Infiltr Ductal Ca	3
9	67	+	ND	ND	ND	ND	Infiltr Ductal Ca	2
10	48	+	N0	-	-	-	Infilt papiller Ca	2
11	74	+	N2 (7)	60%	70%	-	Infiltr Ductal Ca	2
12	78	+	ND	90%	70%	-	Infiltr musinoz ca	2
13	50	-	ND	ND	ND	ND	Infiltr Ductal Ca	2
14	38	+	N2 (5)	60%	40%	+1	75% Infiltr Ductal Ca +	2
							25% lobular Ca	
15	60	-	ND	ND	ND	ND	Infiltr Ductal Ca	2
16	50	+	N2	90%	10%	+1	Infiltr Ductal Ca	2
			(14)					
17	54	+	N0	90%	-	-	Infiltr Ductal Ca	2
18	49	+	N0	90%	10%	+1	Infiltr Ductal Ca	2
19	47	+	N0	Low	-	ND	Microinv DuCa, multifocal	ND
20	63	NC	ND	ND	ND	ND	Tubular Ca	1
21	49	+	N0	40%	60%	-	Infiltr Ductal Ca	2
22	36	+	N2 (7)	-	70%	-	Infilt papiller Ca	2
23	NR	-						
24	65	-	ND	70%	30%	+1	Infiltr Ductal Ca	2
25	42	+	N0	40%	30%	+2	Infiltr Ductal Ca	2
	1					only		
						1 area		
26	77	-	N0	100%	70%	+1	Infiltr Ductal Ca	2

Table 5.8. Summary of breast cancer cases studied

27	59	+	NO	-	-	+1	Infiltr Ductal Ca	3
28	?	+	ND	90%	70%	-	Musinoz Ca	2
29	36	+	N1 (1)	90%	-	+3	Infiltr Ductal Ca+ musinoz	2
							Ca	
30	40	-	NO	70%	70%	-	Infiltr Ductal Ca	3
31	80	NC	ND	70%	60%	-	Musinoz Ca	2
32	49	+	N0	-	-	+3	Infiltr apocrine Ca	2
33	55	+	N2 (4)	-	-	-	Infiltr Ductal Ca	3
34	52	+	N1 (1)	90%	70 %	-	Infiltr Ductal Ca	ND
35	70	+	N1 (1)	70%	30%	+1	Infiltr Ductal+micropapiller	2
							signet ring Ca	
36	61	+	ND	70%	40%	-	Infiltr Ductal Ca	2
37	60	+	N1(2)	-	-	+1	Infiltr Ductal Ca, multifocal	2
38	47	+	N1 (2)	-	-	+1	Infiltr Ductal Ca	3
39	44	+	N2 (8)	90%	-	+1	Multicentric infiltr Ductal Ca	3
40	59	+	ND	90%	90%	-	Infiltr Ductal Ca	2
41	77	+?	ND	90%	90%	ND	Infiltr Ductal Ca	2
42	82	+	NO	60%	60%	-	Infiltr Ductal Ca	3
43	54	+	N1 (1)	70%	30%	2+	Infiltr Ductal Ca	3
44	63	+	NO	%30	-	+1	Infiltr Ductal	2
							Ca+tubulolobular	
45	60	+	N0	90%	70%	-	Infiltr Ductal+solid	2
							micropapiller differentiation	
46	42	+	N0	40%	30%	+1	Infiltr Ductal Ca	
47	44	+?	ND	-	-	-	Infiltr Ductal Ca	ND
48	59	+	ND	-	10%	-	Infiltr Ductal Ca	3
49	42	+?	ND	-	30%	-	Infiltr Ductal Ca	ND
50	65	+	N1(1)	70%	-	-	Micropapiller Ca,	3
							multicentric	
51	80	+	N0	70%	20%	-	Infiltr Ductal Ca	2
52	50	+	N2(7)	-	-	-	Infiltr Ductal Ca (multifocal)	2
53	64	+	N1(3)	80%	45%	+1	Infiltr Ductal Ca	1

Table 5.8. Summary of breast cancer cases studied (continued)

PR: progesterone receptor; HER2: epidermal growth factor receptor; NR: Not reported;ND: Not done; N2: LNM present with grade 2; N0: no LNM; NC: No conclusion; +?: suspected positive; Hist Grade; histological grade

5.4. Investigation of VGSC Protein Expression in Other Cancers

The expression of VGSC α protein was analyzed in cancers of the stomach, urinary bladder, kidney and lung. Prostate cancer was used as a positive control. For each type of cancer, 3-4 cases were analyzed. Cases where VGSC α was expressed only at the non-tumoral (normal) regions of the section were not included in analysis. In stomach cancer, VGSC α protein was determined on the membrane and cytoplasm of tumor cells (Figure 5.13A). In high grade urothelial carcinoma the protein was localized on the membranes of tumor cells (Figure 5.13B). The tubular epithelium of a kidney cancer case was shown to express VGSC α protein (Figure 5.13C). In case of lung cancer, VGSC α immunoreactivity was observed in the cytoplasm of individual tumor cells dispersed within the tumor area (Figure 5.13D). The colon adenocarcinoma possessed the VGSC α both at the normal and

tumoral area (Figure 5.13E). Prostate cancer was immunoreactive to pan-VGSC α antibody on the apical membrane of epithelial cells facing the lumen (Figure 5.13E), that is consistent with previous findings (Diss *et al.*, 2005). Amongst the cases studied, metastasis was clinically evident in one of the lung cancer patients. Histopathological findings of VGSC α (+) cases in stomach, urothelial carcinoma, kidney and prostate cancers indicated poor prognosis, suggesting future metastasis in these patients. The results of VGSC α analysis in the stomach, urinary bladder kidney, lung, and prostate cancer are summarized in Table 5.9.



Figure 5.13. Investigation of VGSCα protein in different cancers. Stomach cancer (A), urinary bladder cancer (B), kidney cancer (C) lung cancer (D) and prostate cancer (E) and colon cancer (F). Arrows indicate VGSCα specific staining. Hematoxylene counterstaining is performed in (A), (B) and (F)

Tissue	n	VGSCa(+)	VGSCa (-)
Stomach cancer	4	1	3
Urinary bladder cancer	4	1	3
Kidney cancer	3	2	1

Table 5.9. Summary of the VGSCα investigation in different cancers

Lung cancer	4	3	1
Prostate cancer	3	2	1
Colon cancer	4	2	2

Table 5.9. Summary of the VGSC α investigation in different cancers (continued)

n: Total number of cases analyzed

5.5. Investigation of a Possible Role of Estrogen on VGSC Function During Metastasis of Breast Cancer Cells

Three different breast cancer cell lines MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-231 transfected with ER α (MDA-MB-231-ER α) and MCF-7 were used to analyze the possible effect of estrogen on VGSC function during metastasis. For this purpose, proliferation and motility of breast cancer cells were investigated using BrdU incorporation assay and wound heal motility assay, respectively. The assays were performed by exposing the cells to estrogen and/or TTX (VGSC blocker) for 72 hours.

5.5.1. Determination of Toxicity of BrdU, Estrogen and/or TTX on Breast Cancer Cells

The possible toxic effect of BrdU, estrogen and TTX was determined by Trypan blue exclusion assay after treating the cells with estrogen (10 nM or 100 nM) and/or 10 μ M TTX for 72 hours. During BrdU incorporation assay, breast cancer cells were treated with estrogen and/or TTX, in combination with 10 μ M BrdU. Our results showed the absence of toxic effect of estrogen and/or TTX when compared to non-treated controls (Figure 5.14). Treating the cells with BrdU did not affect the viability and/or proliferation rate of the cells either (Figure 5.15).



Figure 5.14. No toxic effect of estrogen and/or TTX was observed on MDA-MB-231,
MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231-ERα at 72 hours. Cont: control, 10E: 10 nM estrogen, 100E:
100 nM estrogen, 10ET: 10 nM Estrogen + TTX, 100ET: 100 nM estrogen



Figure 5.15. No Toxic effect of BrdU was observed on breast cancer cells

5.5.2 Analysis of the Effect of Estrogen and/or TTX on Motility of Breast Cancer Cells

The wound heal assay was performed using metastatic MDA-MB-231 cells that express functional VGSC but not ER, weakly metastatic MCF-7 cells that do not express functional VGSC but ER and MDA-MB-231-ERα. Minimally three individual experiments were performed where cells were treated with estrogen and/or 10 μ M TTX. Dosage sensitivity to estrogen was tested using 10 nM and 100 nM estrogen. Each treatment was performed in triplicates and non-treated cells were used as controls. The changes in motility upon treatments were based on visual measurements that may cause difficulties in determining the actual motility rate of the cells. The results may indicate that treatment with both 10 nM and 100 nM estrogen increased the motility of MDA-MB-231 cells (p<0,05) (Figure 5.16A and B, respectively). Treatment with estrogen together with TTX reversed the effect of estrogen, causing a decrease in the motility of the cells (p<0,001). Incubation with 10 μ M TTX alone, also decreased the motility (p<0,001). The results were consistent within each other throughout 72 hours both in 10 nM and 100 nM estrogen treatment groups (Figure 5.17A and B). The motility increased within time in each type of application. Cells treated with estrogen showed higher motility in time than those treated with TTX with/without estrogen. The phase contrast pictures of MDA-MB-231 cells are shown in Figure 5.18 where more cells are observed in estrogen treated sample (B) than in control (A). Whereas less number of cells was observed in samples exposed to TTX with/without estrogen (C and D, respectively) within the wound area.







Figure 5.16. Effect of 10 nM (A) and 100 nM (B) estrogen and/or TTX on motility of MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells (*: p<0,05; the rest p<0,001)









Figure 5.17. Change of motility of MDA-MB-231 cells upon 10 nM (A) and 100 nM (B) estrogen with/without TTX incubation during 72 hours



Figure 5.18. Phase-contrast pictures of MDA-MB-231 untreated cells (A), treated with estrogen (B), estrogen and TTX (C) and TTX (D) (100X magnification). Initial wound widths are indicated by black lines. Green color is from the permanent marker on the dish

Analysis of the motility of MCF-7 cells after incubation with estrogen and/or TTX has shown that estrogen may decrease motility of cells at both 10 nM and 100 nM

concentrations (Figure 5.19A and B, respectively). This effect is not significant for 10 nM concentration at T24. Treatment with 100 nM estrogen inhibited motility more than that observed with 10 nM estrogen. TTX alone and in combination with estrogen also decreased motility. The effects of estrogen and/or TTX were consistent where motility increased within 72 hours (Figure 5.20). The microscopic observation of cells upon treatment is shown in Figure 5.21 where fewer cells are observed within the wound area in samples exposed to estrogen alone estrogen and/or TTX.







Figure 5.19. Effect of incubation with 10 nM (A) and 100 nM (B) estrogen with/without TTX on motility of MCF-7 cells (*: p=0,07; **: p<0,05; the rest p<0,005)

Motility index was also analyzed for MDA-MB-231-ER α . The effect of estrogen on MDA-MB-231-ER α was different at short term and long term treatments. After 24 hour of

estrogen incubation (10 nM and 100 nM) motility decreased (Figure 5.22. However, an opposite effect of estrogen was observed at 48 and 72-hour incubation where motility was increased. The analysis at 48 and 72 hours indicated the threshold concentration of estrogen as 10 nM since higher concentrations of estrogen (100 nM) did not enhance the result. Incubation with TTX and estrogen decreased the motility at all times (p<0,005) reversing the effect of estrogen at 48 and 72 hours. TTX treatment inhibited motility at all times (p<0,005). Motility index of MDA-MB-231-ER α was consistent within each treatment where gradual increase in motility was observed during 72 hours (Figure 5.23). The microscopic observation of MDA-MB-231-ER α upon treatment is shown in Figure 5.24.



(A)



(B)

Figure 5.20. Change of motility of MCF-7 cells upon 10 nM (A) and 100 nM (B) estrogen with/without TTX incubation during 72 hours



Figure 5.21. MCF-7 cells that are untreated (A) (40X magnification), treated with estrogen (B), estrogen and TTX (C) and TTX alone (D) (100X magnification). Black lines indicate initial wound width



Figure 5.22. Effects of estrogen with/without TTX on motility of MDA-MB-231-ERα cells. *: p<0,05; **: p=0,08; rest p<0,005

The motility of MDA-MB-231, MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231-ER α was compared within each other at both 10 nM and 100 nM estrogen treatment groups. The highly metastatic MDA-MB-231 cells are the most motile ones amongst the other cell lines. The motility of MDA-MB-231 cells was highest at all times and in each type of treatment (Figure 5.25(A) and (B)). However, transfection of these cells with ER α has decreased the motility capacity dramatically, causing the cells to be less motile even than the weakly metastatic MCF-7 cells. Treating the breast cancer cells with estrogen caused different effects on each cell line. These effects may depend on the metastatic capacity and the ER content of the cells, where estrogen increased the motility of highly metastatic MDA-MB-231-ER α ,

short term effect of estrogen was a decrease but long term effect was an increase in the motility of cells. However, treatment with estrogen and TTX has reversed the effect of former in MDA-MB-231 with/without ER α but not in MCF-7 cells.



Figure 5.23. Change of motility of MDA-MB-231-ERα cells upon estrogen with/without TTX incubation during 72 hours



Figure 5.24. Pictures of MDA-MB-231-ERα untreated cells (A) and treated with estrogen (B), estrogen and TTX, (C) and TTX alone (D) (A and D, 4X objective, B and C 10X objective). Black lines represent initial wound width







Figure 5.25. Effects of estrogen with/without TTX on motility of MDA-MB-231, MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231-ERα cells using 10 nM estrogen (A) and 100 nM estrogen (B)

5.5.3. The Analysis of the Effect of Estrogen and/or TTX on Proliferation of Breast Cancer Cells

The proliferation rate of MDA-MB-231, MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231-ER α cell lines after 72-hour incubation with 10 mM or 100 mM estrogen and/or 10 μ M TTX was determined using the BrdU incorporation assay. Three individual experiments, in duplicates, were performed for each cell line. The results showed that neither estrogen nor TTX significantly modulates proliferation of the cells after 72 hour incubation (Figure

5.26) (p= 0,4-0,9). The absence of the effect of TTX on proliferation of MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 cells was previously reported (Fraser *et al.*, 2005) in agreement with our data.



Figure 5.26. Rate of proliferation of breast cancer cells in response to estrogen and/or TTX at 72 hours

5.6. Investigation of Possible Effect of Estrogen on nNa_v1.5 Protein Expression and Localization in Breast Cancer Cells

The possible effect of estrogen on $nNa_v1.5$ protein expression and location was analyzed on MDA-MB-231, MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231-ER α cell lines using immunocytochemistry. The staining intensity was quantified using Matlab 6.5 software. The cells were treated with 10 nM or 100 nM estrogen and/or 10 μ M TTX for 72 hours, fixed and used for immunocytochemistry.

5.6.1. Effect of Estrogen on nNav1.5 Protein Expression

The expression of $nNa_v1.5$ protein upon treatment with estrogen and TTX was analyzed using Matlab 6.5 software. For each type of treatment the pixels of approximately 100 cells were counted. In MDA-MB-231 cells estrogen caused no change in $nNa_v1.5$ protein level (p<0,5). Treating the cells with TTX alone or in combination with estrogen decreased the protein amount but the changes were not significant (p<0,5). The $nNa_v1.5$ expression in MCF-7 cells was quite low when compared to MDA-MB-231 cells, as expected (Figure 5.27).Treating the cells with estrogen and/or TTX had only minor changes in the protein level (p=0,2-0,7). In case of MDA-MB-231-ER α cells estrogen increased nNa_v1.5 expression as in non-transfected ones (p=0,5). Upon treatment using TTX with/without estrogen, no change in the protein amount was observed (p=0,4-0,7). The results are summarized in the bar chart shown in Figure 5.28.





Figure 5.27. The expression of nNav1.5 protein in MCF-7 (A-B) and MDA-MB-231 (C-D) cells. Blue colour of DAPI indicates the nuclei and green FITC is specific for nNav1.5



Figure 5.28. Changes in nNav1.5 protein expression with respect to estrogen and TTX

5.6.2. Effect of Estrogen on nNav1.5 Protein Localization

The change in the localization of $nNa_v1.5$ protein upon treating the cells with estrogen and TTX was analyzed in ~100 cells for each group. $nNa_v1.5$ protein was observed either in the cytoplasm, or plasma membrane or both. In untreated MDA-MB-231 cells, the protein was mostly expressed in the cytoplasm (59 per cent), some on the membrane (12 per cent) and some on the membrane and cytoplasm (29 per cent) (data not shown). Upon treating the cells with estrogen, $nNa_v1.5$ was transported to the membrane (36 per cent) significantly (p<0,05). When the cells were incubated with estrogen and TTX, cytoplasmic localization was again favored (55 per cent) reversing the effect of estrogen (p<0,05). TTX alone has also caused transport of the protein to the cytoplasm (p<0,05) (Figure 5.29). The results are summarized in bar charts in Figure 5.30.

MDA-MB-231-ER α cells were also tested for the regulation of nNa_v1.5 location upon estrogen and TTX treatment. Estrogen caused transport of the protein from the cytoplasm to the membrane. The significance of this effect was increased with increasing concentrations of estrogen (p<0,05 with 100 nM estrogen). The effect of estrogen was reversed with simultaneous incubation of cells with estrogen and TTX where protein was transported back to the cytoplasm (p<0,05). TTX alone has also caused increased cytoplasmic localization of $nNa_v 1.5$ protein (p<0,05) (Figure 5.33). The results are summarized in bar charts in Figure 5.34.



Figure 5.29. Localization of nNav1.5 protein in MDA-MB-231 control (A), and cells treated with estrogen (B), estrogen and TTX (C), TTX only (D). Arrows indicate cytoplasmic staining in A, C and D and membrane staining in B

MCF-7 cells shown to express very low amounts of $nNa_v1.5$ protein were also analyzed for the effect of estrogen and TTX on localization. The results showed that neither of the treatments affected the localization of $nNa_v1.5$ protein significantly (p=0,4-0,9) (Figure 5.31).



Figure 5.30. Localization of nNav1.5 protein in MDA-MB-231 cells









Figure 5.31. Localization of nNa_v1.5 protein in MCF-7control (A), and cells treated with estrogen (B), estrogen and TTX (C), TTX only (D)



Figure 5.32. Localization of nNav1.5 protein in MCF-7 cells



(A)

(B)







Figure 5.33. Localization of nNav1.5 protein in MDA-MB-231-ERa control (A), and cells treated with estrogen (B), estrogen and TTX (C), TTX only (D). The arrows indicate staining in cytoplasm and membrane (A), membrane (B) and cytoplasm in (C and D)



Figure 5.34. Localization of nNav1.5 protein in MDA-MB-231-ERa cells

6. **DISCUSSION**

This study aimed to further our understanding in the implication of $nNa_v1.5$ expression in breast cancer metastasis and to investigate the mechanism of $nNa_v1.5$ upregulation in the metastatic disease. The results of RT-PCR and immunohistochemistry showed that $nNa_v1.5$ expression was in parallel with breast cancer metastasis and ER expression only in a group of patients. Specific expression of $nNa_v1.5$ protein was observed in the metastatic disease where the protein was determined in normal breast at basal level amongst the normal tissues.

Analysis of the expression of VGSC α protein in non-excitable human tissues implicated the presence of the protein mostly in secretory cells of samples investigated. To elucidate whether VGSC α expression was a widespread mechanism in cancer metastasis we analyzed its expression in different cancer types. The preliminary results in a small number of patients may indicate possible contribution of VGSC α expression and cancers of stomach, colon, urinary bladder, kidney, and lung.

In this study, we also investigated the possible role of estrogen in upregulating $nNa_v1.5$ expression and modulating its function in metastatic breast cancer cells. We showed that estrogen had no effect on proliferation in all types of cell lines tested. However, it caused a slight increase in motility through $nNa_v1.5$ in highly metastatic cells that express the protein but had an opposite effect on weakly metastatic ones that do not express it. We also found that estrogen did not change the $nNa_v1.5$ protein level but increased the functionally available form on the plasma membrane in metastatic cells. These results suggest that estrogen may increase motility of breast cancer cells by acting through $nNa_v1.5$ and enabling its translocation to the plasma membrane where it is functional.

6.1. Breast Cancer Metastasis and nNa_v1.5 Expression

Breast cancer is the most common cancer among females and its metastasis is observed in 40 per cent of the cases, causing death (Weigelt *et al.*, 2005). In Turkey, breast cancer accounts for 24,1 per cent of the female cancer cases (http://www.saglik.gov.tr/ extras/istatistikler/ apk2001/092.htm). Currently used prognostic markers for breast cancer include, tumor size, histological grade, axillary lymph node metastasis, estrogen and progesterone receptors, and HER2 expression (Daidone *et al.*, 2004). However, these indirect markers are not sufficient for detection of microscopic metastasis that is present at initial diagnosis in a significant proportion of patients (20-40 per cent). Thus, clinicians require direct gene markers for early diagnosis of metastasis. None of the ongoing studies like microarray analysis and detection of microscopils in blood circulation (Bernards and Weinberg, 2002; Ring *et al.*, 2004) accomplished the requirements of a prognostic marker. These studies either could not be reproduced by independent researchers (Veer *et al.*, 2005) or were not prospective.

VGSC may be one of the potential early prognostic markers for breast cancer metastasis and was implicated in the basic metastatic steps of metastatic prostate (MatLy-Lu and PC3), breast cancer cells (MDA-MB-231) and small-cell lung carcinoma (Diss et al., 2001; Fraser et al., 2005; Onganer and Djamgoz, 2005). Preliminary results based upon 20 breast cancer patients have previously shown $nNa_v 1.5$ gene expression in metastatic human tissues and prior to metastasis (Fraser et al., 2005). Within the framework of this thesis, a double-blind study was performed in 45 patients to further our understanding in association of nNav1.5 gene expression and metastasis. The results of RT-PCR and immunohistochemistry showed that expression of nNav1.5 was in parallel with LNM only for 26/45 and 21/33 patients, respectively. Based on previous findings (Fraser et al., 2005), some patients that did not have clinically evident metastasis but expressed $nNa_v 1.5$ (19/45 and 12/33, in RT-PCR and immunohistochemistry, respectively) may have the likelihood to develop metastasis in the future. However, the prognosis of these patients should be followed to confirm this suggestion. In our *in vivo* study, nNav1.5 expression was determined in 93 and 94 per cent of the cases using RT-PCR and IHC, respectively. This finding is in consistence with presence of invasive tumors in breast cancer (90 per cent of all cases) that are likely to metastasize. On the other hand, we can not disregard the finding

that $nNa_v 1.5 mRNA$ and protein was detected in normal breast tissues. Further imaging analysis by our collaborators showed that the $nNa_v 1.5$ protein in normal breast was 1000 times less than that in cancer (Fraser S. P., personal communication). Based on our observation, the intensity of $nNa_v 1.5$ staining was very low and rare in epithelial cells of the normal tissue. We have shown by immunohistochemical analysis that expression was of epithelial origin excluding the possibility that it could have been expressed in fibroblasts and/or endothelial cells of the normal breast. The identity of the VGSC α subtype expressed both in normal and cancerous breast was determined to be $nNa_v 1.5$ in paraffin embedded sections of identical tissues. However, since the staining intensity of $nNa_v 1.5$ was less than that of VGSC α , we suggest simultaneous expression of other VGSC α subtypes.

Since availability of new breast cancer cases and normal tissues was restricted, immunohistochemical analysis could be performed only in a limited number of frozen tissue samples. In addition to this, immediate freezing procedure performed prior to sectioning led to fracturing of the sections, causing background staining and difficulties in obtaining specific immunoreactivity.

We have also investigated the relation between the location of nNa_v1.5 protein and LNM status in breast cancer cases. Since the protein is functional on the membrane detection of its expression on the membrane with/without cytoplasm in 14 of the 19 LNM (+) cases may indicate a parallel link with nNa_v1.5 expression and the LNM positivity. Absence of LNM in nNa_v1.5 positive cases, where nNa_v1.5 can be on the membrane or in the cytoplasm, can be expected since the protein is a strong candidate early marker for breast cancer metastasis; however these patients should be carefully followed clinically for providing further evidence that Nav is associated with metastasis.

6.2. Analysis of nNa_v1.5 and ER Expression

A major problem in breast cancer treatment is the management of the hormone therapy. Tamoxifen is a widely used anti-estrogen drug in treating breast cancer patients who express ER but with less benefit in patients with metastatic disease than in patients with primary tumors. However, a significant group of patients develop resistance to Tamoxifen where ER expression is either lost or protein becomes non-functional due to mutations (Ali and Coombes, 2000; 2002). Furthermore, estrogen is known to regulate VGSC expression in several tissues (Borg *et al.*, 2002; Smitherman and Sontheimer, 2001) through its receptors. We, therefore, investigated whether expression of $nNa_v1.5$ is in parallel with ER status, a widely used prognostic marker in breast cancer. The results showed that $nNa_v1.5$ gene and protein expression was in parallel with ER expression only in 23/36 patients and 27/38 patients, respectively.

Simultaneous expression of a possible marker for aggressive phenotype (nNa_v1.5) together with ER that is usually associated with good prognosis in about 60-70 per cent of our patients may be surprising, but the role of ER in breast cancer development is not well established. Although estrogens are potent mitogens for normal breast cells and extended exposure is a risk factor for development of cancer, some studies showed that presence of ER may decrease metastatic potential (Platet et al., 2004, Marsden and Backs, 1996). These findings suggest a protective role for $\text{ER}\alpha/\beta$ in tumor progression. Parallel results were obtained in in vitro studies where proliferation and invasion of breast cancer cell were decreased upon transient transfection of ER (Platet et al., 2000; Lazennec et al., 2001). Other *in vitro* studies also showed that majority of ER α/β expressing cells do not have increased proliferation rate (Zeps et al., 1999; Saji et al., 2000). However, contrasting results were also found where ER α/β expression caused high grade tumor formation and metastasis (Speirs et al., 1999a and b). In the light of the above findings and the implication of estrogen in control of VGSC activity our data suggests poor prognosis for patients that simultaneously express ER and $nNa_v 1.5$. On the other hand, we cannot exclude the possibility that ER can have a protective role for the patients that are positive for nNa_v1.5. In these patients different variants of ER α and ER β can be expressed and their ratio in tissues may vary that may affect the overall clinical prognosis.

6.3. Analysis of nNa_v1.5 and HER2 Expression

HER2 protein is well known to be associated with aggressive phenotype in breast cancer and is used as a prognostic marker for breast cancer metastasis. Since we propose
that $nNa_v 1.5$ expression could be a marker for poor prognosis, parallel expression of the two proteins was expected. However, 16 cases expressed both of the proteins but 18 cases expressed only $nNa_v 1.5$ protein (n=37). Investigation of $nNa_v 1.5$, HER2 and LNM in patients with available data, showed the absence of HER2 in six LNM (+) cases that were positive for $nNa_v 1.5$ (n=37) (Table 5.9). Thus, we suggest that $nNa_v 1.5$ could be expressed earlier than HER2 in the metastatic cascade. Disturbance of the homeostasis in the cells by $nNa_v 1.5$ activity, increases the Na^+ concentration that may affect gene expression, primarily that of HER2.

In our *in vivo* study, the age of the patients analyzed ranged from 24-88. Out of 44 patients that were over 50 years of age, 28 expressed both $nNa_v1.5$ and ER but had no evident metastasis. This is consistent with previous findings that state the expression of ER in elderly women with breast cancer (Sweeney *et al.*, 2004). Among the 22 patients that were above the age of 50, 12 had metastasis and expressed both $nNa_v1.5$ and ER. This finding may show that the disease progresses with age. However, seven patients (n=12) who developed metastasis and express $nNa_v1.5$ and HER2 are relatively young (30-50). This is consistent with the literature that states aggressive breast cancer in young women (Sweeney *et al.*, 2004).

6.4. Possible Involvement of nNa_v1.5 in Angiogenesis

Angiogenesis is one of the critical and rate-limiting steps of metastasis that provides the tumor its essential needs to grow and disseminate. Previous studies have shown the expression of Na_v1.5 in human saphenous vein cells (HSVECs) (Gosling *et al.*, 1998) and emerging knowledge is increasing in the field. Recent *in vitro* studies have shown the expression of functional VGSC α in human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) cells that functions in angiogenesis (Djamgoz, unpublished data). We have also determined VGSC α expression in endothelial cells of both normal and cancerous breast tissues, consistent with these findings. Our data together with that of Fraser *et al.*, (2005) indicate the possible contribution of nNa_v1.5 in various steps of metastasis including motility, invasion and secretion. Determination of nNa_v1.5 protein expression in endothelial cells of breast cancer but not of normal breast tissues may indicate possible involvement of the protein in angiogenesis. The staining intensity of $nNa_v 1.5$ was lower than that of VGSC α in identical cases proposing the expression of other VGSC α subtypes apart from $nNa_v 1.5$. VGSCs are known to be regulated by growth factors e.g NGF and FGF that are known to be involved in angiogenesis (Toledo-Aral *et al.*, 1995; Liu *et al.*, 2003; Mosesson, 2005). The major angiogenesis growth factor vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and/or NGF and FGF may regulate expression and function of VGSC in endothelial cells of cancer cells. However, further analysis should be performed to confirm this statement.

6.5. Expression of VGSCα and nNa_v1.5 Proteins in Normal Human Tissues

The expression of VGSC α protein in excitable tissues like muscle and brain is well known. Several studies have identified presence of VGSC α in glia (Chiu *et al.*, 1984), osteoblasts (Black and Waxman, 1996), fibroblasts (Bakhramov et al., 1995), endothelial cells (Walsh et al., 1998; Gosling et al., 1998) spermatogonia, spermatocytes, granular cells, syncytiotrophoblasts, goblet cells (Ogata et al., 2000), jejunal circular smooth muscle (Ou et al., 2002) and lymphocytes (Fraser et al., 2004). However, most of these studies used electrophysiology or RNA based techniques and did not show the protein expression. In this study, we analyzed the expression of VGSC α protein in small intestine, colon, stomach, esophagus, prostate, breast and urinary bladder where muscle and brain were used as positive controls. Our results showed that VGSC α was present in all of the tissues above, except urinary bladder that posed background staining due to extensive fixation of the tissue. The cells expressing the protein mostly had secretory functions, confirming the results of Mycielska et al., (2003) that proposed VGSC α activity during secretion. Expression of VGSC α in endothelial cells of breast tissue is also in concordance with previous findings (Walsh et al., 1998; Gosling et al., 1998; Traub et al., 1999) where VGSC α was suggested to function in shear-stress mediated Erk1/2 inhibition in endothelial cells.

Analysis of $nNa_v 1.5$ distribution in normal human tissues is of great importance since it would give us information about the specificity of its expression in metastatic breast cancer. In this respect, $nNa_v 1.5$ protein expression was investigated in muscle, brain, small intestine, colon, stomach, esophagus, prostate and urinary bladder. The results showed the absence of the protein in all of the tissues tested except normal breast where $nNa_v 1.5$ protein was expressed 1000x less than that of metastatic breast.

6.6. Possible Involvement of VGSCα Protein Expression in Different Types of Cancers

There is increasing evidence for the involvement of ion channels in cancer development and progression. Amongst these, VGSC α was shown to contribute metastasis of prostate, breast cancer and SCLC (Diss et al., 2001; Abdul and Hoosein, 2002; Fraser et al., 2005; Roger et al., 2003; Onganer and Djamgoz, 2005). To test whether VGSCa expression was a widespread mechanism in metastasis, cancers of stomach, urinary bladder, kidney, and lung were investigated in a limited number of patients. One of the VGSC α (+) lung cancer cases had metastasis at the time of diagnosis. On the other hand, the pathology reports of cases with VGSC α (+) expression in stomach, urothelial and kidney cancer indicated the presence of histopathologically poorly differentiated tumors (Grade 3) that are likely to metastasize. In case of prostate cancer, one of the VGSC α (+) cases had wide perineural and capsule invasion with Glison score 7. These histopathological findings indicate the possibility of future metastasis in this patient. However, pathology reports were not available for any of the colon cancer patients that were immunoreactive to pan-VGSC antibody. Since VGSC α was also expressed in normal stomach and colon (but less than that in cancer), only if the VGSC α expression was at the tumoral area of the cancer tissues, the sample was accepted to be VGSC α (+). In addition to this, absence of VGSC α protein in kidney and minimal expression in lung of adult normal mice was shown in previous studies (Chioni et al., 2005). Our results may indicate upregulation of VGSC α in the cancer types studied. Analysis of the pathology reports of the cases studied showed absence of metastasis in VGSC α (-) cases as well as presence of high grade tumors in VGSC α (+) cases. This finding may indicate the possibility of VGSC α protein expression being in parallel with metastasis. However, a detailed imaging analysis should be performed and higher number of cases should be analyzed to confirm this suggestion.

6.7. Role of Estrogen on nNav1.5 Function During Metastasis of Breast Cancer Cells

Our findings indicate the upregulation of $nNa_v 1.5$ in metastatic breast cancer. Since estrogen is well known to act on breast cancer development and regulate VGSC activity we analyzed the possible effect of estrogen on VGSC function in motility and proliferation that are basic steps of metastasis.

The motility was investigated using wound heal assay on three breast cancer cell lines: strongly metastatic MDA-MB-231 cells that express functional VGSC but not ER, MDA-MB-231-ER α and weakly metastatic MCF-7 cells that do not express functional VGSC but ER. The results showed that estrogen increased the motility of MDA-MB-231 cells slightly (p<0.05). However, simultaneous treatment of the cells with estrogen and TTX reversed the effect of estrogen and decreased the motility significantly (p < 0.001). Depending on these findings we suggest that estrogen may increase the motility of these cells that lack ER through nNav1.5. On the other hand, presence of recently identified membrane bound receptors that bind estrogen (e.g. GPCR) can explain its effect in an ER (-) cell line (Filardo, 2002; Revankar et al., 2005; Thomas et al., 2005). GPR30, a GPCR family member, has been shown to bind estrogen in MDA-MB-231 cells and its effect was abolished with the use of GPR30 siRNA and a GPCR blocker, pertussis toxin (Thomas et al., 2005; Le Mallay et al., 1997; Filardo, 2002). In another study use of an EGFR blocker was shown to abolish estrogen induced motility and morphology of MDA-MB-231 cells. Thus, it has been suggested that binding of estrogen to GPCR causes release of EGF that binds and activates EGFR (Azios and and Dharmawardhane, 2005). In the light of these findings, we suggest that estrogen may exert its effect on motility of breast cancer cells through both genomic and non-genomic pathway via GPCR and EGFR (Figure 6.1). Since TTX reversed its effect, we suggest that estrogen could be upstream of VGSC α in the signal transduction pathway. These results can be confirmed with further analysis involving the use of inhibitors against GPCR, EGFR, and VGSCa.

The VGSC α blocker TTX, alone decreased the motility of MDA-MB-231 cells (p<0,001) as expected and consistent with previous findings (Fraser *et al.*, 2005).

Availability of ER (-) MDA-MB-231 cells transfected with ER α has enabled us to see the effect of ER α on motility and its relation with VGSC α . When motility index was compared for non-treated controls of MDA-MB-231 transfected/non-transfected with ERa a ligand independent decrease was observed. However, the significance of motility index change decreased in time (T24: p<0,01; T48: p<0,05; T72: p<0,5) (Figure 5.26A). Treating the transfected cells with estrogen initially (T24) decreased the motility significantly (p<0.005). We propose that the short term effect of estrogen could be due to the protective role of ER α in these cells that is also observed in clinics. Long term estrogen incubation, however, abolished this effect and motility was increased at T48 and T72 (p<0.005) as in the case of MDA-MB-231 cells. This long term effect of estrogen could be in parallel with our in vivo data that indicated poor prognosis in the patients that express both nNav1.5 and ER and may be consistent with clinical findings where ER (+) patients who receive long term anti-estrogen therapy become unresponsive after some time. The insensitivity to hormones was suggested to be due to the loss of ER expression that could be caused by methylation of the ER promoter, mutations in the ER gene or loss of transcriptional activators (Hayashi et al., 2003).

Treating the MDA-MB-231-ER α cells with TTX alone decreased the motility at all times, as expected. Simultaneous treatment of estrogen and TTX also decreased the motility significantly (p<0,005). This result indicates the possibility that estrogen may act through nNa_v1.5 in increasing motility of the cells.

MCF-7 cells that express both ER α and ER β are weakly metastatic. Treatment of these cells with estrogen has decreased the motility slightly at all times. We propose that estrogen may act through nuclear ERs, via genomic pathway and may have a protective effect in a weakly metastatic cell. These results are in consistence with previous studies that has showed decrease in proliferation and motility after treatment with estrogen in cells that express ER (Platet *et al.*, 2004; Lazennec *et al.*, 2001). The negative effect of estrogen on motility of these cells suggests the presence of a different gene expression profile that confers resistance to nNav1.5 upregulation. The basal level of VGSC α was blocked with TTX alone and in combination with estrogen, thus decreasing the motility significantly.

The results of wound heal motility assay was based upon visual measurements using inverted microscope. Therefore errors caused by the experimenter and culture conditions may affect the results. Use of Transwell chambers to determine the motility capacity of cells could give more accurate results by avoiding visual measurements.

BrdU incorporation assay results showed that estrogen had no effect on proliferation rate of none of the breast cancer cells used in this study, either alone or via acting through $nNa_v1.5$. *In vitro* studies supporting our findings show that in majority of $ER\alpha/\beta$ expressing cells proliferation rate was not increased (Zeps *et al.*, 1999; Saji *et al.*, 2000). Since the rate proliferation was stable in our cells, the motility changes that were observed in wound heal motility assay was probably not due to increase in the number of cells.

6.8. Role of Estrogen on nNa_v1.5 Expression and Localization in Breast Cancer Cells

Since estrogen may modulate $nNa_v 1.5$ function during motility of breast cancer cells, we tested whether estrogen achieves this through regulating expression and/or localization of the protein. Using immunocytochemistry and Matlab 6.5 software, we analyzed the changes in the $nNa_v 1.5$ expression level and localization upon treatment with estrogen and/or TTX. The results showed that neither estrogen nor TTX affected the quantity of $nNa_v 1.5$ protein significantly in the cell lines tested. However, there was a significant difference between $nNa_v 1.5$ expression level in MDA-MB-231 and MCF-7 cells. This result was expected since MCF-7 cells are weakly metastatic and express $nNa_v 1.5$ only minimally.

Although the total protein level was not modified, localization of $nNa_v1.5$ was determined to vary upon estrogen treatment in MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-231-ER α but not in MCF-7 cells. Incubation of highly metastatic cells with estrogen increased the availability of $nNa_v1.5$ on the plasma membrane, that may indicate the transport of the protein from the cytoplasm to its functional location (p<0,05). TTX alone caused clustering of the protein mostly in cytoplasm significantly (p<0,05). This result is consistent with previous findings in prostate cancer where TTX was shown not to affect

the overall VGSC α protein expression but cause translocation to the cytoplasm (Brackenbury and Djamgoz, 2006). Our results may indicate that application of both estrogen and TTX at the same time localized the protein mostly in the cytoplasm (p<0,05). These results indicate that estrogen may modulate the level of functionally available form of nNa_v1.5 protein in breast cancer cells. However, more sensitive methods like confocal microscopy should be used to confirm these results.

6.9. The Mechanism of Estrogen Action on nNav1.5 Protein

The mechanism of estrogen modulating $nNa_v1.5$ protein in metastatic breast cancer may be both through genomic or non-genomic pathway that is summarized in Figure 6.1. The genomic pathway can be both GPCR and ER-mediated. Upon estrogen binding, GPCR activates PKA that can phosphorylate pCREB. pCREB binds CRE altering transcription of genes that may affect functional availability of $nNa_v1.5$. GPCR activation via estrogen activates PI3K by stimulating the binding of its regulatory subunit (p85 α). This in turn stimulates Akt that increases VGSC activity and mRNA (Djamgoz, 2004). In case of ER mediated pathway estrogen directly diffuses into the cell and binds its nuclear receptor causing transcriptional regulation of ERE harboring genes.

In the non-genomic pathway, binding of estrogen to its membrane receptor (GPCR) can activate PLC either by estrogen bound to GPCR or EGFR. This causes Adenylyl cyclase (AC) activation through PKC. AC then phosphorylates PKA. Phosphorylation of VGSC via PKA is suggested to affect the localization of the channel on the plasma membrane and increase its activity in prostate cancer cells (Brackenbury and Djamgoz, 2006). In return VGSC activates PKA, forming a positive feedback mechanism. In an alternative non-genomic pathway, Grb2 mediated binding of PKA to EGFR causes activation of VGSC.

In vitro analysis of breast cancer cells may indicate the role of estrogen in modulating nNa_v1.5 function and its availability. In highly metastatic cancer cells estrogen increased the motility of the cells slightly probably by increasing their functional form. This finding may be in parallel with our *in vivo* study where some patients simultaneously expressed

 $nNa_v 1.5$ and ER. We propose that estrogen may achieve this role via PKA or PI3K through genomic and non-genomic pathways. Use of PKA and PI3K inhibitors can test this hypothesis. Also the presence of non-genomic pathway in MDA-MB-231 cells can be tested by using blockers of GPCR and EGFR.



Figure 6.1. Signal transduction pathway proposed to involve estrogen regulating VGSC

CONCLUSION

Our results have provided more support for a role of $nNa_v1.5$ in breast cancer metastasis. A high number of cases that present $nNa_v1.5(+)/LNM(-)$ should be followed clinically with caution to further support our data. However $nNa_v1.5$ is a strong candidate as an early prognostic marker for breast cancer. Drug development is promising since the amino acids that differ in adult and neonatal forms of the protein are located on the extracellular loop. Use of drugs specific to $nNa_v1.5$ is suggested to cause minimum side effects because expression of this protein is specific to metastatic breast cancer and is expressed minimally only in normal breast. We suggest that $nNa_v1.5$ may be a direct, reliable and early marker saving patients from metastasis thus increasing their quality of life. What is more, use of a specific drug could decrease the need for expensive chemotherapy. However, more research needs to be done to verify use of it as a prognostic marker, its role in breast cancer metastasis and enlighten its mechanism of action in the cells.

APPENDIX A: EXAMPLES OF PROTEIN QUANTIFICATION IN BREAST CANCER CELLS USING MATLAB 6.5 SOFTWARE

MDA-MB-231-	No	Total	Total-	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
<u>FILE NAME</u>	Colle	Coll niv	Page	Div	Div	Div	Div	Div	Div	Div	Div
rezicc2.407.a.JPG	4	1824	273504	357	263	452	752	11X	117	1 1A	1 1
rezicc2.409.a.JPG	2	3517	275872	2216	1301						
rezicc2.408.a.JPG	7	3210	275872	1020	376	262	278	368	801	105	
rezicc2.411.a.JPG	3	1484	279774	508	524	452					
rezicc2.412.a.JPG	8	2019	277648	538	97	599	111	112	281	147	134
rezicc2.413.a.JPG	1	1663	274008	1663							
rezicc2.414.a.JPG	3	1165	275872	172	48	945					
rezicc2.415.a.JPG	2	734	275872	404	330						
rezicc2.416.a.JPG	2	1464	275872	462	1002						
rezicc2.417.a.JPG	3	1651	275872	484	836	331					
Total no of cells	35		Total no of Pixels		18731			Average		535.2	

A.1. nNav1.5 Quantification in MDA-MB-231 Cells

MCF-7-FILE NAME	No	Total	Total- Page	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
	Cells	Cell- nix	Pixel	Pix	Pix	Pix	Pix	Pix	Pix	Pix	Pix	Pix	Pix	Pix
rezicc2.592.a.JPG	7	682	274688	104	98	83	89	96	117	95				
rezicc2.593.a.JPG	11	737	266304	30	86	35	184	94	114	79	16	34	46	19
rezicc2.594.a.JPG	6	563	268584	142	90	40	66	76	149					
rezicc2.595.a.JPG	3	1310	270351	488	367	455								
rezicc2.596.a.JPG	7	965	271728	52	173	43	40	489	101	67				
Total no of cells	34		Total no		4257			Average		125.2				
Total no or cens			of Pixels		-201			age		120.2				

A.2. nNav1.5 Quantification in MCF-7 Cells

MDA-MB-ERa- FILE NAME	No	Total	Total- Page	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
	Cells	Cell- pix	Pixel	Pix	Pix	Pix	Pix	Pix	Pix	Pix	Pix
rezicc2.482.a.JPG	1	668	197944	668							
rezicc2.483.a.JPG	1	1206	271656	1206							
rezicc2.484.a.JPG	1	886	273504	886							
rezicc2.485.a.JPG	1	770	275872	770							
rezicc2.486.a.JPG	1	329	273504	329							
rezicc2.487.a.JPG	2	482	271656	339	152						
rezicc2.488.a.JPG	1	1636	271656	1636							
rezicc2.489.a.JPG	1	913	273633	913							
rezicc2.491.a.JPG	8	5214	273042	390	1759	512	663	328	872	297	383
rezicc2.492.a.JPG	2	2201	275872	626	1575						
Total no of cells	19		Total no of Pixels		14304			Avarage		752.8	

A.3. $nNa_v 1.5$ Quantification in MDA-MB-231-ER α Cells

REFERENCES

- Abdul, M, N. Hoosein, 2002, "Voltage-Gated Potassium Ion Channels in Colon Cancer", Oncology Reports, Vol.;9(5), pp. 961-964.
- Abdul, M. and N. Hoosein, 2002b, "Expression and Activity of Potassium Ion Channels in Human Prostate Cancer", *Cancer Letters*, Vol. 186, pp. 99-105.
- Abdul, M., A. Santo and N. Hoosein, 2003, "Activity of Potassium Channel-Blockers in Breast Cancer", Anti Cancer Research, Vol. 23, pp. 3347-3351.
- Akopian, A. N., L. Sivilotti and J. N. Wood, 1996, "A Tetrodotoxin-Resistant Sodium Channel Expressed by C-Fibre-Associated Sensory Neurons", *Nature*, Vol. 379, pp. 257-262.
- Ali, S. and R. C. Coombes, 2002, "Endocrine-Responsive Breast Cancer and Strategies for Combating Resistance", *Nature Reviews Cancer*, Vol. 2, pp. 101-112.
- Anderson, T. J., D. J.Ferguson and G. M. Raab, 1982, "Cell Turnover in the "Resting" Human Breast: Influence of Parity, Contraceptive Pill, Age and Laterality" *British Journal of Cancer*, Vol. 46, pp. 376-382.
- Anderson, T. J., J. Lamb, P. Donnan, F. E. Alexander, A. Huggins, B. B. Muir, A. E Kirkpatrick, U. Chetty, W. Hepburn and A. Smith, 1991, "Comparative Pathology of Breast Cancer in a Randomized Trial of Screening", *British Journal of Cancer*, Vol. 64, pp. 108-113.
- Antoniou, A., P. D. Pharoah, S. Narod, H. A. Risch, J. E. Eyfjord, J. L. N. Hopper, Loman,H. Olsson, O. Johannsson and A. Borg, 2003, "Average Risks of Breast and OvarianCancer Associated with BRCA1 or BRCA2 Mutations Detected in Case Series

Unselected For Family History: A Combined Analysis of 22 Studies", *American Journal of Human Genetics*, Vol. 72, pp. 1117-1130.

- Ashok, R. V., 2000, "Cancer Susceptibility and the Functions of BRCA 1 and BRCA 2", *Cell*, Vol. 108, pp. 171-182.
- Audy, M.C., P. Vacher and B. Dully, 1996, "17 Estradiol Stimulates a Rapid Ca Influx in LnCap Human Prostate Cancer Cells", *European Journal of Endocrinology*, Vol. 135, pp. 367-373.
- Avila, G., E. Monjaraz, J. L. Espinosa and G. Cota, 2003, "Downregulation of Voltagegated Sodium Channels by Dexamethasone in Clonal Rat Pituitary Cells", *Neuroscience Letters*, Vol. 339, pp. 21-24.
- Azios, N. G. and S. F. Dharmawardhane, 2005, "Resveratrol and Estradiol Exert Disparate Effects on Cell Migration, Cell Surface Actin Structures, and Focal Adhesion Assembly in MDA-MB-231 Human Breast Cancer Cells", *Neoplasia*, Vol. 7, pp. 128-140.
- Bachman, K. E., J. G. Herman, P. G. Corn, A. Merlo, J. F. Costello, W. K. Cavenee and S.
 B. Baylin, 1999, "Methylation-Associated Silencing of the Tissue Inhibitor of Metalloproteinase-3 Gene Suggest A Suppressor Role in Kidney, Brain, and other Human Cancers", *Cancer Research*, Vol. 59, pp. 798-802.
- Bakhramov, A., Y. K. Boriskin, J. C. Booth and T. B. Bolton, 1995, "Activation and Deactivation of Membrane Currents in Human Fibroblasts Following Infection with Human Cytomegalovirus", *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, Vol. 1265, pp. 143-151.
- Bartsch, H., J. Nair and R. W. Owen, 1999, "Dietary Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids and Cancers of the Breast and Colorectum: Emerging Evidence for Their Role as Risk Modifiers", *Carcinogenesis*, Vol. 20, pp. 2209-2218.

- Barwe, S. P., G. Anilkumar, S. Y. Moon, Y. Zheng, J. P. Whitelegge, S. A. Rajasekaran and A. K. Rajasekaran, 2005, "Novel Role for Na,K-ATPase in Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase Signaling and Suppression of Cell Motility", *Molecular Biology of the Cell*, Vol. 16, pp. 1082-1094.
- Beatson, G. T., 1896, "On the Treatment of Inoperable Cases of Carcinoma of the Mamma: Suggestions for a New Method of Treatment with Illustrative Cases", *Lancet*, Vol. 2, pp. 104-107.
- Behrens, J., M. M. Mareel, F. M. Van Roy and W. Birchmeier, 1989, "Dissecting Tumor Cell Invasion: Epithelial Cells Acquire Invasive Properties After the Loss of Uvomorulin-Mediated Cell-Cell Adhesion", *The Journal of Cell Biology*, Vol. 108, pp. 2435-2447.
- Belcher, S. M., C. A. Zerillo, R. Levenson, J. M. Ritchie and J. R. Howe, 1995, "Cloning of a Sodium-Channel Alpha-Subunit from Rabbit Schwann-Cells", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, Vol. 92, pp. 11034-11038.
- Bell, D. W., J. M. Varley, T. E. Szydlo, D. H. Kang, D. C. Wahrer, K. E. Shanonon, M. Lubratovich, S. J. Verselis, K. J. Isselbacher, J. F. Fraumeni, J. M. Birch, F. P. I. Li, J. E. Garber and D. A. Haber, 1999, "Heterozygous Germline hCHCK2 Mutations in Li-Fraumeni Syndrome", *Science*, Vol. 286, pp. 2528-2531.
- Benkusky, N. A., V. P. Korovkina, A. M. Brainard and S. K. England, 2002, "Myometrial Maxi-K Channel Beta1 Subunit Modulation During Pregnancy and After 17beta-Estradiol Stimulation", *FEBS Letters*, Vol. 524, pp. 97-102.
- Bennett, E. S., 2002, "Isoform-Specific Effects of Sialic Acid on Voltage-Dependent Na⁺ Channel Gating: Functional Sialic Acids are Localized to the S5-S6 Loop of Domain I", *Journal of Physiology*, Vol. 538, pp. 675-690.

- Bennett, E., M. S. Urcan, S. S. Tinkle, A. G. Koszowski and S. R. Levinson, 1997, "Contribution of Sialic Acid to the Voltage Dependence of Sodium Channel Gating: A Possible Electrostatic Mechanism", *The Journal of General Physiology*, Vol. 109, pp. 327-343.
- Bernards, R. and R. A. Weinberg, 2002, "A Progression Puzzle", *Nature*, Vol. 418, pp. 823.
- Beroud, C. and T. Soussi, 1998, "p53 Gene Mutation: Software and Database", *Nucleic Acids Research*, Vol. 26, pp. 200-204.
- Beroud, C. and T. Soussi, 2003, "The UMD-P53 Database: New Mutations and Analysis Tools", *Human Mutation*, Vol. 21, pp. 176-181.
- Berry, D. A., G. Parmigiani, J. Sanchez, J. Schildkraut and E. Winer, 1997, "Probability of Carrying a Mutation of Breast-Ovarian Cancer Gene BRCA1 Based on Family History", *Journal of National Cancer Institute*, Vol. 89, pp. 227-238.
- Black, J. A. and S. G. Waxman, 1996, "Sodium Channel Expression: A Dynamic Process in Neurons and Non-Neuronal Cells", *Developmental Neuroscience*, Vol. 18, pp. 139-152.
- Black, J. A., K. Langworthy, A. W. Hinson, S. D. Dib-Haji and S. G. Waxman, 1997, "NGF has Opposing Effects on Na+ Channel and SNS Gene Expression in Spinal Sensory Neurons", *Neuroreport*", Vol. 8, pp. 2331-2335.
- Bloom, H. J. G. and W. W. Richardson, 1957, "Histological Grading and Prognosis in Breast Cancer", *British Journal of Cancer*, Vol. 11, pp. 359-377.
- Boehmer, C., V. Wilhelm, M. Palmada, S. Wallisch, G. Henke, H. Brinkmeier, P. Cohen,
 B. Pieske and F. Lang, 2003, "Serum and Glucocorticoid Inducible Kinases in the
 Regulation of the Cardiac Sodium Channel SCN5A", *Cardiovascular Research*, Vol. 57, pp. 1079-1084.

- Bogenrieder, T. and M. Herlyn, 2003, "Axis of Evil: Molecular Mechanisms of Cancer Metastasis", Oncogene, Vol. 22, pp. 6524-6536.
- Boiko, T., M. N. Rasband, S. R. Levinson, J. H. Caldwell, G. Mandel, J. S. Trimmer and G. Matthews, 2001, "Compact Myelin Dictates the Differential Targeting of Two Sodium Channel Isoforms in the Same Axon", *Neuron*, Vol. 30, pp. 91-104.
- Borg, J. J., K. H. Yuill, J. C. Hancox, I. C. Spencer and R. Z. Kozlowski, 2002, "Inhibitory Effects of the Antiestrogen Agent Clomiphene on Cardiac Sarcolemmal Anionic and Cationic Currents", *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, Vol. 303, pp. 282-292.
- Brackenbury, W. J. and M. B. A Djamgoz, 2006, "Activity-Dependent Regulation of Voltage-Gated Na⁺ Channel Expression in Mat-LyLu Rat Prostate Cancer Cell Line", *Journal of Physiology*, (Epub ahead of print).
- Brand, H, M. Kos, S. Denger, G. Flouriot, J. Gromoll, F. Gannon and G. A. Reid, 2002, "Novel Promoter is Involved in the Expression of Estrogen Receptor Alpha in Human Testis and Epididymis", *Endocrinology*, Vol. 143, pp. 3397-3404.
- Braun, S., B. S. Cevatli, C. Assemi, W. Janni, C.R. Kentenich, C. Schindlbeck and D. R. F. Hepp, 2001, "Comparative Analysis of Micrometastasis to the Bone Marrow and Lymph Nodes of Node-Negative Breast Cancer Patients Receiving No Adjuvant Therapy", *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, Vol. 19, pp. 1468-1475.
- Brinton, R. D., J. Tran, P. Proffitt and M. Montoya, 1997, "17 Beta Estradiol Enhances the Outgrowth and Survival of Neocortical Neurons in Culture", *Neurochemical Research*, Vol. 22, pp. 1339-1351.
- Brinton, R. D., S. Chen, M. Montoya, D. Hsieh and J. Minaya, 2000, "The Estrogen Replacement Therapy of the Women's Health Initiative Promotes the Cellular Mechanisms of Memory and Neuronal Survival in Neurons Vulnerable to Alzheimer's Disease", *Maturitas*, Vol. 35, pp. 35-52.

- Budhu, A. S., B. Zipser, M. Forgues, Q. H. Ye, Z. Sun and X. W. Wang, 2005, "The Molecular Signature of Metastases of Human Hepatocellular Carcinoma", *Oncology*, Vol. 1, pp. 23-27.
- Caldwell, J. H., 2000, "Clustering of Sodium Channels at the Neuromuscular Junction", *Microscopy Research and Technique*, Vol. 49, pp. 84-89.
- Camacho, J., A. Sanchez, W. Stuhmer and L. A. Pardo, 2000, "Cytoskeletal Interactions Determine the Electrophysiological Properties of Human EAG Potassium Channels", *Pflügers Archive*, Vol. 441, pp. 167-174.
- Cantor, S. B., D. W. Bell, S. Ganesan, E. M. Kass, R. Drapkin, S. Grossman, D. C. Wahrer,
 D. C. Sgroi, W. S. Laner, D. A. Haber and D. M. Livingston, 2001, "BACH1, a Novel Helicase-Like Protein, Interacts Directly with BRCA1 and Contributes to its DNA Repair Function", *Cell*, Vol. 105, pp. 149-160.
- Cantrell, A. R. and W. A. Catterall, 2001, "Neuromodulation of Na⁺ Channels: An Unexpected Form of Cellular Plasticity", *Nature Review Neurosciences*, Vol. 2, 397-407.
- Cantrell, A. R., V. C. Tibbs, F. H. Yu, B. J. Murphy, E. M. Sharp, Y. Qu, W. A. Catterall, and T. Scheuer, 2002, "Molecular Mechanism of Convergent Regulation of Brain Na(+) Channels by Protein Kinase C and Protein Kinase A Anchored to AKAP-15, *Molecular and Cellular Neurosciences*, Vol. 21, pp. 63-80.
- Carlier, E., B. Dargent, M. De Waard and F. Couraud, 2000, "Na(+) Channel Regulation by Calmodulin Kinase II in Rat Cerebellar Granule Cells", *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, Vol. 274, pp. 394-399.
- Carrer, H. F., A. Araque and W. Buno, 2003, "Estradiol Regulates the Slow Ca2(+)-Activated K(+) Current in Hippocampal Pyramidal Neurons", *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, Vol. 23, pp. 6338-6344.

- Carter, C. L., D. K. Corle, M. S. Micozzi, A. Schatzkin and P. R. Taylor, 1988 "A Prospective Study of the Development of Breast Cancer in 16692 Women with Benign Breast Disease", *American Journal of Epidemiology*, Vol. 128, pp. 467-477.
- Chahine, M., R. Ziane, K. Vijayaragavan and Y. Okamura, 2005, "Regulation of Nav Channels in Sensory Neurons", *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, Vol. 26, pp. 496-502.
- Chan, B. M., N. Matsuura, Y. Takada, B. R. Zetter and M. E. Hemler, 1991, "In vitro and in vivo Consequences of VLA-2 Expression on Rhabdomyosarcoma Cells", Science, Vol. 251, pp. 1600-1602.
- CHECK2 Breast Cancer Case-Control Consortium 2004, "CHECK2*1100delC and Susceptibility to Breast Cancer: A Collaborative Analysis Involving 10,680 Breast Cancer Cases and 9065 Controls from 10 Studies", *American Journal of Human Genetics*, Vol. 74, pp. 1175-1182.
- Chen, J. Q., R. G. Contreras, R. Wang, S. V. Fernandez, L. Shoshani, I. H. Russo, M. Cereijido and J. Russo, 2006, "Sodium/Potasium ATPase (Na(+), K (+)-Atpase) and Ouabain/Related Cardiac Glycosides: A New Paradigm for Development of Anti-Breast Cancer Drugs?", *Breast Cancer Research Treatment*, Vol. 96, pp. 1-15.
- Chioni, A. M., S. P. Fraser, F. Pani, P. Foran, G. P. Wilkin, J. K. Diss and M. B. Djamgoz, 2005, "A Novel Polyclonal Antibody Specific for the Na(v)1.5 Voltage-Gated Na(+) Channel 'Neonatal' Splice Form", *The Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, Vol. 147, pp. 88-98.
- Chiu, S. Y., P. Schrager and J. M. Ritchie, 1984, "Neuronal-Type Na⁺ and K⁺ Channels in Rabbit Cultured Schwann Cells", *Nature*, Vol. 311, pp. 156–157.
- Chung, Y. H., C. M. Shin, M. J. Kim and C. I. Cha, 2000, "Immunohistochemical Study on the Distribution of the Type I and Type II Voltage-Gated Sodium Channels in the Gerbil Cerebellum", *Neuroscience Letters*, Vol. 293, pp. 25-28.

- Cohen, S. A., 1996, "Immunocytochemical Localization of rH1 Sodium Channel in Adult Rat Heart Atria and Ventricle. Presence in Terminal intercalated Disks", *Circulation*, Vol. 94, pp. 3083-3086.
- Coiret, G., F. Matifat, F. Hague and H. Ouadid-Ahidouch, 2005, "17-Beta-Estradiol Activates Maxi-K Channels Through a Non-Genomic Pathway in Human Breast Cancer Cells", *FEBS Letters*, Vol. 579, pp. 2995-3000.
- Contreras, R. G., A. Lazaro, J. J. Bolivar, Flores, C. Maldonado, S. H. Sanchez, L. Gonzalez-Mariscal, M. R. Garcia-Villegas, J. Valdes and M. A. Cereijido, 1995, "Novel Type of Cell-Cell Cooperation Between Epithelial Cells", *Journal of Membrane Biology*, Vol. 145, pp. 305-310.
- Couch, F. J., M. L. Deshano, M. A. Blackwood, K. Calzone, J. Stopfer, L. Campeau, A. Ganguly, T. Rebbeck and B. L. Weber, 1997, "BRCA1 Mutations in Women at Tending Clinics that Evaluate the Risk of Breast Cancer", *New England Journal of Medicine*, Vol. 336, pp. 1409-1415.
- Cummins, T. R., J. A. Black, S. D. Dib-Hajj and S. G. Waxman, 2000, "Glial-Derived Neurotrophic Factor Upregulates Expression of Functional SNS and Nav Sodium Channels and Their Currents in Axotomized Dorsal Root Ganglion Neurons", *The Journal of Neuroscience, Vol.* 20, pp. 8754–8761.
- Cummins, T. R., S. D. Dib-Hajj, J. A. Black, A. N Akopian, J. N. Wood and S. G. Waxman 1999, "A Novel Persistent Tetrodotoxin-Resistant Sodium Current in SNS-Null and Wild Type Small Primary Sensory Neurons", *The Journal of Neuroscience*, Vol. 19, RC. 43.

Curran, R. C., 1994, Color Atlas of Histopathology, Harvey Miller, Oxford.

Damjanov, I., 1996, Anderson's Pathology, CV-Mosby, USA.

- Dascall, N. and I. Lotan, 1991, "Activation of Protein Kinase C Alters the Voltage Dependence of Sodium Channel", *Neuron*, Vol. 6, pp. 165-177.
- Davies, M. P., P. O. O'Neill, H. Innes, D. R. Sibson, W. Prime, C. Holcombe and C. S. Foster, 2004, "Correlation of mRNA for Oestrogen Receptor Beta Splice Variants ERbeta1, ERbeta2/ERbetacx and ERbeta5 with Outcome in Endocrine-Treated Breast Cancer", *Journal of Molecular Endocrinology*, Vol. 33, pp. 773-782.
- Day, M. L., N. Winston, J. L. McConnell, D. Cook and M. H. Johnson, 2001, "tiK+ toK+: An Embryonic clock?", *Reproduction, Fertility, and Development*, Vol. 13, pp. 69-79.
- Deschenes, I., N. Neyroud, D. Disilvestre, E. Marban, D. T. Yue and G. F. Tomaselli, 2002, "Isoform-Specific Modulation of Voltage-Gated Na(+) Channels by Calmodulin, *Circulation Research*, Vol. 90, pp. 49-57.
- Di-Augustine R. P., P. Petruzs, G. I. Bell, C. F. Brown, K. S. Korach, J. A. McLachlan and C. T. Teng, 1988, "Influence of Estrogens on Mouse Uterine Epidermal Growth Factor Precursor Protein and Messenger Ribonucleic Acid", *Endocrinology*, Vol. 122, pp. 2355-2363.
- Dick, G. M., 2002, "The Pure Anti-Oestrogen ICI 182,780 (Faslodex) Activates Large Conductance Ca(2+)-Activated K(+) Channels in Smooth Muscle", *British Journal of Pharmacology*, Vol. 136, pp. 961-964.
- Dick, G. M. and K. M. Sanders, 2001, "Xenoestrogen Sensitivity of Smooth Muscle BK Channels Conferred by the Regulatory Beta1 Subunit: A Study of Beta1 Knockout Mice", *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, Vol. 276, pp. 44835-44840.
- Dick, G. M., C. F. Rossow, S. Smirnov, B. Horowitz and K. M. Sanders, 2001, "Tamoxifen Activates Smooth Muscle BK Channels Through the Regulatory Beta 1 Subunit", *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, Vol. 14, pp. 34594-34599.

- Dickson, R. B., K. K. Huff and E. M. Spencer, 1986, "Induction of Epidermal Growth Factor-Related Polypeptides by 17 Beta-Estradiol in MCF-7 Human Breast Cancer Cells", *Endocrinology*, Vol. 118, pp.138-142.
- Diss, J. K., D. Stewart, F. Pani, C. S. Foster, M. M. Walker, A. Patel and M. B. A. Djamgoz, 2005, "Potential Novel Marker for Human Prostate Cancer: Voltage-Gated Sodium Channel Expression *in vivo*", *Prostate Cancer Prostatic Disease*, Vol. 8, pp. 266-273.
- Diss, J. K., S. N. Archer, J. Hirano, S. P. Fraser and M. B. Djamgoz, 2001, "Expression Profiles of Voltage-Gated Na(+) Channel Alpha-Subunit Genes in Rat and Human Prostate Cancer Cell Lines", *Prostate*, Vol. 48, pp. 165-178.
- Diss, J. K., S. P. Fraser and M. B. Djamgoz, 2004, "Voltage-Gated Na⁺ Channels: Multiplicity of Expression, Plasticity, Functional Implications and Pathophysiological Aspects", *European Biophysics Journal*, Vol. 33, pp. 180-193.
- Djamgoz, M. B. A., 2004, "Prostate Cancer: Regulation of Voltage-gated Sodium Channel Expression, an Accelerating Factor", *Turkish Journal of Biochemistry*, Vol. 29, pp. 5.
- Djamgoz, M. B. A., M. Mycielska, Z. Madeja, S. P. Fraser and W. Korohoda, 2001, "Directional Movement of Rat Prostatic Cancer Cells in Direct-Current Electric Field: Involvement of Voltage-Gated Na⁺ Channel Activity", *Journal of Cell Science*, Vol. 114, pp. 2697-2705.
- Dobrovic, A. and D. Simpfendorfer, 1997, "Methylation of the BRCA1 Gene in Sporadic Breast Cancer", *Cancer Research*, Vol. 57, pp. 3347-3350.
- Dong, J. T., P. W. Lamb, C. W. Rinker-Schaeffer, J. Vukanovic, T. Ichikawa and J. T. Isaacs, 1995, "KAI1, a Metastasis Suppressor Gene for Prostate Cancer on Human Chromosome", *Science*, Vol. 268, pp. 884-886.

- Doolan, C. M., S. B. Condliffe and B. J. Harvey, 2000, "Rapid non-Genomic Activation of Cytosolic Cyclic AMP-Dependent Protein Kinase Activity and [Ca²⁺]_(I) by 17beta-Oestradiol in Female Rat Distal Colon", *British Journal of Pharmacology*, Vol. 129, pp. 1375-1386.
- Downward, J. 1998, "Mechanisms and Consequences of Activation of Protein Kinase B/Akt", *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* Vol. 10, pp. 262-267.
- Egan, S. E., J. A. Wright, L. Jarolim, K. Yanagihara, R. H. Bassin and A. H. Greenberg, 1987, "Transformation by Oncogenes Encoding Protein Kinases Induces the Metastatic Phenotype", *Science*, Vol. 238, pp. 202-205.
- Enmark E., P. M. Huikko, K. Grandien, S. Lagercrantz, J. Lagercrantz, G. Fried, M. Nordenskjold and J. A. Gustafsson, 1997, "Human Estrogen Receptor Beta-Gene Structure, Chromosomal Localization, and Expression Pattern", *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*", Vol. 82, pp. 4258-4265.
- Evron, E., C. B. Umbricht, D. Korz, V. Raman, D. M. Loeb, B. Niranjan, L. Buluwela, S. A. Weitzman and J. Marks, 2001, "Sukumar Sloss of Cyclin D2 Expression in the Majority of Breast Cancers is Associated with Promoter Hypermethylation", *Cancer Research*, Vol. 61, pp. 2782-2787.
- Fackler, M. J., M. Mcveigh, E. Evron, E. Garrett, J. Mehrotra, K. Polyak, S. Sukumar and P. Argani, 2003, "DNA Methylation of RASSF1A, HIN-1, RAR-Beta, Cyclin D2 and Twist in *in situ* and Invasive Lobular Breast Carcinoma", *International Journal of Cancer*, Vol. 107, pp. 970-975.
- Fan, S., J. Wang, R. Yuan, Y. Ma, Q. Meng, M. R. Erdos, R. G. Pestell, F. Yuan, K. J. Auborn, I. D. Goldberg and E. M. Rosen, 1999, "BRCA1 Inhibition of Estrogen Receptor Signaling in Transfected Cells", *Science*, Vol. 284, pp. 1354-1356.

- Fatehi, M., S. B. Kombian and T. M. Saleh, 2005, "17beta-Estradiol Inhibits Outward Potassium Currents Recorded in Rat Parabrachial Nucleus Cells *in vitro*", *Neuroscience*, Vol. 135, pp. 1075-1086.
- Fawcett, D. W., 1976, "Mammary Gland" in E. Blooom and D. W. Fawcett (eds), A Textbook of Histology, pp. 125-135, Saunders, Philadelphia.
- Ferguson, C. M. and R. W. Powell, 1989, "Breast Masses in Young Women", Archives of Surgery, Vol. 124, pp. 1338-1341.
- Fidler, I. J., 2003, "The Pathogenesis of Cancer Metastasis: The 'Seed and Soil' Hypothesis Revisited", *Nature Reviews of Cancer*, Vol. 3, 453-458.
- Figtree, G. A., D. McDonald, H. Watkins and K. M. Channon, 2003, "Truncated Estrogen Receptor Alpha 46-kDa Isoform in Human Endothelial Cells: Relationship to Acute Activation of Nitric Oxide Synthase", *Circulation*, Vol. 107, pp. 120-126.
- Filardo, E. J., 2002, "Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor (EGFR) Transactivation by Estrogen via the G-Protein-Coupled Receptor, GPR30: A Novel Signaling Pathway with Potential Significance for Breast Cancer", *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, Vol. 80, pp. 231-238.
- Filardo, E. J., J. A. Quinn, K. I. Bland and A. R. Frackelton, 2000, "Estrogen-Induced Activation of Erk-2 Requires the G-Protein Coupled Receptor Homolog, GPR30, and Occurs via Transactivation of the Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor Through Release of HB-EGF", *Molecular Endocrinology*, Vol. 14, pp. 1649-1660.
- Fisher, E. R., A. S. Palekar, C. Redmond, B. Barton and B. Fisher, 1980, "Pathologic Findings from the National Surgical Adjuvant Breast Project (protocol no. 4). VI. Invasive Papillary Cancer", *American Journal of Clinical Pathology*, Vol. 73, pp. 313-322.

- Fitzgerald, E. M., K. Okuse, J. D. Wood, A. C. Dolphin and S. J. Moss, 1999, "cAMP-Dependent Phosphorylation of the Tetrodotoxin-Resistant Voltage-Dependent Sodium Channel SNS", *The Journal of Physiology*, Vol. 516, pp. 433-446.
- Fjell, J., T. R. Cummins, S. D. Dib-Hajj, K. Fried, J. A. Black and S. G. Waxman, 1999, "Differential Role of GDNF and NGF in the Maintenance of Two TTX-Resistant Sodium Channels in Adult DRG Neurons", *Brain Research. Molecular Brain Research*, Vol. 67, pp. 267-282.
- Folkman, J., 1974, "Tumor Angiogenesis", *Advanced Cancer Research*, Vol. 19, pp. 331-358.
- Foote, F. W. and F. W. Stewart, 1945, "Comparative Studies of Cancerous versus Noncancerous Breasts", *Annals of Surgery*, Vol. 121, pp. 6-9.
- Ford, D., D. F. Easton, M. Stratton, S. Narod, D. Goldgar, P. Devilee, D. T. Bishop, B. Weber and G. Lenoir, 1998, "Genetic Heterogeneity and Penetrance Analysis of the BRCA1 and BRCA2 Genes in Breast Cancer Families the Breast Cancer Linkage Consortium", *American Journal of Human Genetics*, Vol. 62, pp. 676-689.
- Fotia, A. B., J. Ekberg, D. J. Adams, D. I. Cook, P. Poronnik and S Kumar, 2004, "Regulation of Neuronal Voltage-Gated Sodium Channels by the Ubiquitin-Protein Ligases Nedd4 and Nedd4-2" *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, Vol. 279, pp. 28930-28935.
- Fraser, S. P., J. K. Diss, A. M. Chioni, M. E. Mycielska, H. Pan, R. F. Yamaci, F. Pani, Z. Siwy, M. Krasowska, Z. Grzywna, W. J. Brackenbury, D. Theodorou, M. Koyuturk, H. Kaya, E. Battaloglu, M. T. De Bella, M. J. Slade, R. Tolhurst, C. Palmieri, J. Jiang, D. S. Latchman, R. C. Coombes and M. B. Djamgoz, 2005, "Voltage-Gated Sodium Channel Expression and Potentiation of Human Breast Cancer Metastasis", *Clinical Cancer Research*, Vol. 11, pp. 5381-5389.

- Fraser, S. P., J. K. J. Diss, L. J. Lloyd, F. Pani, A. M. Chioni, A. George, and M. B. A. Djamgoz, 2004, "T-Lymphocyte Invasiveness: Control by Voltage-Gated Na⁺ Channel Activity", *FEBS Letters*, Vol. 569, pp. 191-194.
- Fraser, S. P., V. Salvador and M. B. A. Djamgoz, 1998, "Voltage-Gated Na⁺ Channel Activity Contributes to Rodent Prostate Cancer Cell Migration *in vitro*", *Journal of Physiology*, Vol. 513, pp. 131.
- Fraser, S. P., V. Salvador, E. A. Manning, J. Mizal, S. Altun, M. Raza, R. J. Berridge and M. B. Djamgoz, 2003, "Contribution of Functional Voltage-Gated Na⁺ Channel Expression to Cell Behaviors Involved in the Metastatic Cascade in Rat Prostate Cancer: I. Lateral Motility", *The Journal of Physiology*, Vol. 195, pp. 479-487.
- Fraser, S. P., Y. Ding, A. Liu, C. S. Foster and M. B. A. Djamgoz, 1999, "Tetrodotoxin Suppresses Morphological Enhancement of the Metastatic MAT-Lylu Rat Prostate Cancer Cell Line", *Cell and Tissue Research*, Vol. 295, pp. 505-512.
- Freireich, E. J., R. Kurzrock and Z. Estrov, 2005, "Metastasis an Alternative Hypothesis", *Cancer*, Vol. 103, pp. 1537-1539.
- Fu, Z., P. C. Smith, L. Zhang, M. A. Rubin, R. L. Dunn and Z. Yao, 2003, "Effects of Raf Kinase Inhibitor Protein Expression on Suppression of Prostate Cancer Metastasis", *Journal of National Cancer Institute*, Vol. 95, pp. 878-889.
- Gaspar, R., Z. Krasznai, T. Marian, L. Tron, R. Recchioni, M. Falasca, F. Moroni, C. Pieri and S. Damjanovich, 1992, "Bretylium-induced Voltage-Gated Sodium Current in Human Lymphocytes", *Acta Biochimica Biophysica*, Vol. 1137, pp. 143-147.
- Gauthier, N., S. Lohm, C. Touzery, A. Chantome, B. Perette, S. Reveneau, F. Brunotte, L. Juillerat-Jeanneret, and J. F. Jeannin, 2004, "Tumor-Derived and Hodt-Derived Nitric Oxide Differentially Regulate Breast Carcinoma Metastasis to the Lungs. *Carcinogenesis*, Vol. 25, pp. 1559-1565.

- Geisler, S., P. E. Lonning, T. Aas, H. Johnsen, O. Fluge, D. F. Haugen, J. R. Lillehaug, L.
 A. Akslen and A. L. Borresen-Dale, 2001, "Influence of TP53 Gene Alterations and C-Erbb-2 Expression on the Response to Treatment with Doxorubicin in Locally Advanced Breast Cancer", *Cancer Research*, Vol. 61, pp. 2505-2012.
- Gildea, J. J., M. J. Seraj, G. Oxford, M. A. Harding, G. M. Hampton, and C. A. Moskaluk, 2002, "Rhogd2 is an Invasion and Metastasis Suppressor Gene in Human Cancer", *Cancer Research*, Vol. 62, pp. 6418-6423.
- Gold, M. S., J. D. Levine and A. M. Correa, 1998, "Modulation of TTX-R I by PKC and Their Role in PGE Induced Sensitization of Rat Sensory Neurons *in vitro*", *The Journal of* Neuroscience, Vol. 18, pp. 10345-10355.
- Goldberg, S. F., M. E. Miele, N. Hatta, M. Takata, C. Paquette-Straub and L. P. Freedman,
 2003, "Melanoma Metastasis Suppression by Chromosome 6: Evidence for a
 Pathway Regulated by CRSP3 and TXNIP", *Cancer Research*, Vol. 63, pp. 432-440.
- Goldin, A. L., 2001, "Resurgence of Sodium Channel Research", Annual Reviews of Physiology, Vol. 63, pp. 871-894.
- Goldin, A. L., T. Snutch, H. Lubbert, A. Dowsett, J. Marshall, V. Auld, W. Downey, L. C. Fritz, H. A. Lester and R. Dunn, 1986, "Messenger RNA Coding for only the Alpha Subunit of the Rat Brain Na Channel is Sufficient for Expression of Functional Channels in Xenopus Oocytes", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, Vol. 83, pp. 7503-7507.
- Gordienko, D. V. and H. Tsukhara, 1994, "Tetrodotoxin-Blockable Depolarization-Activated Na⁺ Currents in a Cultured Endothelial Cell Line Derived from Rat Interlobar Arter and Human Umbilical Vein", *Pflügers Archive*, Vol. 428, pp.91-93.
- Gosden, J. R., P. G. Middleton and D. Rout, 1986, "Localization of the Human Oestrogen Receptor Gene to Chromosome 6q24-Q27 by in Situ Hybridization", *Cytogenetics* and Cellular Genetics, Vol. 43, pp. 218-220.

- Gosling, M., S. L. Harley, R. J. Turner, N. Carey and J. T. Powell, 1998, "Human Saphenous Vein Endothelial Cells Express a Tetrodotoxin-Resistant, Voltage-Gated Sodium Current", *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, Vol. 273, pp. 21084-21090.
- Graff, J. R., E. Gabrielson, H. Fujii, S. B. Baylin and J. G. Herman, 2000, "Methylation Patterns of the E-Cadherin 5' Cpg Island are Unstable and Reflect the Dynamic, Heterogeneous Loss of E-Cadherin Expression During Metastatic Progression", *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, Vol. 275, pp. 2727-2732.
- Green, S., P. Walter, V. Kumar, A. Krust, J. M. Bornert, P. Argos and P. Chambon, 1986, "Human Oestrogen Receptor cDNA: Sequence, Expression and Homology to v-erb-A", *Nature*, Vol. 320, pp. 134-139.
- Greene, G. L., P. Gilna, M. Waterfield, A. Baker, Y. Hort and J. Shine, 1986, "Sequence and Expression of Human Estrogen Receptor Complementary DNA," *Science*, Vol. 231, pp. 150-154.
- Grimes, J. A., S. P. Fraser, G. J. Stephes, J. E. G. Downing, M. E. Laniado, C. S. Foster, P. D. Abel and M. B. A. Djamgoz, 1995, "Differential Expression of Voltage-Activated Na⁺ Currents in Two Prostatic Tumour Cell Lines: Contribution to Invasiveness *in vitro*", *FEBS Letters*, Vol. 369, pp. 290-294.
- Grimes, M. M., 1992, "Cystosarcoma Phyllodes of the Breast: Histologic Features, Flow Cytometric Analysis, and Clinical Correlations", *Modern Pathology*, Vol. 5, pp. 232-239.
- Gu, Q., K. S. Korach and R. L. Moss, 1999, "Rapid Action of 17ß-Estradiol on Kainate-Induced Currents in Hippocampal Neurons Lacking Intracellular Estrogen Receptors", *Endocrinology*, Vol. 140, pp. 660-666.
- Guan, R. J., H. L. Ford, Y. Fu, Y. Li, L. M. Shaw and A. B. Pardee, 2000, "Drg-1 as a Differentiation-Related, Putative Metastatic Suppressor Gene in Human Colon Cancer", *Cancer Research*, Vol. 60, pp. 749-755.

- Guo, Y., P. Pakneshan, J. Gladu, A. Slack, M. Szyf and S. A. Rabbani, 2002, "Regulation of DNA Methylation in Human Breast Cancer: Effect on the Urokinase-Type Plasminogen Activator Gene Production and Tumor Invasion", *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, Vol. 277, pp. 41571-41579.
- Gustafsson, J. A., 1999, "Estrogen Receptor Beta- a New Dimension in Estrogen Mechanism of Action", *The Journal of Endocrinology*, Vol. 163, pp. 379-383.
- Hankinson, S. E., G. A. Colditz and W.C. Willett, 2004, "Towards an Integrated Model for Breast Cancer Etiology: The Lifelong Interplay of Genes, Lifestyle, and Hormones", *Breast Cancer Research*, Vol. 6, pp. 213-218.
- Hayashi, S. I., H Eguchi, K. Tanimoto, T Yoshida, Y. Omoto, A. Ionoue, N. Yosida and Y. Yamaguchi, 2003, "The Expression and Function of Estrogen Receptor and in Human Breast Cancer and its Clinical Application", *Endocrine-Related Cancer*, Vol. 10, pp. 1293-1302.
- He, J., M. E. Kargacin, G. J. Kargacin and C. A. Ward, 2003, "Tamoxifen Inhibits Na+ and K+ Currents in Rat Ventricular Myocytes", *American Journal of Physiology*. *Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, Vol. 285, pp. 661-668.
- Heinemann, S. H., H. Terlau and K. Imoto, 1992, "Molecular Basis for Pharmacological Differences Between Brain and Cardiac Sodium Channels", *Pflugers Archive*, Vol. 422, pp. 90-92.
- Henderson B. E., 2003, *Hormones, Genes and Cancer*, Oxford University Press, New York.
- Herman, J. G., A. Merlo, L. Mao, R. G. Lapidus, J. P. Issa, N. E. Davidson, D. Sidransky, and B. Baylin, 1995, "Inactivation of the CDKN2/P16/MTS1 Gene is Frequently Associated with Aberrant DNA Methylation in all Common Human Cancers", *Cancer Research*, Vol. 55, pp. 4525-4530.

- Herynk, M. H. and S. A. Fuqua, 2004, "Estrogen Receptor Mutations in Human Disease", *Endocrinology Review*, Vol. 25, pp. 869-898.
- Hill, A. D., J. M. Doyle, E. W. Mcdermott and N. J. O'Higgins, 1997, "Hereditary Breast Cancer", *British Journal of Surgery*, Vol. 84, pp. 1334-1339.
- Hirata, S., T. Shoda, J. Kato and K. Hoshi, 2001, "The Multiple Untranslated First Exons System of the Human Estrogen Receptor Beta (ER Beta) Gene", *Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, Vol. 78, pp. 733-736.
- Hollas, W., F. Blasi and D. Boyd, 1991, "Role of the Urokinase Receptor in Facilitating Extracellular Matrix Invasion by Cultured Colon Cancer", *Cancer Research*, Vol. 15-51, pp. 3690-3695.
- Holleran, J. L., C. J. Miller, N. L. Edgehouse, T. P. Pretlow and L. A. Culp, 2002, "Differential Experimental Micrometastasis to Lung, Liver, and Bone with LacZ-Tagged CWR22R Prostate Carcinoma Cells", *Clinical and Experimental Metastasis*, Vol. 19, pp. 17-24.
- Holmgren, L., M. S. O'Reilly and J. Folkman, 1995, "Dormancy of Micrometastases: Balanced Proliferation and Apoptosis in the Presence of Angiogenesis Suppression", *Nature Medicine*, Vol. 2, pp.149-153.
- Horton, J., 2002, "Trastuzumab Use in Breast Cancer: Clinical Issues", *Cancer Control*, Vol. 9, pp. 499-507.
- Hu, X. C., I. H. Wong and L. W. Chow, 2003, "Tumor-Derived Aberrant Methylation in Plasma of Invasive Ductal Breast Cancer Patients: Clinical Implications", *Oncology Reports*, Vol. 10, pp. 1811-1815.
- Huang, K. and A. El-Husseini, 2005, "Modulation of Neuronal Protein Trafficking and Function by Palmitoylation", *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, Vol. 15, pp. 527-535.

- Huang, Y. and S. G. Rane, 1994, "Potassium Channel Induction by the Ras/Raf Signal Transduction Cascade", *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, Vol. 269, pp. 31183-31189.
- Hunter, D. J. and W. C. Willett, 1994, "Diet, Body Build and Breast Cancer", *Annual Review of Nutrition*, Vol. 14, pp. 393-418.
- Huseby R. A., T. M. Maloney and C. M. McGrath, 1984, "Evidence for a Direct Growth-Stimulating Effect of Estradiol on Human MCF-7 Cells *in vivo*", *Cancer Research*, Vol. 44, pp. 2654-2659.
- Hutson, S. W., P. N. Cowen and C. C. Bird, 1985, "Morphometric Studies of Age Related Changes in Normal Human Breast and Their Significance for Evolution of Mammary Cancer", *American Journal of Clinical Pathology*, Vol. 38, pp. 281-287.

http://conganat.sld.cu/6CVHAP/conferencias/figure-3g-Masarelli.jpg http://genome-www.stanford.edu/breast_cancer/molecularportraits/histology.shtm -BC14 http://interpath1.uio.no/norcyt/arm2002/wk/c2/hist.htm http://www.breastpath.com/photos/s99=2520A420xinv.htm http://www.saglik.gov.tr/ extras/istatistikler/ apk2001/092.htm http://www.sciencemuseum.org.uk/exhibitions/lifecycle/77.asp

- Ishikawa T., K. Nakashiro, S. Hara, S. K. Klosek, C. Li, S. Shintani and H. Hamakawa, 2006, "CXCR4 Expression is Associated with Lymph-Node Metastasis of Oral Squamous Cell Carcinoma", *International Journal of Oncology*, Vol. 28, pp. 61-66.
- Isom, L. L., 2002, "The Role of Sodium Channels in Cell Adhesion", *Frontiers in Bioscience*, Vol. 7, pp. 12-23.
- Isom, L. L., 2001, "Sodium Channel Beta Subunits: Anything but Auxiliary", *Neuroscientist*, Vol. 7, pp. 42-54.

- Iwao, K., Y. Miyoshi, C. Egawa, N. Ikeda and S. Noguchi, 2000a, "Quantitative Analysis of Estrogen Receptor-Beta mRNA and its Variants in Human Breast Cancers", *International Journal of Cancer*, Vol. 88, pp. 733-736.
- Iwao, K., Y. Miyoshi, C. Egawa, N. Ikeda, F. Tsukamoto and S. Noguchi, 2000b, "Quantitative Analysis of Estrogen Receptor-Alpha and -Beta Messenger RNA Expression in Breast Carcinoma by Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction", *Cancer*, Vol. 89, pp. 1732-1738.
- Jager, H, T. Dreker, A. Buck, K. Giehl, T. Gress and S. Grissmer, 2004, "Blockage of Intermediate-Conductance Ca²⁺-Activated K⁺ Channels Inhibit Human Pancreatic Cancer Cell Growth *in vitro*", *Molecular Pharmacology*, Vol. 65, pp. 630-638.
- Jamali, K., B. R. Naylor, M. J. Kelly and O. K. Ronnekleiv, 2003, "Effect of 17beta-Estradiol on mRNA Expression of Large- Conductance, Voltage-Dependent, and Calcium-Activated Potassium Channel Alpha and Beta Subunits in Guinea Pig", *Endocrine*, Vol. 20, pp. 227-231
- Jarvinen, T. A., M. Pelto-Huikko, K. Holli and J. Isola, 2000, "Estrogen Receptor Beta is Coexpressed with ERalpha and PR and Associeted with Nodal Status, Grade and Proliferation Rate in Breast Cancer", *The American Journal of Pathology*, Vol. 156, pp. 29-35.
- Jensen, E. V., G. Cheng, C. Palmieri, S. Saji, S. Makela, S.Van Noorden, T. Wahlstrom, M. Warner, R. C. Coombes and J. A. Gustafsson, 2001, "Estrogen Receptors and Proliferation Markers in Primary and Recurrent Breast Cancer", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, Vol. 98, pp, 15197-15202.
- Jin, S., H. Zhao, F. F. An, P. Blanck, W. Fan, A. B. Colchagie, A. J. Fornace and Q. Zhan, 2000, "BRCA1 Activation of the GADD45 Promoter", *Oncogene*, Vol. 19, pp. 4050-4057.

- Kaifi, J. T., E. F. Yekebas, P. Schurr, D. Obonyo, R. Wachowiak, P. Busch, A. Heinecke, K. Pantel and J. R. Izbicki, 2005, "Tumor-Cell Homing to Lymph Nodes and Bone Marrow and CXCR4 Expression in Esophageal Cancer", *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, Vol. 97, pp. 1840-1847.
- Kang, Y., P. M. Siegel, W. Shu, M. Drobnjak, S. M. Kakonen, C. Cordon-Cardo, T. A. Guise, J. Massague, 2003, "A Multigenic Program Mediating Breast Cancer Metastasis to Bone", *Cancer Cell*, Vol. 3, pp. 537-549.
- Kelly, M. J., J. Qiu, E. J. Wagner and O. K. Rønnekleiv, 2002, "Rapid Effects of Estrogen on G Protein-Coupled Receptor Activation of Potassium Channels in the Central Nervous System (CNS)", *Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, Vol. 83, pp. 187-193.
- Kim, C. J., Y. G. Cho, S. W. Jeong, Y. K. Kim, S. Y. Kim, S. W. Nam, S. H. Lee, N. J. Yoo, J. Y. Lee and W. S. Park, 2004, "Altered Expression of KCNK9 in Colorectal Cancers", Acta Pathologica, Microbiologica, et Immunologica Scandinavica, Vol. 112, pp. 588-594.
- Kita, Y., J. Tseng, T. Horan, J. Wen, J. Philo, D. Chang, B. Ratzkin, R. Pacifici, D. Brankow, S. Hu, Y. Luo, D. Wen, T. Arakawa and M. Nicolson, 1996, "Erbb Receptor Activation, Cell Morphology Changes, and Apoptosis Induced by Anti-Her2 Monoclonal Antibodies", *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, Vol. 226, pp. 59-69.
- Kitazawa, T., E. Hamada, K. Kitazawa and A. K. Gaznabi, 1997, "Non-Genomic Mechanism of 17 Beta-Oestradiol-induced inhibition of Contraction in Mammalian Vascular Smooth Muscle" *Journal of Physiology*, Vol. 499, pp. 497-511.
- Klinge, C. M., 2000, "Estrogen Receptor Interaction with Co-Activators and Co-Repressors", *Steroids*, Vol. 65, pp. 227-251.

- Klinge, C. M., 2001, "Estrogen Receptor Interaction with Estrogen Response Elements. *Nucleic Acids Research*, Vol. 29, pp. 2905-2919.
- Klugbauer, N., L. Lacinova, V. Flockerzi and F. Hofmann, 1995, "Structure and Functional Expression of a New Member of the Tetrodotoxin-Sensitive Voltage-Activated Sodium-Channel Family from Human Neuroendocrine Cells", *EMBO Journal*, Vol. 14, pp. 1084-1090.
- Korach, K. S., 1994, "Insights from the Study of Animals Lacking Functional Estrogen Receptor", *Science*, Vol. 266, pp. 1524-1527.
- Korovkina, V. P., A. M. Brainard, P. Ismail, T. J. Schmidt and S. K. England, 2004, "Estradiol Binding to Maxi-K Channels induces their Down-Regulation via Proteasomal Degradation", *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, Vol. 279, pp. 1217-1223.
- Kraner S. D., J. A. Chong, H. J. Tsay and G. Mandel, 1992, "Silencing the Type II Sodium Channel Gene: A Model for Neural-Specific Gene Regulation", *Neuron*, Vol. 9, pp. 37-44.
- Krasowska, M., Z. J Grzywna, M. E. Mycielska and M. B. A. Djamgoz, 2004, "Patterning of Endocytic Vesicles and its Control by Voltage-Gated Na⁺ Channel Activity in Rat Prostate Cancer Cells: Fractal Analyses," *European Biophysics Journal*, Vol. 33, pp. 535-542.
- Krege, J. H., J. B. Hodgin, J. F. Couse, E. Enmark, M. Warner, J. F. Mahler, M. Sar, K. S. Korach, J. A. Gustafsson and O. Smithies, 1998, "Generation and Reproductive Phenotypes of Mice Lacking Estrogen Receptor Beta", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, Vol. 95, pp. 15677-15682.
- Krop, I. E., D. Sgroi, D. A. Porter, K. L. Lunetta, R. Levangie, P. Seth, C. M. Kaelin, E.Rhei, M. Bosenberg, S. Schnitt, J. R. Marks, Z. Pagon, D. Belina, J. Razumovic andK. Polyak, 2001, "HIN-1, a Putative Cytokine Highly Expressed in Normal but not

Cancerous Mammary Epithelial Cells", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, Vol. 98, pp. 9796-9801.

- Kuiper G. G., B. Carlsson, K. Grandien, E. Enmark, J. Haggblad, S. Nilsson and J. A. Gustafsson, 1997, "Comparison of the Ligand binding Spesificity and Transcript Tissue Distrubtion of Estrogen Receptors Alpha and Beta", *Endocrinology*, Vol. 138, pp. 863-70.
- Kunisue, H., J. Kurebayashi, T. Otsuki, C. K. Tang, M. Kurosumi, Y. S. Amamoto, K. Tanaka, H. Doihara, N. Shimizu and H. Sonoo, 2000, "Anti-HER2 Antibody Enhances the Growth Inhibitory Effect of Anti-Oestrogen on Breast Cancer Cells Expressing Both Oestrogen Receptors and HER2", *British Journal of Cancer*, Vol. 82, pp. 46-51.
- Kushner, P. J., D. A. Agard, G. L. Greene, T. S. Scanlan, A. K. Shiau, R. M. Uht, P. Webb, 2000, "Estrogen Receptor Pathways to AP-I.S", *The Journal of Steroid Biochemistry* and Molecular Biology, Vol. 74, pp. 311-317.
- Land C. E., M. Tokunaga, K. Koyama, M. Soda, D. L. Preston, I. Nishimori and S. Tokuoka, 1994, "Incidence of Female Breast Cancer Among Atomic Bomb Survivors 1950-1985", *Radiation Research*, Vol. 138, pp. 209-223.
- Lang, F., G. Henke, H. M. Embark, S. Waldegger, M. Palmada, C. Bohmer and V. Vallon, 2003, "Regulation of Channels by the Serum and Glucocorticoid-Inducible Kinase -Implications for Transport, Excitability and Cell Proliferation", *Cellular Physiology* and Biochemistry, Vol. 13, pp. 41-50.
- Laniado, M. E., E. N. Lalani, S. P. Fraser, J. A. Grimes, G. Bhangal, M. B. A. Djamgoz and P. D. Abel, 1997, "Expression and Functional Analysis of Voltage-Activated Na⁺ Channels in Human Prostate Cancer Cell Lines and their Contribution to Invasion *in vitro*", *American Journal of Pathology*, Vol. 150, pp. 1213-1221.

- Lapidus, R. G., A. T. Ferguson, Y. L. Ottaviano, F. F. Parl, H. S. Smith, S. A. Weitzman, S. B. Baylin, J. P. Issa and N. E. Davidson, 1996, "Methylation of Estrogen and Progesterone Receptor Gene 5' Cpg Islands Correlates with Lack of Estrogen and Progesterone Receptor Gene Expression in Breast Tumors", *Clinical Cancer Research*, Vol. 2, pp. 805-810.
- Lastraioli, E., L. Guasti, O. Crociani, S. Polvani, G. Hofmann, H. Witchel, L. Bencini, M. Calistri, L. Messerini, M. Scatizzi, R. Moretti, E. Wanke, M. Olivotto, G. Mugnai and A. Arcangeli, 2004, "A Herg1 Gene and HERG1 Protein are Overexpressed in Colorectal Cancers and Regulate Cell Invasion of Tumor Cells", *Cancer Research*, Vol. 64, pp. 606-611.
- Lazennec, G., D. Bresson, A. Lucas, C. Chauveau and F. Vignon, 2001, "ER beta Inhibits Proliferation and Invasion of Breast Cancer Cells", *Endocrinology*, Vol. 142, pp. 4120-4130.
- Le Mallay, V., B. Grosse and M. Lieberherr, 1997, "Phospholipase C beta and Membrane Action of Calcitriol and Estradiol", *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, Vol. 272 pp. 11902-11907.
- Lee, A. V., X. Cui and S Oesterreich, 2001, "Cross-Talk Among Estrogen Receptor, Epidermal Growth Factor, and Insulin-Like Growth Factor Signaling in Breast Cancer", *Clinical Cancer Research*, Vol. 7, pp. 4429-4435.
- Lee, B. J. and F. Adair, 1920, "Traumatic Fat Necrosis of the Female Breast and its Differentiation from Carcinoma", *Annals of Surgery*, Vol. 72, pp. 188-190.
- Lee, D. Y., Y. G. Chai, E. B. Lee, K. W. Kim, S. Y. Nah, T. H. Oh and H. Rhim, 2002, "17 B-Estradiol Inhibits High-Voltage-Activated Calcium Channel Currents in Rat Sensory Neurons via a Non-Genomic Mechanism", *Life Sciences*, Vol. 70, pp. 2047-2059.
- Lee, J. H., M. E. Miele, D. J. Hicks, K. K. Phillips, J. M. Trent and B. E. Weissman, 1996, "Kiss-1, a Novel Human Malignant Melanoma Metastasis-Suppressor Gene", *Journal* of National Cancer Institute, Vol. 88, pp. 1731-1737.
- Leygue, E., H. Dotzlaw, P. H. Watson and L. C Murphy, 1999, "Expression of Estrogen Receptor Beta1, Beta2, and Beta5 Messenger RNAs in Human Breast Tissue", *Cancer Research*, Vol. 59, pp.1175-1179.
- Leygue, E., H. Dotzlaw, P. H. Watson and L. C. Murphy, 1998, "Altered Estrogen Receptor Alpha and Beta Messenger RNA Expression During Human Breast Tumorigenesis", *Cancer Research*, Vol. 58, pp. 3197-3201.
- Li, L., M. P Haynes and J. R. Bender, 2003, "Plasma Membrane Localization and Function of the Estrogen Receptor Alpha Variant (ER46) in Human Endothelial Cells", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, Vol. 100, pp. 4807-4812.
- Liu, C. J., S. D. Dib-Hajj, M. Renganathan, T. R. Cummins and S. G. Waxman, 2003
 "Modulation of the Cardiac Sodium Channel Nav1.5 by Fibroblast Growth Factor 1B", *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, Vol. 278, pp. 1029-1036.
- Longnecker, M., 1994, "Alcoholic Beverage Consumption in Relation to Risk of Breast Cancer: Meta-Analysis and Review", *Cancer Causes Control*, Vol. 5, pp. 73-82.
- Ma, Y. X., Y. Tomita, S. Fan, K. Wu, Y. Tong, Z. Zhao, L. N. Song, I. D. Goldberg and E.
 M. Rosen, 2005, "Structural Determinants of the BRCA1: Estrogen Receptor Interaction", Oncogene, Vol. 24, pp. 1831-1846.
- Malik-Hall, M., W. Y. L. Poon, M. D. Baker, J. N. Wood and K. Okuse, 2003, "Sensory Neuron Proteins Interact with the Intracellular Domains of Sodium Channel Na(v)1.8", *Molecular Brain Research*, Vol. 110, pp. 298-304.

- Maltsev, V. A. and A. I. Undrovinas, 1997, "Cytoskeleton Modulates Coupling Between Availability and Activation of Cardiac Sodium Channel", *American Journal of Physiology*, Vol. 273, pp. 1832-1840.
- Mann, S., R. Laucirica, N. Carlson, P. S. Younes, N. Ali, A. Younes, Y. Li and M. Younes, 2001, "Estrogen Receptorbeta Expression in Invasive Breast Cancer", *Human Pathology*, Vol. 32, pp. 113-118.
- Marban, E., T. Yamagishi and G. F. Tomaselli, 1998, "Structure and Function of Voltage-Gated Sodium Channels", *The Journal of Physiology*, Vol. 508, pp. 647-657.
- Marcus, J. N., P. Watson, D. L. Pate, S. A. Narod, G. M. Lenoir, P. Tonin, L. Linder-Stephenson, G. Salerno, T. A. Conway and H. T. Lynch, 1996, "Hereditary Breast Cancer: Pathobiology, Prognosis, and BRCA1 and BRCA2 Gene Linkage", *Cancer*, Vol. 77, pp. 697-709.
- Marsden, J. and N. P. M. Backs, 1996, "Hormone Replacement Therapy and Breast Cancer", *Endocrine-related Cancer*, Vol. 3, pp.81-97.
- Marx, A., J. Siara and R. Ruedel, 1991, "Sodium and Potassium Channels in Epithelial Cells from Thymus Glands and Thymomas of Myasthenia Gravis Patients", *Phlügers Archive*, Vol. 471, pp. 537-539.
- Mason J. B. and T. Levesque, 1996, "Folate: Effects on Carcinogenesis and the Potential for Cancer Chemoprevention", *Oncology*, Vol. 10, pp. 1727-1736.
- Matsumoto, A., 1991, "Synaptogenic Action of Sex Steroids in Developing and Adult Neuroendocrine Brain", *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, Vol. 16, pp. 25-40.
- McKenna, N. J., R. B. Lanz and B. W. O'Malley, 1999, "Nuclear Receptor Coregulators: Cellular and Molecular Biology", *Endocrine Reviews*, Vol. 20, pp. 321-344.

- Menasce, L. P., G. R. White, C. J. Harrison and J. M. Boyle, 1993, "Localization of the Estrogen Receptor Locus (ESR) to Chromosome 6q25.1 by FISH and a Simple Post-FISH Banding Technique", *Genomics*, Vol. 17, pp. 263-265.
- Merino, M. J. and V. A. LiVolsi, 1981, "Signet Ring Carcinoma of the Female Breast: A Clinicopathologic Analysis of 24 Cases", *Cancer*, Vol. 48, pp. 1830-1837.
- Meyer, J. S., 1986, "Cell Kinetics of Histologic Variants of *in situ* Breast Carcinoma", Breast Cancer Research and Treatment, Vol. 7, pp. 171-180.
- Meyer, R., R. Schonherr, O. Gavrilova-Ruch, W. Wohlrab and S. H. Heinemann, 1999, "Identification of Ether a go-go and Calcium-Activated Potassium Channels in Human Melanoma Cells", *The Journal of Membrane Biology*, Vol. 171, pp. 107-115.
- Miki, Y., J. Swensen, D. Shattuck-Eidens, P. A. Futreal, K. Harshman, S. Tavtigian, Q. Liu, C. Cochran, L. M. Bennett, W. Ding, 1994, "A Strong Candidate for the Breast and Ovarian Cancer Susceptibility Gene BRCA1," *Science*, Vol. 266, pp. 66-71
- Miller, A. B., G. R. Howe, G. J. Sherman, J. P. Lindsay, M. J. Yaffe, P. J. Dinner, H. A. Risch and D. L. Preston, 1989, "Mortality from Breast Cancer After Irradiation During Fluoroscopic Examinations in Patients Being Treated for Tuborculosis", *The New England Journal of Medicine*, Vol. 321pp. 1285-1289.
- Minn, A. J., G. P. Gupta, P. M. Siegel, P. D. Bos, W. Shu, D. D. Giri, A. Viale, A. B. Olshen, W. L. Gerald, and J. Massagué, 2005, "Genes that Mediate Breast Cancer Metastasis to Lung", *Nature*, Vol. 436, p. 518-524.
- Miyoshi, Y, T. Taguchi, J. A. Gustafsson and S. Noguchi, 2001, "Clinicopathological Characteristics of Estrogen Receptor-Beta-Positive Human Breast Cancers", *Japanese Journal of Cancer Research*, Vol. 92, pp. 1057-1061.
- Moore, J. T., D. D. McKee, K. Slentz-Kesler, L. B. Moore, S. A. Jones, E. L. Horne, J. L. Su, S. A. Kliewer, J. M. Lehmann and T. M. Willson, 1998, "Cloning and

Characterization of Human Estrogen Receptor Beta Isoforms", *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, Vol. 247, pp. 75-78.

- Mori, N., C. Schoenherr, D. J. Vandenbergh and D. J. Anderson, 1992, "A Common Silencer Element in the SCG10 and Type II Na+ Channel Genes Binds a Factor Present in Nonneuronal Cells but not in Neuronal Cells", *Neuron*, Vol. 9, pp. 45-54.
- Morley, P., J. F. Whitfield, B. C. Vanderhyden, B. K. Tsang and J. L. Schwartz, 1992, "A New, Nongenomic Action: The Rapid Release of Intracellular Calcium", *Endocrinology*, Vol. 131, pp. 1305-1312.
- Mosselman, S., J. Polman and R. Dijkema, 1996, "ER Beta: Identification and Characterization of a Novel Human Estrogen Receptor", *FEBS Letters*, Vol. 392, pp. 49-53.
- Mu, D., L. Chen, X. Zhang, L. H. See, C. M. Koch, C. Yen, J. J. Tong, L. Spiegel, K. C. Nguyen, A. Servoss, Y. Peng, L. Pei, J. R. Marks, S. Lowe, T. Hoey, L. Y. Jan, W. R. McCombie, M. H. Wigler and S. Powers, 2003, "Genomic Amplification and Oncogenic Properties of the KCNK9 Potassium Channel Gene", *Cancer Cell*, Vol. 3, pp. 297-302.
- Mueller, S. O., J. A. Clark, P. H. Myers and K. S. Korach, 2002, "Mammary Gland Development in Adult Mice Requires Epithelial and Stromal Estrogen Receptor Alpha", *Endocrinology*, Vol. 143, pp. 2357-2365.
- Muir, C. S., 1992, "Cancer Incidence in Five Continents. Classification", IARC Scientific Publications, Vol. 120, pp.25-30.
- Mukku, V. R. and G. M. Stancel, 1985, "Regulation of Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor by Estrogen", *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, Vol. 260, pp. 9820-9824.
- Muller, A., E. Sonkoly, C. Eulert, P. A. Gerber, R. Kubitza, K. Schirlau, P. Franken-Kunkel, C. Poremba, C. Snyderman, L. O. Klotz, T. Ruzicka, H. Bier, A. Zlotnik, T.

L. Whiteside, B. Homey and T. K. Hoffmann, 2006, "Chemokine Receptors in Head and Neck Cancer: Association with Metastatic Spread and Regulation During Chemotherapy", *International Journal of Cancer*, Vol. 118, pp. 2147-2157.

- Murad, T. M., G. Contesso and H. Mouriesse, 1981, "Papillary Tumors of Large Lactiferous Ducts", *Cancer*, Vol. 48, pp. 122-133.
- Murata, H., K. N. H. Hattar, Y. Kang, L. Gu and G. M. Li, 2002, "Genetic and Epigenetic Modification of Mismatch Repair Genes Hmsh2 and Hmlh1 in Sporadic Breast Cancer with Microsatellite Instability", *Oncogene*, Vol. 21, pp. 5696-5703.
- Murphy, B. J., S. Rossie, K. S. DeJongh and W. A. Catterall, 1993, "Identification of the Sites of Selective Phosphorylation and Dephosphorylation of the Rat Brain Sodium Channel, Subunit by cAMP Dependent Protein Kinase and Phosphoprotein Phosphatases", *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, Vol. 268, pp. 27355-27362.
- Mycielsaka, M. E. and M. B. A. Djamgoz, 2004, "Cellular Mechanisms of Direct-Current Electric Field Effects: Galvanotaxis and Metasatic Disease", *Journal of Cell Science*, Vol. 117, pp. 1631-1639.
- Mycielska, M. E., M. Schafer, S. P. Fraser, M. B. Djamgoz and C. L. Bashford, 2000, "A Study of Membrane Activity in Rat Prostate Cancer Cells: An Evaluation of the FM1-43 Dye Technique", *Bioscience Reports*, Vol. 20, pp. 31-40.
- Mycielska, M. E., S. P. Fraser, M. Szatkowski and M. B. A. Djamgoz, 2003, "Contribution of Functional Voltage-Gated Na⁺ Channel Expression to Cell Behaviours Involved in the Metastatic Cascade in Rat Prostate Cancer: II. Secretory Membrane Activity", *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, Vol. 195, pp. 461-469.
- Nadal, A., A. B. Ropero, O. Laribi, M. Maillet, E. Fuentes and B. Soria, 2000,
 "Nongenomic Actions of Estrogens and Xenoestrogens by Binding at a Plasma Membrane Receptor Unrelated to Estrogen Receptor α and Estrogen Receptor β",

Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, Vol. 97, pp. 11603-11608.

- Nagase, H., and J. F. Woessner, 1999, "Matrix Metalloproteinases", *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, Vol. 274, pp. 21491-21494.
- Nakajima, T., K. Iwasawa, H. Oonuma, T. Morita, A. Goto, Y. Wang and H. Hazama, 1999, "Antiarrhythmic Effect and its Underlying Ionic Mechanism of 17beta-Estradiol in Cardiac Myocytes", *British Journal of Pharmacology*, Vol. 127, pp. 429-440.
- Nakhla, A. M., M. S. Khan And W. Rosner,1990, "Biologically Active Steroids Activate Receptor-Bound Human Sex Hormone-Binding Globulin to Cause LnCap Cells to Accumulate Adenosine 3,5 Monophosphate", *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology* and Metabolism, Vol. 71, pp. 398-404.
- Nelson, K. G., T. Takahashi, N. L. Bossert, D. K. Walmer and J. A. McLachlan, 1991, "Epidermal Growth Factor Replaces Estrogen in the Stimulation of Female Genital-Tract Growth and Differentiation", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* of the United States of America, Vol. 88, pp.21-25.
- Niwa, Y., T. Oyama and T. Nakajima, 2000, "BRCA1 Expression Status in Relation to DNA Methylation of the BRCA1 Promoter Region in Sporadic Breast Cancers", *Japanese Journal of Cancer Research*, Vol. 91, pp. 519-526.
- Norberg, T., J. Lennerstrand, M. Inganas and J. Bergh, 1998, "Comparison Between P53 Protein Measurements Using the Luminometric Immunoassay and Immunohistochemistry with Detection of P53 Gene Mutations Using cDNA Sequencing in Human Breast Tumors", *International Journal of Cancer*, Vol. 79, pp. 376-383.

- Numann, R., W. A. Catterall and T. Scheuer, 1991, "Functional Modulation of Brain Sodium Channels by Protein Kinase C Phosphorylation", *Science*, Vol. 254, pp. 115-118.
- Ogata, K., S. Y. Jeong, H. Murakami, H. Hashida, T. Suzuki, N. Masuda, M. Hirai, K. Isahara, Y. Uchiyama, J. Goto and I. Kanazawa, 2000, "Cloning and Expression Study of the Mouse Tetrodotoxin-Resistant Voltage-Gated Sodium Channel Alpha Subunit Nat/Scn11a", *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, Vol. 267, pp. 271-277.
- Ogawa, S., S. Inoue, T. Watanabe, A. Orimo, T. Hosoi, Y. Ouchi and M. Muramatsu, 1998, "Molecular Cloning and Characterization of Human Estrogen Receptor Betacx: A Potential inhibitor of Estrogen Action in Human," *Nucleic Acids Research*, Vol. 26, pp. 3505-3512.
- Omoto, Y., S. Inoue, S. Ogawa, T. Toyama, H. Yamashita, M. Muramatsu, S. Kobayashi and H. Iwase, 2001, "Clinical Value of the Wild-Type Estrogen Receptor Beta Expression in Breast Cancer", *Cancer Letters*, Vol. 163, pp. 207-212.
- Omoto, Y., S. Kobayashi, S. Inoue, S. Ogawa, T. Toyama, H. Yamashita, M. Muramatsu, J. A. Gustafsson and H. Iwase, 2002, "Evaluation of Oestrogen Receptor Beta Wild-Type and Variant Protein Expression, and Relationship with Clinicopathological Factors in Breast Cancers", *European Journal of Cancer*, Vol. 38, pp. 380-386.
- Onganer, P. U. and M. B. A. Djamgoz, 2005, "Small-Cell Lung Cancer (Human): Potentiation of Endocytic Membrane Activity by Voltage-Gated Na Channel Expression *in vitro*", *The Journal of Membrane Biology*, Vol. 204, pp. 67-75.
- Ou, S. W., A. Kameyama, L. Y. Hao, M. Horiuchi, E. Minobe, W. Y. Wang, N. Makita and M. Kameyama, 2005, "Tetrodotoxin-Resistant Na+ Channels in Human Neuroblastoma Cells are Encoded by New Variants of Nav1.5/SCN5A", *European Journal of Neuroscience*, Vol. 4, pp. 793-801.

- Ou, Y., S. J. Gibbons, S. M. Miller, P. R. Strege, A. Rich, M. A. Distad, M. J. Ackerman, J. L. Rae, J. H. Szurszewski and G. Farrugia, 2002, "SCN5A is Expressed in Human Jejunal Circular Smooth Muscle Cells", *Neurogastroenterology Motility*, Vol. 5, pp. 477-486.
- Page, D. L. 1991, "Prognosis and Breast Cancer: Recognition of Lethal and Favorable Prognostic Types", *The American Journal of Surgical Pathology*, Vol. 15, pp. 334-349.
- Page, D. L., R. Vander Zwaag, L. W. Rogers, L. T. Williams, W. E. Walker and W. H. Hartmann, 1978, "Relation Between Component Parts of Fibrocystic Disease Complex and Breast Cancer", *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, Vol. 61, pp.1055-1063.
- Paget, S., 1889, "The Distribution of Secondary Growths in Cancer of The Breast", *Cancer Metastasis Reviews*, Vol. 2, pp. 98-101.
- Palmer, C. P., M. E. Mycielska, H. Burcu, K. Osman, T. Collins, R. Beckerman, R. Perrett,
 E. Aydar and M. B. A. Djamgoz. "A Micro-Pressure System for Measuring Single
 Cell Adhesion :Application to Cancer Cell Lines of Different Metastatic Potential
 and Voltage-Gated Na⁺ Channel Expression" (submitted).
- Pancrazio, J. J., M. P. Viglione, I. A. Tabbara and Y. I. Kim, 1989, "Voltage-Dependent Ion Channels in Small-Cell Lung Cancer Cells", *Cancer Research*, Vol. 9, pp. 5901-5906.
- Papka, R. E., B. Srinivasan, K. E. Miller and S. Hayashi, 1997, "Localization of Estrogen Receptor Protein and Estrogen Receptor Messenger RNA in Peripheral Autonomic and Sensory Neurons", *Neuroscience*, Vol. 79, pp. 1153-1163.

- Pardo, L. A., D. Del Camino, A. Sanchez, F. Alves, A. Bruggemann, S. Beckh and W. Stuhmer, 1999, "Oncogenic Potential of EAG K(+) Channels", *The EMBO Journal*, Vol. 18, pp. 5540-5547.
- Park, J. J., R. A. Irvine, G. Buchanan, S. S. Koh, J. M. Park, W. D. Tilley, M. R. Stallcup, M. F. Press and G. A. Coetzee, 2000, "Breast Cancer Susceptibility Gene 1 (BRCAI) is a Coactivator of the Androgen Receptor", *Cancer Research*, Vol. 60, pp. 5946-5949.
- Park, Y. G., X. Zhao, F. Lesueur , D. R. Lowy, M. Lancaster, P. Pharoah, X. Qian and K.
 W. Hunter, 2005, "Sipa1 is a Candidate for Underlying the Metastasis Efficiency Modifier Locus Mtes1", *Nature Genetics*, Vol. 37, pp. 1055-1062.
- Patrone, C., S. Andersson, L. Korhonen and D. Lindholm, 1999, "Estrogen Receptor-Dependent Regulation of Sensory Neuron Survival in Developing Dorsal Root Ganglion", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, Vol. 96, pp. 10905-10910.
- Pecorino, L., 2005, *Molecular Biology of Cancer: Mechanisms, Targets and Therapeutics,* Oxford University Press, New York.
- Peng, B., B. Lu, E. Leygue and L. C. Murphy, 2003, "Putative Functional Characteristics of Human Estrogen Receptor-Beta Isoforms", *Journal of Molecular Endocrinology*, Vol. 30, pp. 13-29.
- Peng, J. B., L. Zhuang, U. V. Berger, R. M. Adam, B. J. Williams, E. M. Brown, M. A. Hediger and M. R. Freeman, 2001, "CaT1 Expression Correlates with Tumor Grade in Prostate Cancer", *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, Vol. 282, pp. 729-734.
- Perez, G. J., 2005, "Dual Effect of Tamoxifen on Arterial Kca Channels Does Not Depend on the Presence of the Beta1 Subunit", *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, Vol. 280. pp. 21739-21747.

- Petursdottir, V., A. R. Moslemi, M. Persson, E. Nordborg and C. Nordborg, 2001, "Estrogen Receptor Alpha in Giant Cell Arteritis: A Molecular Genetic Study", *Clinical and Experimental Rheumatology*, Vol. 19, pp. 297-302.
- Picard, D., V. Kumar, P. Chambon, and K. R. Yamamoto, 1990, "Signal Transduction by Steroid Hormones: Nuclear Localization is Differentially Regulated in Estrogen and Glucocorticoid Receptors", *Cell Regulation*, Vol. 1, pp. 291-299.
- Piros, E. T., L. Shen and X. Y. Huang, 1999, "Purification of an EH Domain-Binding Protein from Rat Brain that Modulates the Gating of the Rat Ether-a-Go-Go Channel", *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, Vol. 274, pp. 33677-33683.
- Piva, R., A. P. Rimondi, S. Hanau, I. Maestri, A. Alvisi, V. L. Kumar and L. Del Senno, 1990, "Different Methylation of Oestrogen Receptor DNA in Human Breast Carcinomas with and without Oestrogen Receptor", *British Journal of Cancer*, Vol. 61, pp. 270-275.
- Platet, N., A. M. Cathiard, M. Gleizes and M. Garcia, 2004, "Estrogens and Their Receptors in Breast Cancer Progression: A Dual Role in Cancer Proliferation and Invasion", *Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology*, Vol. 51, pp. 55-67.
- Platet, N., S. Cunat, D. Chalbos, H. Rochefort and M. Garcia, 2000, "Unliganded and Liganded Estrogen Receptors Protect Against Cancer Invasion via Different Mechanisms", *Molecular Endocrinology*, Vol. 14, pp. 999-1009.
- Poller, D. N., D. R. J. Snead and E. C. Roberts, 1993, "Oestrogen Receptor Expression in Ductal Carcinoma *in situ* of the Breast: Relationship to Flow Cytometric Analysis of DNA and Expression of the C-erbB-2 Oncoprotein", *British Journal of Cancer*, Vol. 68, pp. 156-161.
- Prenzel, N., E. Zwick, H. Daub, M. Leserer, R. Abraham, C. Wallasch and A. Ullrich, 1999, "EGF Receptor Transactivation by G-Protein-Coupled Receptors Requires Metalloproteinase Cleavage of Prohb-EGF", *Nature*, Vol. 402, pp. 884-888.

- Qiu, J., M. A. Bosch, S. C. Tobias, D. K. Grandy, T. S. Scanlan, O. K. Ronnekleiv and M. J. Kelly, 2003, "Rapid Signaling of Estrogen in Hypothalamic Neurons Involves a Novel G-Protein-Coupled Estrogen Receptor that Activates Protein Kinase C", *The Journal of Neuroscience*, Vol. 23, pp. 9529-9540.
- Qiu, T. H., G. V. Chandramouli, K. W. Hunter, N. W. Alkharouf, J. E. Green and E. T. Liu, 2004, "Global Expression Profiling Identifies Signatures of Tumor Virulence in MMTV-Pymt-Transgenic Mice: Correlation to Human Disease", *Cancer Research*, Vol. 64, pp. 5973-5981.
- Quadid-Ahidouch H., M. Roudbaraki, A. Ahidouch, P. Delcourt and N. Prevarskaya, 2004a, "Cell-Cycle-Dependent Expression of the Large Ca2+-Activated K+ Channels in Breast Cancer Cells", *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, Vol. 316, pp. 244-251.
- Quadid-Ahidouch, H., M. Roudbaraki, P. Delcourt, A. Ahidouch, N. Joury and N. Prevarskaya, 2004b, "Functional and Molecular identification of Intermediate-Conductance Ca(2+)-Activated K(+) Channels in Breast Cancer Cells: Association with Cell Cycle Progression", *American Journal of Physiology. Cell physiology*, Vol. 287, pp. 125-134.
- Quadid-Ahidouch, H., X. Le Bourhis, M. Roudbaraki, R. A. Toillon, P. Delcourt and N. Prevarskaya, 2001, "Changes in the K+ Current-Density of MCF-7 Cells During Progression Through the Cell Cycle: Possible Involvement of a H-Ether A-Gogo K+ Channel", *Receptors Channels*, Vol. 7, pp. 345-356.
- Rajasekaran, S. A., J. Gopal and A. K. Rajasekaran, 2003, "Expression of Na,K-ATPase Beta-Subunit in Transformed MDCK Cells Increases the Translation of The Na,K-ATPase Alpha-Subunit", *Annals of New York Academy Sciencies*, Vol. 986, pp. 652-654.

- Rane, S. G., 2000, "The Growth Regulatory Fibroblast IK Channel is the Prominent Electrophysiological Feature of Rat Prostatic Cancer Cells", *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, Vol. 269, pp. 457-463.
- Ratcliffe, C. F., Y. S. Qu, K. A. McCormick, V. C. Tibbs, J. E. Dixon, T. Scheuer and W. A. Catterall, 2000, "A Sodium Channel Signaling Complex: Modulation by Associated Receptor Protein Tyrosine Phosphataseβ", *Nature Neuroscience*, Vol. 3, pp. 437-444.
- Revankar, C. M., D. F. Cimino, L. A. Sklar, J. B. Arterburn and E. R. Prossnitz, 2005, "A Transmembrane Intracellular Estrogen Receptor Mediates Rapid Cell Signaling", *Science*, Vol. 307, pp. 1625-1630.
- Ribaux, P., F. Bleicher, M. L. Couble, J. Amsellem, S. A. Cohen, C. Berthier and S. Blaineau, 2001, "Voltage-Gated Sodium Channel (Skm1) Content in Dystrophin-Deficient Muscle", *Pflugers Archive*, Vol. 4416, pp. 746-755.
- Ricketts, D., L. Turnbull, G. Ryall, R. Bakhshi, N. S. Rawson, J. C. Gazet, C. Nolan and R.C. Coombes, 1991, "Estrogen and Progesterone Receptors in the Normal Female Breast", *Cancer Research*, Vol. 51, pp. 1817-1822.
- Ring, A, I. E. Smith and M. Dowsett, 2004, "Circulating Tumour Cells in Breast Cancer", *Lancet Oncology*, Vol. 5, pp. 79-88.
- Roderick, C., P. S. Reinach, L. Wang and L. Lu, 2003, "Modulation of Rabbit Corneal Epithelial Cell Proliferation by Growth Factor-Regulated K(+) Channel Activity", *The Journal of Membrane Biology*, Vol. 196, pp. 41-50.
- Roger, P., M. E. Sahla, S. Makela, J. A. Gustafsson, P. Baldet and H. Rochefort, 2001,
 "Decreased Expression of Estrogen Receptor Beta Protein in Proliferative Preinvasive Mammary Tumors", *Cancer Research*, Vol. 61, pp. 2537-2541.

- Roger, S., P. Besson and J. Y. Le Guennec, 2003, "Involvement of a Novel Fast Inward Sodium Current in the Invasion Capacity of a Breast Cancer Cell Line", *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta-Biomembranes*, Vol. 1616, pp. 107-111.
- Rogers K, 1990, "Breast Abscesses and Problems with Lactation in Smallwood" in J. A., Taylor (eds), *Benign Breast Disease*, pp. 125-129, Urban and Schwarzenberg Baltimore.
- Roselli, C. E. and S. A. Klosterman, 1998, "Sexual Differentiation of Aromatase Activity in the Rat Brain: Effects of Perinatal Steroid Exposure", *Endocrinology*, Vol. 139, pp. 3193-3201.
- Rosen, P. P., M. L. Lesser and D. W. Kinne, 1985, "Breast Carcinoma at the Extremes of Age: A Comparison of Patients Younger than 35 Years and Older than 75 Years", *Journal of Surgical Oncology*, Vol. 28, pp. 90-96.
- Ruehlmann, D. O., J. R. Steinert, M. A. Valverde, R. Jacob and G. E. Mann, 1998, "Environmental Estrogenic Pollutants Induce Acute Vascular Relaxation by Inhibiting L-Type Ca2+ Channels in Smooth Muscle Cells", *The FASEB Journal*, Vol. 12, pp. 613-619.
- Russo, J. and I. H. Russo, 1987, "Devolopment of the Human Mammary Gland" in M. C. Neville and C. W. Daniel (eds.), *The Mammary Gland: Devolopment, Regulation, and Function*, pp. 111-131, Plenum Press, New York and London.
- Russo, J. and I. H. Russo, "Differentiation and Breast Cancer" 1997, *Medicina*, Vol. 57, pp. 81-91.
- Saji, S., E. V. Jensen, S. Nilsson, T. Rylander, M. Warner and A. Gustafsson, 2000, "Estrogen Receptors Alpha and Beta in the Rodent Mammary Gland", *Proceedings* of National Academy of Sciences USA, Vol. 91, pp. 337-342.

- Sanchez, R., D. Nguyen, W. Rocha, J. H. White and S. Mader, 2002, "Diversity in the Mechanisms of Gene Regulation by Estrogen Receptors", *Biology Essays*, Vol. 24, pp. 244-254.
- Sangameswaran, L., L. M. Fish, B. D. Koch, D. K. Rabert, S. G. Delgado, M. Ilnicka, L. B. Jakeman, S. Novakovic, K. Wong, P. Sze, E. Tzoumaka, G. R. Stewart, R. C. Herman, H. Chan, R. M. Eglen and J. C. Hunter, 1997, "Novel Tetrodotoxin-Sensitive, Voltage-Gated Sodium Channel Expressed in Rat and Human Dorsal Root Ganglia", *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, Vol. 272, pp. 14805-14809.
- Satin, J., J. W. Kyle, M. Chen, P. Bell, L. L. Cribbs, H. A. Fozzard and R. B. Rogart, 1992,
 "A Mutant of TTX-Resistant Cardiac Sodium Channels with TTX-Sensitive Properties", *Science*, Vol. 256, pp. 1202-1205.
- Saur, D., B. Seidler, G. Schneider, H. Algul, R. Beck, R. Senekowitsch-Schmidtke, M. Schwaiger and R. M. Schmid, 2005, "CXCR4 Expression Increases Liver and Lung Metastasis in a Mouse Model of Pancreatic Cancer", *Gastroenterology*, Vol. 129, pp. 1237-1250.
- Schatzkin, A. and M. Longnecker, 1994, "Alcohol and Breast Cancer: Where are We Now and Where Do We Go from Here?", *Cancer*, Vol. 74, pp. 1101-1110.
- Schedin, P. and A. Elias, 2004, "Multistep Tumorigenesis and the Microenvironment", *Breast Cancer Research*, Vol. 2, pp. 93-101.
- Schiff, R. and S. Fuqua, 2002, "The Importance of the Estrogen Receptor in Breast Cancer", in J. Pasqualini (ed), *Breast Cancer: Prognosis, Treatment, and Prevention*, pp 149-186, Marcel Dekker, New York.
- Schiff, R., S. A. Massarweh, J. Shou. L. Bharwani, S. K. Mohsin and C. K. Osborne, 2004, "Cross-Talk Between Estrogen Receptor and Growth Factor Pathways as a Molecular Target for Overcoming Endocrine Resistance", *Clinical Cancer Research* Vol. 10, pp. 331-336.

- Schmidt, J. W. and W.A. Catterall, "Palmitylation, Sulfation, and Glycosylation of the a Subunit of the Sodium Channel Role of Post-Translational Modifications in Channel Assembly", *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, Vol. 262, pp. 13713-13723.
- Scholefield, J. H., J. L. Duncan and K. Rogers, 1987, "Review of a Hospital Experience of Breast Abscesses", *The British Journal of Surgery*, Vol. 74, pp. 469-470.
- Schreibmayer, W., N. Dascal, I. Lotan, M. Walner and L. Weigl, 1991, "Molecular Mechanisms of Protein Kinase C Modulation of Sodium Channell A-Subunits Expressed in Xenopus Oocytes", *FEBS Letters*, Vol. 291, pp. 341-344.
- Schwab, A., J. Reinhardt, S. W. Schneider, B. Gassner and B. Schuricht, 1999, "K(+) Channel-Dependent Migration of Fibroblasts and Human Melanoma Cells", *Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry*, Vol. 9, pp. 126-132.
- Scully. R., J. Chen, R. L. Ochs, K. Keegan, M. Hoekstra, J. Feunteun and D. M. Livingston, 1997, "Dynamic Changes of BRCA1 Subnuclear Location and Phosphorylation State are Initiated by DNA Damage", *Cell*, Vol. 90, pp. 425-435.
- Seraj, M. J., R. S. Samant, M. F. Verderame and D. R. Welch, 2000, "Functional Evidence for a Novel Human Breast Carcinoma Metastasis Suppressor, BRMS1, Encoded at Chromosome", *Cancer Research*, Vol. 60, pp. 2764-2769.
- Shaaban, A. M., P. A. O'Neill, M. P. Davies, R. Sibson, C. R. West, P. H. Smith and C. S. Foster, 2003, "Declining Estrogen Receptor-Beta Expression Defines Malignant Progression of Human Breast Neoplasia", *The American Journal of Surgical Pathology*, Vol. 27, pp. 1502-1512.
- Shao, X. D., K. C. Wu, Z. M. Hao, L. Hong, J. Zhang and D. M. Fan, 2005, "The Potent Inhibitory Effects of Cisapride, a Specific Blocker for Human Ether-a-Go-Go-Related Gene (HERG) Channel, on Gastric Cancer Cells", *Cancer Biology and Therapy*, Vol. 4, pp. 295-301.

- Shiau, A. K., D. Barstad, P. M. Loria, L. Cheng, P. J. Kshner, D. A. Agard and G. L. Greene, 1998, "The Structural Basis of Estrogen Receptor-Coactivator Recognition and the Antagonism of This Interaction by Tamoxifen", *Cell*, Vol. 95, pp. 927-937.
- Shrager, P., 1989, "Sodium Channels in Single Demyelinated Mammalian Axons", *Brain Research*, Vol. 483, pp.149-154.
- Shteper, P. J., E. Zcharia, Y. Ashhab, T. Peretz, I. Vlodavsky and D. Ben-Yehuda, 2003, "Role of Promoter Methylation in Regulation of the Mammalian Heparanase Gene", *Oncogene*, Vol. 22, pp, 7737-7749.
- Silva, J., J. M. Silva, G. Dominguez, J. M. Garcia, B. Cantos, R. Rodriguez, F. J. Larrondo,
 M. Provencio, P. Espana and F. Bonilla, 2003, "Concomitant Expression of P16INK4a and P14arf in Primary Breast Cancer and Analysis of Inactivation Mechanisms", *Journal of Pathology*, Vol. 199, pp. 289-297.
- Silverstein, M. J., B. F. Cohlan, E. D. Gierson, M. Furmanski, P. Gamagami, W. J. Colburn, B. S. Lewinsky and J. R. Waisman, 1992, "Duct Carcinoma *in situ*: 227 Cases without Microinvasion", *European Journal of Cancer*, Vol. 28, pp. 630-634.
- Simpson, J. F. and D. L. Page, 1992, "Prognostic Value of Histopathology of the Breast", *Seminars in Oncology*, Vol. 19, pp. 254-262.
- Sirchia, S. M., A. T. Ferguson, E. Sironi, S. Subramanyan, R. Orlandi, S. Sukumar and N. Sacchi, 2000, "Evidence of Epigenetic Changes Affecting the Chromatin State of the Retinoic Acid Receptor Beta2 Promoter in Breast Cancer Cells", *Oncogene*, Vol. 19, pp. 1556-1563.
- Skou, J. C. and M. Esmann, 1992, "The Na,K-Atpase", Journal of Bioenergetics and Biomembranes, Vol. 24, pp. 249-261.

- Slamon, D. J., G. M. Clark, S. G. Wong, W. J. Levin, A. Ullrich and W. L. Mcguire, 1987, "Human Breast Cancer: Correlation of Relapse and Survival with Amplification of the HER-2/Neu Oncogene", *Science*, Vol. 235, pp. 177-182.
- Smith, G. A., H. W. Tsui, E. W. Newell, X. Jiang, X. P. Zhu, F. W. Tsui and L. C. Schlichter, 2002, "Functional Upregulation of HERG K+ Channels in Neoplastic Hematopoietic Cells", *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, Vol. 277, pp. 18528-18534.
- Smith, P., N. P. Rhodes, A. P. Shortland, S. P. Fraser, M. B. A. Djamgoz, Y. Ke and C. S. Foster, 1998, "Sodium Channel Protein Expression Enhances the Invasiveness of Rat and Human Prostate Cancer Cells", *FEBS Letters*, Vol. 423, pp. 19-24.
- Smith, R. D and A. L. Goldin, 1996, "Phosphorylation of Brain Sodium Channels in the I-II Linker Modulates Channel Function in Xenopus Oocytes", *Journal of Neuroscience*, Vol. 16, pp. 1965-1974.
- Smitherman, K. A. and H. Sontheimer, 2001, "Inhibition of Glial Na⁺ and K⁺ Currents by Tamoxifen", *Journal of Membrane Biology*, Vol. 181, pp. 125-135.
- Smith-Warner, S. A., D. Spiegelman, S. S. Yaun, P. A. van den Brandt, A. R. Folsom, R. A. Goldbohm, S. Graham, L. Holmberg, G. R. Howe, J. R. Marshall, A. B. Miller, J. D. Potter, F. E. Speizer, W. C. Willett, A. Wolk and D. J. Hunter, 1998, "Alcohol and Breast Cancer in Women: A Pooled Analysis of Cohort Studies", *The Journal of the American Medical Association*, Vol. 179, pp. 535-540.
- Sobko, A., A. Peretz and B. Attali, 1998, "Constitutive Activation of Delayed-Rectifier Potassium Channels by a Src Family Tyrosine Kinase in Schwann Cells", *The Embo Journal*, Vol. 17, pp. 4723-4734.
- Somasundaram, K., H. Zhang, Y. X. Zeng, Y. Houvras, Y. Peng, H. Zhang, G. S. Wu, J. D. Licht, B. L. Weber and W. S. El-Deiry, 1997, "Arrest of the Cell Cycle by the

Tumour-Suppressor BRCA1 Requires the CDK-Inhibitor P21waf1/Cip1", *Nature*, Vol. 389, pp. 187-190.

- Soussi, T., 2000, "The p53 Tumor Suppressor Gene: From Molecular Biology to Clinical Investigation", *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, Vol. 910, pp. 121-137.
- Speirs, V., A. T. Parkes, M. J. Kerin, D. S. Walton, P. J. Carleton, J. N. Fox and S. L. Atkin, 1999a, "Coexpression of Estrogen Receptor Alpha and Beta: Poor Prognostic Factors in Human Breast Cancer?", *Cancer Research*, Vol. 59, pp. 525-528.
- Speirs, V. and M. J. Kerin, 2000, "Prognostic Significance of Oestrogen Receptor Beta in Breast Cancer", *British Journal of Surgery*, Vol. 87, pp. 405-409.
- Speirs, V., C. Malone, D. S. Walton, M J. Kerin and S. L. Atkin, 1999b, "Increased Expression of Estrogen Receptor Beta mRNA in Tamoxifen-Resistant Breast Cancer Patients", *Cancer Research*, Vol. 59, pp. 5421-5424.
- Srinivasan, J., M. Schachner and W. A. Catterall, 1998, "Interaction of Voltage-Gated Sodium Channels with the Extracellular Matrix Molecules Tenascin-C and Tenascin-R", Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, Vol. 95, pp. 15753-15757.
- Steeg, P. S, 2003, "Metastasis Suppressors Alter the Signal Transduction of Cancer Cells", *Nature Reviews Cancer*, Vol. 3, pp. 55-63.
- Steeg, P. S., G. Bevilacqua, R. Pozzatti, L. A. Liotta and M. E. Sobel, 1988, "Altered Expression of nm23, a Gene Associated with Low Tumor Metastatic Potential, During Adenovirus 2 Ela Inhibition of Experimental Metastasis", *Cancer Research*, Vol. 48, pp. 6550-6554.
- Stratton, M. R. and R. Wooster, 1995, "Breast Cancer Susceptibility: A Complex Disease Unravels", *Trends in Genetics*, Vol. 11, pp. 3-5.

- Sunpaweravong, S. and P. Sunpaweravong, 2005, "Recent Developments in Critical Genes in the Molecular Biology of Breast Cancer", *Asian Journal of Surgery*, Vol. 28, pp. 71-75.
- Sweeney, C., C. K. Blair, K. E. Anderson, D. Lazovich and A. R. Folsom, 2004, "Risk Factors for Breast Cancer in Elderly Women" *American Journal of Epidemiology*, Vol. 160, pp. 868-875.
- Tabb, J. S., G. R. Fanger, E. M. Wilson, R. A. Maue and L. P. Henderson, 1994, "Suppression of Sodium-Channel Function in Differentiating C2 Muscle-Cells Stably Overexpressing Rat Androgen Receptors", *The Journal of Neuroscience*, Vol. 14, pp. 763-773.
- Takanami, I., Y. Inoue and M. Gika, 2004, "G-protein Inwardly Rectifying Potassium Channel 1 (GIRK 1) Gene Expression Correlates with Tumor Progression in Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer", *BMC Cancer*, Vol. 4, pp. 79-85.
- Taleghany, N., S. Sarajari, L. L. DonCarlos, L. Gollapudi and M. M. Oblinger, 1999, "Differential Expression of Estrogen Receptor Alpha and Beta in Rat Dorsal Root Ganglion Neurons", *The Journal of Neuroscience*, Vol. 57, 603-615.
- Tamura, M., J. Gu, K. Matsumoto, S. Aota, R. Parsons and K. M. Yamada, 1998, "Inhibition of Cell Migration, Spreading, and Focal Adhesions by Tumor Suppressor PTEN", *Science*, Vol. 280, pp. 1614-1617.
- Tanabe, S., T. Hata and M. Hiraoka, 1999, "Effects of Estrogen on Action Potential and Membrane Currents in Guinea Pig Ventricular Myocytes", *The American Journal of Physiology*, Vol. 277, pp. 826-833.
- Tanimoto, K., H. Eguchi, T. Yoshida, K. Hajiro-Nakanishi and S. Hayashi, 1999, "Regulation of Estrogen Receptor Alpha Gene Mediated by Promoter B Responsible For its Enhanced Expression in Human Breast Cancer", *Nucleic Acids Research*, Vol. 27, pp. 903-909.

- Taylor, A. H. and F. Al-Azzawi, 2000, "Immunolocalisation of Oestrogen Receptor Beta in Human Tissues", *Journal of Molecular Endocrinology*, Vol. 24, pp. 145-55.
- Tetu, B. and J. Brisson, 1994, "Prognostic Significance of HER-2/Neu Oncoprotein Expression in Node-Positive Breast Cancer: The Influence of the Pattern of Immunostaining and Adjuvant therapy", *Cancer*, Vol. 73, pp. 2359-2365.
- Thomas, D., B. Gut, S. Karsai, A. B. Wimmer, K. Wu, G. Wendt-Nordahl, W. Zhang, S. Kathofer, W. Schoels, H. A. Katus, J. Kiehn and C. A. Karle, 2003, "Inhibition of Cloned HERG Potassium Channels by the Antiestrogen Tamoxifen", *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Archives of Pharmacology*, Vol. 368, pp. 41-48.
- Thomas, P., Y. Pang, E. J. Filardo and J. Dong, 2005, "Identity of an Estrogen Membrane Receptor Coupled to a G Protein in Human Breast Cancer Cells", *Endocrinology* Vol. 146, pp. 624-632.
- Thompson, D. and D. Easton, 2004, "The Genetic Epidemiology of Breast Cancer Genes", Journal of Mammary Gland Biology and Neoplasia, Vol. 9, pp. 221-236.
- Toledo-Aral, J. J., P. Brehm, S. Halegoua and G. Mandel, 1995, "A Single Pulse of Nerve Growth Factor Triggers Long-Term Neuronal Excitability Through Sodium Channel Gene Induction", *Neuron*, Vol. 14, pp. 607-611.
- Tong, D., E. Schuster, M. Seifert, K. Czerwenka, S. Leodolte and R. Zeillinger, 2002, "Expression of Estrogen Receptor Beta Isoforms in Human Breast Cancer Tissues and Cell Lines", *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, Vol. 71, pp. 249-255.
- Traub, O, T. Ishida, M. Ishida, J. C. Tupper and B. C. Berk, 1999, "Shear Stress-Mediated Extracellular Signal-Regulated Kinase Activation is Regulated by Sodium in Endothelial Cells: Potential Role for a Voltage-Dependent Sodium Channel", *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, Vol. 274, pp. 20144-20150.

- Tremblay, G. B. and V. Giguere, 2002, "Coregulators of Estrogen Receptor Action", *Critical Reviews in Eukaryotic Gene Expression*, Vol. 12, pp. 1-22.
- Tsavaler, L., M. H. Shapero, S. Morkowski and R. Laus, 2001, "Trp-p8, a Novel Prostate-Specific Gene, is Upregulated in Prostate Cancer and Other Malignancies and Shares High Homology with Transient Receptor Potential Calcium Channel Proteins", *Cancer Research*, Vol. 61, pp. 3760-3679.
- Tyrrell, L., M. Renganathan, S. D. Dib-Hajj and S. G. Waxman, 2001, "Glycosylation Alters Steady-State Inactivation of Sodium Channel Na(v)1.9/Nan in Dorsal Root Ganglion Neurons and is Developmentally Regulated", *Journal of Neuroscience*, Vol. 21, pp. 9629-9637.
- Uehara, H., S. J. Kim, T. Karashima, D. L. Shepherd, D. Fan, R. Tsan, J. J. Killion, C. Logothetis, P. Mathew and I. J. Fidler, 2003, "Effects of Blocking Platelet-Derived Growth Factor-Receptor Signaling in a Mouse Model of Prostate Cancer Bone Metastasis", *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, Vol. 95, pp. 458-470.
- Ufret-Vincenty, C. A., D. J. Baro, W. J. Lederer, H. A. Rockman, L. E. Quinones and L. F. Santana, 2001, "Role of Sodium Channel Deglycosylation in the Genesis of Cardiac Arrhythmias in Heart Failure", *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, Vol. 276, pp. 28197-28203.
- Undrovinas, A. I., G. S. Shander and J. C. Makielski, 1995, "Cytoskeleton Modulates Gating of Voltage-Dependent Sodium-Channel in Heart", *American Journal of Physiology*, Vol. 269, pp. 203-214.
- Urbano, F. J., F. Sierra, J. A. Colombo, J. M. Velasco and W. Buno, 1997, "Different Voltage-Gated Sodium Currents are Expressed by Human Neuroblastoma NB69 Cells When Cultured in Defined Serum-Free and in Astroglial-Conditioned Media", *Glia*, Vol. 19, pp. 161-170.

- Valverde, M. A., P. Rojas, J. Amigo, D. Cosmelli, P. Orio, M. I. Bahamonde, G. E. Mann, C. Vergara and R. Latorre, 1999, "Acute Activation of Maxi-K Channels (Hslo) by Estradiol Binding to the Beta Subunit", *Science*, Vol. 285, pp. 1929-1931.
- Venable, J. G., A. M. Schwarts and S. G. Silverbeg, 1990, "Infiltrating Cribriform Carcinoma of the Breast: A Distinctive Clinicopathologic Entity", *Human Pathology*, Vol. 21, pp. 333-338.
- Venkitaraman Ashok, R., 2002, "Cancer Susceptibility and the Functions of BRCA1 and BRCA2", *Cell*, Vol. 180, pp. 171-182.
- Vijayaragavan, K., M. Boutjdir and M. Chahine, 2004, "Modulation of Nav1.7 and Nav1.8 Peripheral Nerve Sodium Channels by Protein Kinase A and Protein Kinase C", *Journal of Neurophysiology*, Vol. 91, pp. 1556-1569.
- Vilain, A., N. Vogt, B. Dutrillaux and B. Malfoy, 1999, "DNA Methylation and Chromosome Instability in Breast Cancer Cell Lines", *FEBS Letters*, Vol. 460, pp. 231-234.
- Vogel, T., D. A. Blake, D. R. Whikehart, N. H. Guo, V. S. Zabrenetzky and D. D. Roberts, 1993, "Specific Simple Sugars Promote Chemotaxis and Chemokinesis of Corneal Endothelial Cells", *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, Vol. 157, pp. 359-366.
- Walsh, K. B., M. B. Wolf and J. Fan, 1998, "Voltage-Gated Sodium Channels in Cardiac Microvascular Endothelial Cells", *American Journal Physiology*, Vol. 274, pp. 506-512.
- Wang, Q., H. Zhang, K. Kajino and M. I. Greene, 1998, "BRCA1 Binds c-Myc and Inhibits its Transcriptional and Transforming Activity in Cells", *Oncogene*, Vol. 17, pp. 1939-1948.
- Wang, X. T., S. Nagaba, Y. Nagaba, S. W. Leung, J. Wang, W. Qiu, P. L. Zhao and S. E. Guggino, 2000, "Cardiac L-type Calcium Channel Alpha 1-Subunit is Increased by

Cyclic Adenosine Monophosphate: Messenger RNA and Protein Expression in Intact Bone", *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, Vol. 15, pp. 1275-1285.

- Wargotz, E. S. and H. J. Norris, 1990, "Metaplastic Carcinomas of the Breast. IV. Squamous Cell Carcinoma of Ductal Origin", *Cancer*, Vol. 65, pp. 272-276.
- Waxman, S. G., S. Dib-Hajj, T. R. Cummins and J. A. Black, 2000, "Sodium Channels and Their Genes: Dynamic Expression in the Normal Nervous System, Dysregulation in Disease States", *Brain Research*, Vol. 886, pp, 5-14.
- Weigelt, B., A. M. Glas, L. F. Wessels, A. T. Witteveen, J. L. Peterse, L. J. van't Veer, 2003, "Gene Expression Profiles of Primary Breast Tumours Maintained in Distant Metastasis", *Proceedings of National Academy of Sciences USA*, Vol. 110, pp. 15901-15905.
- Weiss, L., 1990, "Metastatic Inefficiency", Advanced Cancer Research, Vol. 54, pp. 159-211.
- West, J. W., R. Numann, B. J. Murphy, Scheuer, T and W. A. Catterall, 1991, "A Phosphorylation Site in the Sodium Channels Required for Modulation by Protein Kinase C", *Science*, Vol. 254, pp. 866-868.
- Whitaker, W. R., R. L. Faull, H. J. Waldvogel, C. J. Plumpton, P. C. Emson and J. J. Clare, 2001, "Comparative Distribution of Voltage-Gated Sodium Channel Proteins in Human Brain", *Brain Research and Molecular Brain Research*, Vol. 88, pp. 37-53.
- Widschwendter, M., J. Berger, M. Hermann, H. M. Muller, A. Amberger, M. Zeschnigk,
 W. A. Idschwendter, B. Abendstein, A. G. Zeimet, G. Daxenbichler and C. Marth,
 2000, "Methylation and Silencing of the Retinoic Acid Receptor-Beta2 Gene in
 Breast Cancer", *Journal of National Cancer Institute*, Vol. 92, pp.826-832.
- Williamson, E. A., F. Dadmanesh and H. P. Koeffler, 2002, "BRCA1 Transactivates the Cyclin-Dependent Kinase Inhibitor P27(Kip1)", *Oncogene*, Vol. 21, pp. 3199-3206.

- Wissenbach, U., B. A. Niemeyer, T. Fixemer, A. Schneidewind, C. Trost, A. Cavalie, K. Reus, E. Meese, H. Bonkhoff and V. Flockerzi, 2001, "Expression of CaT-like, a Novel Calcium-Selective Channel, Correlates with the Malignancy of Prostate Cancer", *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*. Vol. 276, pp. 19461-19468.
- Wittmack, E. K., A. M. Rush, M. J. Craner, M. Goldfarb, S. G. Waxman and S. D. Dib-Hajj, 2004, "Fibroblast Growth Factor Homologous Factor 2B: Association with Nav1.6 and Selective Colocalization at Nodes of Ranvier of Dorsal Root Axons", *Journal of Neuroscience*, Vol. 24, pp. 6765-6775.
- Woo, A. L., P. F. James and J. B. Lingrel, 2000, "Sperm Motility is Dependent on a Unique Isoform of the Na,K-ATPase", *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, Vol. 275, pp. 20693-26699.
- Xiao, Z. C., D. S. Ragsdale, J. D. Malhotra, L. N. Mattei, P. E. Braun, M. Schachner, L. L. Isom, 1999, "Tenascin-R is a Functional Modulator of Sodium Channel Beta Subunits", *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, Vol. 274, pp. 26511-26517.
- Xia, U. P., L. Miller, J. Nelson and I. H. Gelman, 2001, "The Src-Suppressed C Kinase Substrate, Ssecks, is a Potential Metastasis Inhibitor in Prostate Cancer", *Cancer Research*, Vol. 61, pp. 5644-5651.
- Yang, Z., C. J. Barnes and R. Kumar, 2004, "Human Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor 2 Status Modulates Subcellular Localization of and Interaction with Estrogen Receptor Alpha in Breast Cancer Cells", *Clinical Cancer Research*, Vol. 10, pp. 3621-3628.
- Yankova, M., S. A. Harl, C. S. Woolley, 2001, "Estrogen Increases Synaptic Connectivity Between Single Prosynaptic Inputs and Multiple Postsynaptic CA1 Pyramidal Cells: A Serial Electron-Microscopic Study", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, Vol. 98, pp. 3525-3530.
- Yeh, S., Y. C. Hu, M. Rahman, H. K. Lin, C. L. Hsu, H. J. Ting, H. Y. Kang and C. Chang, 2000, "Increase of Androgen-Induced Cell Death and Androgen Receptor

Transactivation by BRCA1 in Prostate Cancer Cells", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, Vol. 97, pp. 11256-112561.

- Yokota, J., 2000, "Tumor Progression and Metastasis", *Carcinogenesis*, Vol. 21, pp. 497-503.
- Yu F. H. and W. A. Catterall, 2003, "Overview of the Voltage-Gated Sodium Channel Family", *Genome Biology*, Vol. 4, pp. 207
- Yu, H., 1998, "Alcohol Consumption and Breast Cancer Risk", *The Journal of the American Medical Association*, Vol. 280, pp. 1138-1139.
- Zakon, H. H., 1998, "The Effects of Steroid Hormones on Electrical Activity of Excitable Cells, *Trends in Neurosciences*, Vol. 21, pp. 202–207.
- Zeps, N., J. M. Bentel, J. M. Papadimitriou and H. J. Dawkins, 1999, "Murine Progesterone Receptor Expression in Proliferating Mammary Epithelial Cells During Normal Pubertal Development and Adult Estrous Cycle. Association with ERalpha and ERbeta Status", *Journal of Histochemistry and Cytochemistry*, Vol. 47, pp. 1323-1330.
- Zhang, X. L., X. Q. Peng, Y. L. Jing, W. R. Xie and Y. K. Xie, 2003, "Sialic Acid Contributes to Generation of Ectopic Spontaneous Discharges in Rats with Neuropathic Pain", *Neuroscience Letters*, Vol. 346, pp. 65-68.
- Zhao, L., S. Chen, J. Ming Wang and R. D. Brinton, 2005, "17beta Estradiol Induces Ca⁺²
 Influx, Dendritic and Nuclear Ca⁺² Rise and Subsequent Cyclic Amp Response
 Element Binding Protein Activation in Hippocampal Neurons: A Potential Initiation
 Mechanism for Estrogen Neurotrophism", *Neuroscience*, Vol. 132, pp. 299-311.
- Zheng, W., D. R. Gustafson, R. Sinha, J. R. Cerhan, D. Moore, C. P. Hong, K. E. Anderson, L. H. Kushi, T. A. Sellers and A. R. Folsom, 1998, "Well-Done Meat

Intake and the Risk of Breast Cancer", *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, Vol. 90, pp. 1724-1729.

- Zhou, J., J. Yi, N. N. Hu, A. L. George and K. T. Murray, 2000, "Activation of Protein Kinase A Modulates Trafficking of the Human Cardiac Sodium Channel in *Xenopus* Oocytes", *Circulation Research*, Vol. 87, pp. 33-38.
- Zur, K. B., Y. S. Oh, S. G. Waxman and J. A. Black, 1995, "Differential Upregulation of Sodium-Channel Alpha-Subunit and Beta-1-Subunit Messenger-RNAs in Cultured Embryonic DRG Neurons Following Exposure to NGF", *Brain Research. Molecular Brain Research*, Vol. 30, pp. 97-105.